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Under this U.S.$100,000,000,000 Global Medium Term Note Programme (the Programme), National Australia Bank Limited (ABN 12 004 044
937) (NAB), Bank of New Zealand (BNZ) and BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through its London Branch (BNZ-IF) (each, an Issuer and
together, the Issuers), may from time to time issue notes (the Notes, which include Senior Notes (in the case of NAB and BNZ), Guaranteed Senior
Notes (in the case of BNZ-IF) and Subordinated Notes (in the case of NAB only) as such terms are defined on pages 112-113 of this Offering
Circular) denominated in any currency agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as defined below). Any Notes issued under the
Programme on or after the date of this Offering Circular are issued subject to the provisions described herein. This does not affect any Notes in issue
prior to the date hereof. The payment of all amounts owing in respect of Guaranteed Senior Notes issued by BNZ-IF will be unconditionally and
irrevocably guaranteed by BNZ (in such capacity, the Guarantor). Notes may be issued in bearer or registered form (respectively, Bearer Notes and
Registered Notes).

The Notes may be issued on a continuing basis to one or more of the Dealers specified on page 2 of this Offering Circular and any additional Dealer
appointed under the Programme from time to time by the Issuers (each, a Dealer and together, the Dealers), which appointment may be for a specific
issue or on an ongoing basis. References in this Offering Circular to the relevant Dealer shall, in the case of an issue of Notes being (or intended to
be) subscribed by more than one Dealer, be to all Dealers agreeing to subscribe such Notes.

This Offering Circular has been approved as a base prospectus by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the Competent Authority
or the CSSF), as competent authority under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the Prospectus Regulation). The CSSF only approves this Offering
Circular as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. Approval by the CSSF
should not be considered as an endorsement of any of the Issuers, the Guarantor or of the quality of the Notes. Investors should make their own
assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Notes.

Application has been made to:
1) the CSSF to approve the Offering Circular in connection with the issue by the Issuers of Notes:

(a)  with a minimum denomination of at least €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) to be admitted to the official list
and traded on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2014/65/EU as
amended (MiFID II))); and

(b)  with a minimum denomination of at least €1,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) to be admitted to the official list and
traded only on a specific segment of the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange to which only qualified
investors (as defined in the Prospectus Regulation) have access,

in each case, in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation (PR Notes); and

(ii) the Luxembourg Stock Exchange to approve this Offering Circular in connection with the issue by the Issuers of Notes with a minimum
denomination of at least €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) (the Exempt Notes) to be admitted to trading on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange's Euro MTF market (the Euro MTF market is not a regulated market pursuant to the provisions of MiFID II,
but is subject to the supervision of the Luxembourg financial sector and stock exchange regulator, the CSSF) (the Euro MTF Market).

Each Issuer may also issue unlisted Notes and/or Notes not admitted to trading on any market and, where such Notes are, in addition, issued with a
minimum denomination of at least €100,000 or otherwise fall within an exemption under the Prospectus Regulation from the requirement to publish a
prospectus, such Notes are, in addition, hereinafter also referred to in this Offering Circular as Exempt Notes.

For the avoidance of doubt, each Issuer may also issue Notes with a minimum denomination of less than €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other
currency) which are offered to the public in the European Economic Area and fall within an exemption under the Prospectus Regulation from the
requirement to publish a prospectus.

This Offering Circular (as supplemented as at the relevant time, if applicable) is valid for 12 months from its date in relation to Notes which
are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market in the European Economic Area (the EEA). The obligation to supplement this Offering
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Circular in the event of a significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy does not apply when this Offering Circular is no
longer valid.

The CSSF has neither approved nor reviewed information contained in this Offering Circular in connection with Exempt Notes, including
the form of Final Terms in respect of Exempt Notes. In accordance with Article 6(4) of the Luxembourg act dated 16 July 2019 on
prospectuses for securities (the Prospectus Act 2019), by approving this Offering Circular, in accordance with Article 20 of the Prospectus
Regulation, the CSSF does not engage in respect of the economic or financial opportunity of the operation or the quality and solvency of the
Issuers.

The Programme provides that Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on such other or additional stock exchange(s), or
market(s), as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) and the relevant Dealer. References
in this Offering Circular to Notes being listed (and all related references) shall mean that such Notes have been admitted to the official list and to
trading on (i) the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or (ii) the Euro MTF Market.

Notice of, inter alia, the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes and the issue price of Notes which are
applicable to each Tranche of Notes will be set out in the applicable Final Terms (the Final Terms) which, with respect to all Notes to be listed on the
Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or the Euro MTF Market, will be delivered to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and, where
applicable, the Competent Authority, on or before the date of issue of the Notes of such Tranche.

Information relating to the ratings of the Programme and issues of Notes under the Programme is set out on pages 61 to 62 of this Offering
Circular.

Neither the Notes nor the Guarantee (as defined under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes") (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) have been or
will be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act), or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or
other jurisdiction of the United States, and the Notes may include Bearer Notes that are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. The Notes may not be
offered or sold or, in the case of Bearer Notes, delivered in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in
Regulation S under the Securities Act (Regulation S)) unless the Notes are registered under the Securities Act or an exemption from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act is available. See "Form of the Notes" for a description of the manner in which Notes will be issued. Registered
Notes are subject to certain restrictions on transfer, see "Subscription and Sale and Transfer and Selling Restrictions".

Investors in Hong Kong should not purchase Subordinated Notes (as defined herein) in the primary or secondary markets unless they are professional
investors (as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) and its subsidiary legislation) only and understand the
risks involved. Subordinated Notes are generally not considered suitable for purchase by retail investors.

An investment in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. In particular, Subordinated Notes are complex financial
instruments with high risk. There are risks inherent in the holding of Subordinated Notes, including the risks in relation to their
subordination, the circumstances in which the Subordinated Notes may be written down or converted into ordinary shares in the capital of
NAB and the implications on holders of Subordinated Notes (such as a substantial loss). The circumstances in which such holders may suffer
loss as a result of holding the Subordinated Notes are difficult to predict and the quantum of any loss incurred by investors in the
Subordinated Notes in such circumstances is also highly uncertain. For a discussion of these risks see ""Risk Factors''.
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This Offering Circular comprises (i) a prospectus for the issuance of Notes under the Programme by
NAB; (ii) a prospectus for the issuance of Notes under the Programme by BNZ; and (iii) a prospectus
for the issuance of Guaranteed Senior Notes under the Programme by BNZ-IF. Each prospectus
constitutes, in respect of all Notes other than Exempt Notes issued under the Programme, a base
prospectus for the purposes of Article 8 of the Prospectus Regulation and, for Exempt Notes to be
listed on the Euro MTF Market, a base prospectus for the purposes of Part IV of the Prospectus Act
2019. When used in this Offering Circular, Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129.

Each Issuer and the Guarantor (together, the Responsible Persons) accepts responsibility for the
information contained in this Offering Circular (and the Final Terms for each Tranche of Notes issued
under the Programme) in respect to itself only and the Notes. The Responsible Persons, each having
taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, confirm that such information is, to the best
of their knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import.

Copies of Final Terms will be available from the registered office of the relevant Issuer and the
Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) and specified office set out below of each of the
Paying Agents (as defined below).

This Offering Circular is to be read in conjunction with all documents or parts of documents which
are deemed to be incorporated in it by reference (see ''Documents Incorporated by Reference and Credit
Ratings'' below). This Offering Circular shall be read and construed on the basis that those documents
are incorporated in, and form part of, this Offering Circular.

Other than in relation to the documents which are deemed to be incorporated by reference (see
"Documents Incorporated by Reference and Credit Ratings''), the information on the websites to which
this Offering Circular refers does not form part of this Offering Circular and has not been scrutinised
or approved by the CSSF.

Following the publication of this Offering Circular, a supplement to this Offering Circular approved
by the Competent Authority pursuant to Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation may be prepared by
any of the Issuers (a Supplement to this Offering Circular). Any such Supplement to this Offering
Circular will be available on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu). Each of
the Issuers and the Guarantor will, in the event of any significant new factor, material mistake or
material inaccuracy relating to information included in this Offering Circular which is capable of
affecting the assessment of any Notes, prepare a Supplement to this Offering Circular or publish a
new Offering Circular for use in connection with any subsequent issue of Notes.

In relation to Exempt Notes to be listed, following the publication of this Offering Circular, a
supplement to this Offering Circular approved by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (as competent
entity for the purposes of Part IV of the Prospectus Act 2019) may be prepared by any of the Issuers
pursuant to Article 10.2 of Part 2, Chapter I of the rules and regulations of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange (an Exempt Notes Supplement to this Offering Circular). In accordance with Article 10.1 of
Part 2, Chapter I of the rules and regulations of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, any such Exempt
Notes Supplement to this Offering Circular will be available, free of charge, at the registered offices of
the Issuers and the Guarantor and on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu)
and copies may be obtained free of charge from the specified office of the Agent at Winchester House,
1 Great Winchester Street, London EC2N 2DB. Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor will, in the
event of any significant new factor relating to information included in this Offering Circular which is
capable of affecting the assessment of any Exempt Notes to be listed, prepare an Exempt Notes
Supplement to this Offering Circular or publish a new Offering Circular for use in connection with
any subsequent issue of Exempt Notes to be listed.
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Deutsche Trustee Company Limited, as trustee for the holders of the Notes (the Trustee), has not
independently verified the information contained herein. No representation, warranty or undertaking,
express or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability is accepted by the Dealers or the Trustee
as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained or incorporated in this Offering
Circular or any other information provided by the Issuers or the Guarantor in connection with the
Programme. No Dealer or the Trustee accepts any liability in relation to the information contained or
incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular or any other information provided by the Issuers
or the Guarantor in connection with the Programme.

No person is or has been authorised by the Issuers, the Guarantor, any of the Dealers or the Trustee to
give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this
Offering Circular or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes
and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been
authorised by any of the Issuers, the Guarantor or any of the Dealers or the Trustee.

Neither this Offering Circular nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme
or any Notes (a) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (b) should be
considered as a recommendation by any of the Issuers, the Guarantor or any of the Dealers or the
Trustee that any recipient of this Offering Circular or any other information supplied in connection
with the Programme or any Notes should purchase any Notes. Each investor contemplating
purchasing any Notes should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and
affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor.
Neither this Offering Circular nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme
or any Notes nor the issue of any Notes constitutes an offer or invitation by or on behalf of any Issuer
or the Guarantor or any of the Dealers or the Trustee to any person to subscribe for or to purchase
any Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Offering Circular nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall in
any circumstances imply that the information contained in it concerning any Issuer and/or the
Guarantor is correct at any time subsequent to its date or that any other information supplied in
connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date indicated in the
document containing the same. The Dealers and the Trustee expressly do not undertake to review the
financial condition or affairs of any Issuer or the Guarantor during the life of the Programme or to
advise any investor in Notes issued under the Programme of any information coming to their
attention. Investors should review, inter alia, the most recently published documents incorporated by
reference into this Offering Circular when deciding whether or not to purchase any Notes.

The Bearer Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered
within the United States or its possessions or to United States persons, except in certain transactions
permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by
the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code), and the regulations promulgated
thereunder.

This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any
Notes in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such
jurisdiction. The distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted
by law in certain jurisdictions. None of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Dealers or the Trustee
represents that this Offering Circular may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully
offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction,
or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assume any responsibility for facilitating any
such distribution or offering. In particular, no action has been taken by any Issuer, the Guarantor,
any of the Dealers or the Trustee which is intended to permit a public offering of any Notes or
distribution of this Offering Circular in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. No
Notes may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Offering Circular nor any
advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or published, in any jurisdiction, except
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under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons
into whose possession this Offering Circular or any Notes may come must inform themselves about,
and observe, any such restrictions on the distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer and sale
of Notes. In addition, there are particular restrictions on the distribution of this Offering Circular and
the offer or sale of Notes in the United States and its territories or possessions or to any resident
thereof, the EEA (including the United Kingdom, Austria, France, Italy and Belgium), New Zealand,
Hong Kong, Japan, Singapore, Switzerland, Canada, China, the Republic of Korea and the
Commonwealth of Australia (Australia); see ''Subscription and Sale and Transfer and Selling
Restrictions''.

This Offering Circular has been prepared on the basis that any Notes with a minimum denomination
of less than €100,000 (or equivalent in another currency) will (i) only be admitted to trading on an
EEA regulated market (as defined in MiFID II), or a specific segment of an EEA regulated market, to
which only qualified investors (as defined in the Prospectus Regulation) can have access (in which case
they shall not be offered or sold to non-qualified investors) or (ii) only be offered to the public in an
EEA Member State pursuant to an exemption under Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation.

SUITABILITY OF INVESTMENT

In making an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of the relevant Issuer
and the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) and the terms of the Notes being offered,
including the merits and risks involved.

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each potential investor in the Notes must
determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each
potential investor may wish to consider, either on its own or with the help of its financial and other
professional advisers, whether it:

(i) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the
merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Offering Circular or any applicable Supplement to this Offering Circular;

(ii) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on
its overall investment portfolio;

(iii)  has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where
the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's
currency;

(@iv) understands thoroughly the terms of the Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of any
relevant indices and financial markets; and

v) is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may
affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

The Subordinated Notes discussed in this Offering Circular are complex financial instruments with
high risk. More generally, legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The
investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or
review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to
determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as
collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of
any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to
determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.
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MiFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET

The Final Terms in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "MIFID II product
governance' which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which
channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take into consideration the target market assessment;
however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and
determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID
Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the MiFID Product Governance
Rules), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise
neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for
the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance Rules.

IMPORTANT - EEA RETAIL INVESTORS

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes includes a legend entitled '"Prohibition of Sales to EEA
Retail Investors'', the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and
should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the EEA. For these
purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point
(11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the
Insurance Distribution Directive), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as
defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MIiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the
Prospectus Regulation. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No
1286/2014 (as amended, the PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making
them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the
Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the
PRIIPs Regulation.

U.S. INFORMATION

NEITHER THE NOTES NOR THE GUARANTEE (IN THE CASE OF GUARANTEED SENIOR
NOTES) HAVE BEEN OR WILL BE REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR WITH
ANY SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION
OF THE UNITED STATES. THE NOTES MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE
UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS (AS
DEFINED IN REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT) UNLESS THE NOTES ARE
REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR OFFERED OR SOLD IN COMPLIANCE
WITH AN EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES
ACT AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS. THE NOTES HAVE NOT BEEN
APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION OR ANY OTHER SECURITIES COMMISSION OR OTHER REGULATORY
AUTHORITY IN THE UNITED STATES, NOR HAVE THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES
APPROVED THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR OR CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR
DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS OFFERING
CIRCULAR. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE IN
THE UNITED STATES.

NONE OF THE DEALERS, THE ISSUERS, THE GUARANTOR OR THE TRUSTEE MAKES ANY
REPRESENTATION TO ANY INVESTOR IN THE NOTES REGARDING THE LEGALITY OF
ITS INVESTMENT UNDER ANY APPLICABLE LAWS. ANY INVESTOR IN THE NOTES
SHOULD BE ABLE TO BEAR THE ECONOMIC RISK OF AN INVESTMENT IN THE NOTES
FOR AN INDEFINITE PERIOD OF TIME.
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This Offering Circular has been prepared by the Issuers and the Guarantor for use in connection with
the offer and sale of the Notes (1) outside the United States to persons that are not U.S. persons
pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act and (2) with respect to Registered Notes within the
United States, in reliance upon Rule 144A of the Securities Act (Rule 144A) to qualified institutional
buyers within the meaning of Rule 144A (QIBs) or in transactions otherwise exempt from registration
under the Securities Act. Each U.S. purchaser of Registered Notes is hereby notified that the offer and
sale of any Registered Notes to it may be being made in reliance upon the exemption from the
provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A.

Each purchaser or holder of Notes will be deemed, by its acceptance or purchase of any such Notes, to
have made certain representations and agreements intended to restrict the resale or other transfer of
such Notes as set out in "'Subscription and Sale and Transfer and Selling Restrictions''. Unless otherwise
stated, terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them in "'Form of the Notes''.

The Notes may include Notes in bearer form that are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to
certain exceptions, the Notes may not be offered or sold or, in the case of Notes in bearer form,
delivered, in the United States or to or for the account or benefit of, United States persons as defined
in the Code and regulations thereunder.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

To permit compliance with Rule 144A in connection with any resales or other transfers of Notes that
are ''restricted securities' as defined in Rule 144(a)(3) of the Securities Act, each of the Issuers has
undertaken in the Trust Deed to furnish, upon the request of a holder of such Notes or any beneficial
interest therein, to such holder or to a prospective purchaser designated by such holder or beneficial
owner, the information required to be delivered under Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act if, at
the time of the request, the relevant Issuer is neither a reporting company under Section 13 or 15(d) of
the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), nor exempt from reporting
pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) thereunder.

SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

NAB is a corporation organised under the laws of Australia. All of the officers and directors named
herein reside outside the United States and all or a substantial portion of the assets of NAB and of such
officers and directors are located outside the United States. As a result, it may not be possible for
investors to effect service of process outside Australia upon NAB or such persons, or to enforce
judgments against them obtained in courts outside Australia predicated upon civil liabilities of NAB
or such directors and officers under laws other than Australian law, including any judgment
predicated upon United States federal securities laws. There is doubt as to the enforceability in
Australia in original actions or in actions for enforcement of judgments of United States courts of civil
liabilities predicated solely upon the federal securities laws of the United States.

BNZ, BNZ-IF and the Guarantor are corporations organised under the laws of New Zealand. All of
the respective officers and directors of BNZ, BNZ-IF and the Guarantor named herein reside outside
the United States and all or a substantial portion of the assets of each of BNZ, BNZ-IF and the
Guarantor and of their respective officers and directors are located outside the United States. As a
result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process outside New Zealand upon BNZ
or BNZ-IF or the Guarantor or upon such persons, or to enforce judgments against them obtained in
courts outside New Zealand predicated upon civil liabilities of BNZ or BNZ-IF or the Guarantor, as
the case may be, or their respective directors and officers under laws other than New Zealand law,
including any judgment predicated upon United States federal securities laws. Each of BNZ, BNZ-IF
and the Guarantor has been advised by Russell McVeagh, their New Zealand counsel, that there is
doubt as to the enforceability in New Zealand in original actions or in actions for enforcement of
judgments of United States courts of civil liabilities predicated solely upon the federal securities laws
of the United States.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Offering Circular includes '"forward-looking statements' within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. All statements other than statements of
historical facts included in this Offering Circular, including, without limitation, those regarding the
Issuers' and the Guarantor's financial position, business strategy, plans, targets, intentions and
objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. Such forward-
looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may
cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, or
industry results, to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are based
on numerous assumptions regarding the present and future business strategies of the relevant Issuer
or the Guarantor and the environment in which they will operate in the future. These forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date of this Offering Circular. Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor
expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any
forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in the expectations of the relevant
Issuer or the Guarantor with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on
which any such statement is based.

BENCHMARKS REGULATION

Amounts payable on certain Floating Rate Notes issued under the Programme may be calculated by
reference to LIBOR, EURIBOR, Compounded Daily SONIA, HIBOR, BA-CDOR, SIBOR, CNH
HIBOR, NIBOR, BBSW or BKBM as specified in the applicable Final Terms. As at the date of this
Offering Circular, each of ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (as administrator of LIBOR),
European Money Markets Institute (as administrator of EURIBOR) and Thomson Reuters
Benchmark Services Limited (as administrator of BA-CDOR) appears on the register of
administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by the European Securities and Markets
Authority (ESMA) pursuant to Article 36 of the Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 (the Benchmarks
Regulation). As at the date of this Offering Circular, the administrators of SONIA, CNH HIBOR,
SIBOR, HIBOR, NIBOR, BBSW and BKBM do not appear on ESMA’s register of administrators and
benchmarks under Article 36 of the Benchmarks Regulation. As far as each Issuer is aware, (i) SONIA
does not fall within the scope of the Benchmarks Regulation, and (ii) the transitional provisions in
Article 51 of the Benchmarks Regulation apply, such that each of the Treasury Markets Association
(as administrator of CNH HIBOR), ABS Benchmarks Administration Co Pte Ltd. (as administrator of
SIBOR), Norske Finansielle Referanser AS (as administrator of NIBOR), ASX Benchmarks Pty
Limited (as administrator of BBSW) and New Zealand Financial Markets Association (as
administrator of BKBM) is not currently required to obtain authorisation/registration (or, if located
outside the European Union (EU), recognition, endorsement or equivalence).
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SECTION 309B NOTIFICATION

In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore (as
modified or amended from time to time, the SFA) and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets
Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the CMP Regulations 2018), the Issuers have determined,
and hereby notify all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), unless otherwise
specified before an offer of Notes, that all Notes issued or to be issued under the Programme are
classified as prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and
Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of
Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment
Products).

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

NAB maintains its financial books and records and prepares its financial statements in Australian
dollars in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia, accounting
standards and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board which differ in
certain respects from generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (U.S. GAAP).

In this Offering Circular all references to the "'NAB Group' refer to NAB and its controlled entities.
In addition, references to "U.S. dollars' and "U.S.$" refer to United States dollars, references to
""Australian dollars" and "A$" refer to Australian dollars, references to '"New Zealand dollars' and
""NZ$" refer to New Zealand dollars, references to ""£'" refer to pounds Sterling, references to "euro'
and "€" refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and
monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the functioning of the European Union, as amended and
references to '""Renminbi' and "CNY'" are to the lawful currency of the People’s Republic of China
and all references to the "PRC' and ""China' are to the People's Republic of China excluding Hong
Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China and Taiwan.
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In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, any relevant Dealer or Dealers (if any) acting as
the Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) may over-
allot Notes or effect transactions (in each case outside Australia and New Zealand and not on any
market in Australia or New Zealand) with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level
higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any
stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of
the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end
no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days
after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-
allocation must be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of
any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

Neither NAB nor BNZ has authorisation of De Nederlandsche Bank N.V. to pursue the business of a bank in
the Netherlands and is not registered as a "licensed financial enterprise” pursuant to section 1:107 of the
Netherlands Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht). NAB has authorisation of the
Australian Prudential Regulation Authority to pursue the business of a credit institution. BNZ is registered as
a bank and prudentially supervised by the Reserve Bank of New Zealand (RBNZ). In addition, NAB's
London Branch is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority, is subject to limited
regulation by the Prudential Regulation Authority, and has permission to carry on the regulated activity of
(amongst other things) accepting deposits, and is an authorised person for the purposes of the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000.
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RISK FACTORS

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its
obligations under Notes issued under the Programme. All of these factors are contingencies which may or
may not occur and none of the Issuers nor the Guarantor is in a position to express a view on the likelihood
of any such contingency occurring.

In addition, factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes
issued under the Programme are also described below. Prospective investors should also read the detailed
information set out elsewhere in this Offering Circular and in the documents incorporated by reference and
reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks
inherent in investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the inability of any of the Issuers or the
Guarantor to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may occur for
other reasons which may not be considered significant risks by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor based
on information currently available to them or which they may not currently be able to anticipate.

Investors should be aware that the materialisation of any of the below risks may adversely affect the value
of any securities.

References in the following risk factors to “BNZ” are to BNZ in its capacity as an Issuer and as the
Guarantor.

FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT THE RELEVANT ISSUER'S ABILITY TO FULFIL ITS
OBLIGATIONS UNDER NOTES ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME AND THE
GUARANTOR'S ABILITY TO FULFIL ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE GUARANTEE

NAB - Risks specific to the NAB Group

Set out below are the principal risks and uncertainties associated with the NAB Group. It is not possible to
determine the likelihood of these risks occurring with any certainty. However, the risk in each sub-category
that NAB considers most material is listed first, based on the information available at the date of this
Offering Circular and NAB’s best assessment of the likelihood of each risk occurring and potential
magnitude of the negative impact to the NAB Group should such risk materialise. In the event that one or
more of these risks materialise, the NAB Group’s reputation, strategy, business, operations, financial
condition and future performance could be materially and adversely impacted.

The NAB Group’s risk management framework and internal controls may not be adequate or effective in
accurately identifying, evaluating or addressing risks faced by the NAB Group. There may be other risks that
are currently unknown or are deemed immaterial, but which may subsequently become known or material.
These may individually or in aggregate adversely impact the NAB Group. Accordingly, no assurances or
guarantees of future performance, profitability, distributions or returns of capital are given by the NAB
Group.

Strategic Risk

Strategic risk is the risk associated with the pursuit of the NAB Group’s strategic objectives including the
risk that the NAB Group fails to execute its chosen strategy effectively or in a timely manner.

Strategic initiatives may fail to be executed, may not deliver all anticipated benefits and may change the
NAB Group’s risk profile

The NAB Group’s corporate strategy sets its purpose, vision and objectives, and focuses on:
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. Becoming the best business bank.

. Simplifying the NAB Group’s business to improve efficiency and better service its customers.
. Pursuing new and emerging growth opportunities.
. Attracting and developing people to create a high performing culture.

The NAB Group prioritises, and invests significant resources in, the execution of initiatives that are aligned
to its strategy, including transformation and change programmes. These programmes focus on technology,
infrastructure, business improvement and cultural transformation. There is a risk that these programmes may
not realise some or all of their anticipated benefits. These programmes may also increase operational,
compliance and other risks. Any failure by the NAB Group to deliver in accordance with its strategy or to
deliver these strategic programmes effectively, may result in material losses to the NAB Group, or a failure
to achieve anticipated benefits, and ultimately, may adversely impact the NAB Group’s operations and
financial performance and position.

The NAB Group faces intense competition

There is substantial competition across the markets in which the NAB Group operates. The NAB Group
faces competition from established financial services providers as well as new market entrants, including
foreign banks and non-bank competitors with lower costs and new operating and business models. In
addition, evolving industry trends and rapid technology changes may impact customer needs and preferences
and the NAB Group may not predict these changes accurately or quickly enough, or have the resources and
flexibility to adapt in sufficient time to meet customer expectations and keep pace with competitors.

The Australian Commonwealth Government (the Australian Government) passed legislation in August
2019 to establish a ‘Consumer Data Right’ which seeks to improve consumers’ ability to compare and switch
between products and services. It is proposed to apply to the banking sector from February 2020. These
reforms (referred to as ‘Open Banking’) are expected to reduce the barriers to new entrants into, and increase
competition in, the banking industry in Australia. Progress is also being made towards Open Banking in New
Zealand (NZ).

Ongoing competition for customers can lead to compression in profit margins and loss of market share,
which may ultimately impact on the NAB Group’s financial performance and position, profitability and
returns to investors.

The NAB Group’s intended divestment of its Advice, Platform & Superannuation and Asset Management
businesses may not proceed and there are risks in executing the divestment

The NAB Group intends to divest its Advice, Platform & Superannuation and Asset Management businesses
(the MLC Wealth Divestment). The NAB Group’s decision to proceed with, and its ability to execute, the
MLC Wealth Divestment is subject to a number of factors, including market conditions, the impact of
regulatory change and investigations (including any implications of the findings of the Final Report (the
Final Report) of the Australian Royal Commission into ‘Misconduct in the Banking, Superannuation and
Financial Services Industry’ (the Royal Commission)), the cost and complexity of separation, and obtaining
Board and regulatory approvals.

If the NAB Group does proceed with the MLC Wealth Divestment, it will incur costs associated with the
transaction. In addition, the MLC Wealth Divestment will result in the NAB Group exiting a financial
services market and accordingly will decrease the size of the NAB Group’s operations. This will have a
consequential impact on the NAB Group’s revenues and potentially its profitability and returns to investors.

If the NAB Group decides not to, or is unable to, proceed with the MLC Wealth Divestment, it will still
incur costs that it is unable to recover. In addition, the terms of the MLC Wealth Divestment, and the
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execution of its separation may create risks and uncertainty for the NAB Group and its customers, aligned
advisers, employees, suppliers and other counterparties.

Risks may arise from pursuing acquisitions and divestments

The NAB Group regularly considers a range of corporate opportunities, including acquisitions, divestments,
joint ventures and investments.

Pursuit of corporate opportunities inherently involves transaction risks, including over-valuation of an
acquisition or investment or under-valuation of a divestment, and exposure to reputational damage. The
NAB Group may encounter difficulties in integrating or separating businesses, including failure to realise
expected synergies, disruption to operations, diversion of management resources or higher than expected
costs. These risks and difficulties may ultimately have an adverse impact on the NAB Group’s financial
performance and position.

The NAB Group may incur unexpected financial losses following an acquisition, joint venture or investment
if the business it invests in does not perform as planned or causes unanticipated changes to the NAB Group’s
risk profile. Additionally, there can be no assurance that employees, counterparties, suppliers, customers and
other relevant stakeholders will remain with an acquired business following the transaction and any failure to
retain such stakeholders may have an adverse impact on the NAB Group’s overall financial performance and
position.

The NAB Group may also have ongoing exposures to divested businesses, including through the provision of
continued services and infrastructure or an agreement to retain certain liabilities of the divested businesses
through warranties and indemnities, which may have an adverse impact on the NAB Group’s business and
financial performance and position.

In particular, specific risks exist in connection with the sale of 80 per cent. of MLC Limited to Nippon Life
Insurance Company (Nippon Life) in 2016. NAB gave certain covenants, warranties and indemnities in
favour of Nippon Life and MLC Limited, a breach or triggering of which may result in NAB being liable to
Nippon Life or MLC Limited.

The parties also entered into long-term agreements for the distribution of life insurance products and the
continued use of the MLC brand by MLC Limited. The duration and nature of these agreements give rise to
certain risks, including that changes in the regulatory or commercial environment impact the commercial
attractiveness of these agreements. These agreements also limit future opportunities for NAB through non-
compete arrangements.

NAB agreed to take certain actions to establish MLC Limited as a standalone entity, including the provision
of transitional services, as well as support for data migration activities and the development of technology
systems. As this work is yet to be completed, there is a risk that implementation costs may ultimately prove
higher than anticipated. NAB may also be liable to MLC Limited or Nippon Life if it fails to perform its
obligations in accordance with the agreements relating to these matters. If implementation costs are higher
than expected, or if NAB fails to perform its obligations in accordance with the relevant agreements, there
may be an adverse impact on the NAB Group’s financial performance and position.
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Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer will fail to meet its obligations to the NAB Group in accordance with
agreed terms. Credit risk arises from both the NAB Group’s lending activities and markets and trading
activities.

A decline in the residential property market may give rise to higher losses on defaulting loans

Lending activities account for most of the NAB Group’s credit risk. The NAB Group’s lending portfolio is
largely based in Australia and NZ. Residential housing loans and commercial real estate loans constitute a
material component of the NAB Group’s total gross loans and acceptances. A decline in the value of
residential property has been observed in some areas in Australia. A range of factors could contribute to
further declines in residential property prices. This includes regulatory changes which may impact the
availability of credit, shifts in government policies that are less favourable to immigration and overseas
investment, changes to taxation policy and rising unemployment. If this occurs, the declining value of the
residential property used as collateral (including in business lending) may give rise to greater losses to the
NAB Group resulting from customer defaults, which, in turn, may impact the NAB Group’s financial
performance and position, profitability and returns to investors. The most significant impact is likely to be
experienced by residential mortgage customers in high loan-to-value-ratio brackets.

Adverse business conditions in Australia and NZ, particularly in the agriculture sector, the consumer-facing
sector, or both, may give rise to increasing customer defaults

The NAB Group has a large share of the business lending market in Australia and NZ. Should adverse
business conditions lead to defaults by business customers in these markets, the NAB Group may experience
an adverse impact on its financial performance and position.

Specifically, the NAB Group has a large market share in the Australian and NZ agricultural sectors,
particularly the dairy sector in NZ. Volatility in commodity prices, milk prices, foreign exchange rate
movements, disease and introduction of pathogens and pests, export and quarantine restrictions, and extreme
weather events may negatively impact these sectors. This may result in increased losses to the NAB Group
from customer defaults, and ultimately may have an adverse impact on the NAB Group’s financial
performance and position.

Customers of the NAB Group whose businesses are in consumer-facing industries are also confronting
challenges including high levels of household debt, low wage growth and the recent decline in house prices
weighing on consumer confidence and impacting their business’ performance. These factors may give rise to
an increase in customer defaults, ultimately affecting the NAB Group’s financial performance and position
and profitability and returns to investors.

Climate change and extreme climate patterns may lead to increasing customer defaults and may decrease
the value of collateral

Credit risk may arise as a result of climate change, including extreme weather events affecting property
values or business operations, the effect of new laws and government policies designed to mitigate climate
change, and the impact on certain customer segments as the economy transitions to renewable and low-
emission technology. There is a risk of increased levels of customer default in affected business sectors. The
impact of this on the NAB Group may be exacerbated by a decline in the value and liquidity of assets held
by the NAB Group as collateral in these sectors, which may impact the NAB Group’s ability to recover
under defaulting loans.

For example, parts of eastern Australia are experiencing severe drought conditions. The impact of these
conditions is expected to extend beyond primary producers, to customers who are suppliers to the
agricultural sector, and to those who reside in and operate businesses within regional communities. Extreme
weather events and other climate patterns in other parts of Australia may have similar impacts on other
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business sectors. These impacts may increase current levels of customer defaults, thereby increasing the
credit risk facing the NAB Group and adversely impacting the NAB Group’s financial performance and
position, profitability and returns to investors.

The NAB Group’s losses may differ materially from its provisions which may impact its financial
performance and position

The NAB Group provides for expected losses from loans, advances and other assets. Estimating losses in the
loan portfolio is, by its very nature, uncertain. The accuracy of these estimates depends on many factors,
including general economic conditions, forecasts and assumptions, and involves complex modelling and
judgements. If the assumptions upon which these assessments are made prove to be inaccurate, the
provisions for credit impairment may need to be revised. This may adversely impact the NAB Group’s
financial performance and position.

The NAB Group may be adversely impacted by macro-economic and geopolitical risks and financial market
conditions which pose a credit risk

The majority of the NAB Group's businesses operate in Australia and NZ, with branches in Asia, the United
Kingdom (UK) and the United States (US). Levels of borrowing are heavily dependent on customer
confidence, employment trends, market interest rates, and other economic and financial market conditions
and forecasts most relevantly for the NAB Group in Australia and NZ, but also in the global locations in
which the NAB Group operates.

Domestic and international economic conditions and forecasts are influenced by a number of macro-
economic factors, such as: economic growth rates; cost and availability of capital; central bank intervention;

inflation and deflation rates; level of interest rates; yield curves; market volatility; and uncertainty.

Deterioration in any of these factors may lead to the following negative impacts on the NAB Group:

. Increased cost of funding or lack of available funding.

. Deterioration in the value and liquidity of assets (including collateral).

. Inability to price certain assets.

. An increase in customer or counterparty default and credit losses.

. Higher provisions for credit impairment.

. Mark-to-market losses in equity and trading positions.

. Lack of available or suitable derivative instruments for hedging purposes.

. Lower growth in business revenues and earnings.

. Increased cost of insurance, lack of available or suitable insurance, or failure of the insurance
underwriter.

Economic conditions may also be impacted by climate change and major shock events, such as natural
disasters, war and terrorism, political and social unrest, and sovereign debt restructuring and defaults.

The following macro-economic and financial market conditions are currently of most relevance to the credit
risk facing the NAB Group and may give rise to slower revenue growth and/or increasing customer defaults:

. Global economic growth is trending downwards which may create credit risk for the NAB Group.

The NAB Group’s key markets of Australia and NZ are small, open economies where national
income (and with it, the capacity for businesses and households to service debt) is impacted by
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global trends. The current global economic cycle peaked in early 2018 and growth has slowed since
this time, due to fading fiscal stimulus, the impact of US-China trade tensions, and tighter monetary
policy in the US, Canada and the UK, among other jurisdictions.

. In response to weakening growth, some central banks, including the Reserve Bank of Australia and
the US Federal Reserve, have eased monetary policy and indicated further rate cuts could occur.
Given extremely low policy rates in some countries, policy easing may also involve additional
quantitative easing. Policy easing would be expected to reduce short-term downside risks to growth,
but risks building on existing imbalances in various asset classes and regions. Policy easing may also
reduce the impetus for highly geared borrowers to deleverage thereby increasing the credit risk
posed to the NAB Group by these highly geared customers.

. As a key trading partner, China’s economic growth is important to Australia and NZ, with export
income and business investment exposed to any sharp slowdown in the rapid pace of Chinese
economic growth. China’s high and growing debt burden presents a risk to its medium-term growth
prospects. Due to its export mix, Australia’s economy is exposed to any sudden downturn in China’s
domestic investment in business, infrastructure or housing. Any such downturn could therefore have
a negative impact on the NAB Group’s customers who are exposed to these sectors, and may give
rise to increasing levels of customer defaults.

. The ongoing trade tensions between the US and China present additional uncertainty that poses risks
to global economic growth. There remains the possibility of further trade measures that will
negatively impact global economic growth. Although China is the primary target of US trade
measures, value chain linkages mean that other emerging markets, primarily in Asia, may also be
impacted. A number of emerging markets in East Asia are major trading partners with Australia and
NZ and accordingly a negative impact on their economies may increase the credit risk facing the
NAB Group.

. Geopolitical risks continue to present uncertainty to the global economic outlook, with negative
impacts on consumption and business investment. An increasing fragmentation of, and a rise in
populism in, many major democratic economies have led to difficulties in policy implementation.
Protests in Hong Kong are creating political tensions between the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region and mainland China. The uncertainty surrounding the UK’s departure from
the European Union continues, with a general election scheduled prior to the recently extended
deadline, with the major parties offering differing ways forward for Brexit. In addition, there are a
range of other geopolitical risks, particularly given the ongoing uncertainty around the Korean
Peninsula, South China Sea and US sanctions on Iran.

. Australia’s economic growth has slowed in 2019, which is largely a reflection of weakness in
household demand. Wages growth has been weak, and if the slowdown in growth persists,
unemployment is expected to rise. NZ’s economic growth has also slowed. A slowdown in economic
growth in Australia and NZ and any resulting increase in unemployment may negatively impact debt
servicing levels, increase customer defaults and negatively impact the NAB Group’s financial
performance and position and its profitability.

. As commodity exporting economies, Australia and NZ are exposed to shifts in global commodity
prices that can be sudden, sizeable and difficult to predict. Fluctuations in commodity markets can
affect key economic variables like national income tax receipts and exchange rates. Previous sharp
declines in commodity prices in Australia and NZ were driven by sub-trend global growth
constraining demand, combined with increases in commodity supply. Commodity price volatility
remains substantial and given the NAB Group’s sizeable exposures to commodity producing and
trading businesses, this volatility poses a significant source of credit risk to the NAB Group.
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Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss from the NAB Group’s trading activities. The NAB Group may suffer losses as
a result of a change in the value of the NAB Group’s positions in financial instruments or their hedges due to
adverse movements in market prices. Adverse price movements impacting the NAB Group may occur in
credit spreads, interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and commodity and equity prices, in particular during
periods of heightened market volatility or reduced liquidity.

Credit spread risk is the risk of the NAB Group’s trading book being exposed to movements in the value of
securities and derivatives as the result of changes in the perceived credit quality of the underlying company.
Credit spread risk accumulates in the NAB Group’s trading book when it provides risk transfer services to
customers seeking to buy or sell fixed income securities (such as corporate bonds). The NAB Group may
also be exposed to credit spread risk when holding an inventory of fixed income securities in anticipation of
customer demand or undertaking market-making activity (i.e. quoting buy and sell prices to clients) in fixed
income securities.

Interest rate risk is the risk of the NAB Group’s trading book being exposed to changes in the value of
securities and derivatives as the result of changes in interest rates. The NAB Group’s trading book
accumulates interest rate risk when the NAB Group provides interest rate hedging solutions for clients, holds
interest rate risk in anticipation of customer requirements or undertakes market-making activity in fixed
income securities or interest rate derivatives.

The occurrence of any event giving rise to a material trading loss may have a negative impact on the NAB
Group’s financial performance and financial position.

Balance Sheet and Liquidity Risk

Balance sheet and liquidity risk comprises key banking book structural risks of the NAB Group, such as
liquidity risk, funding risk, interest rate risk, capital risk and foreign exchange risk.

The NAB Group is exposed to funding and liquidity risk

Funding risk is the risk that the NAB Group is unable to raise short and long-term funding to support its
ongoing operations, strategic plans and objectives. The NAB Group accesses domestic and global capital
markets to help fund its business, in addition to using customer deposits. Dislocation in any of these capital
markets, reduced investor interest in the NAB Group’s securities and/or reduced customer deposits, may
adversely affect the NAB Group’s funding and liquidity position, increase the cost of obtaining funds or
impose unfavourable terms on the NAB Group’s access to funds, constrain the volume of new lending, or
adversely affect the NAB Group’s capital position.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the NAB Group is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
These obligations include the repayment of deposits on demand or at their contractual maturity, the
repayment of wholesale borrowings and loan capital as it matures, the payment of interest on borrowings and
the payment of operational expenses and taxes. The NAB Group must also comply with prudential and
regulatory liquidity obligations across the jurisdictions in which it operates. Any significant deterioration in
the NAB Group’s liquidity position may lead to an increase in the NAB Group’s funding costs, constrain the
volume of new lending, result in the NAB Group drawing upon its committed liquidity facility with the
Reserve Bank of Australia or cause the NAB Group to breach its prudential or regulatory liquidity
obligations. This may adversely impact the NAB Group’s reputation and financial performance and position.

The NAB Group’s capital position may be constrained by prudential requirements

Capital risk is the risk that the NAB Group does not hold sufficient capital and reserves to cover exposures
and to protect against unexpected losses. Capital is the cornerstone of the NAB Group’s financial strength. It
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supports an authorised deposit-taking institution's (ADI's) operations by providing a buffer to absorb
unanticipated losses from its activities.

Compliance with prudential capital requirements in the jurisdictions in which the NAB Group operates and
any further changes to these requirements may:

. Limit the NAB Group’s ability to manage capital across the entities within the NAB Group.

. Limit payment of dividends or distributions on shares and hybrid instruments.

. Require the NAB Group to raise more capital (in an absolute sense) or raise more capital of higher
quality.

. Restrict balance sheet growth.

Additionally, if the information or the assumptions upon which the NAB Group’s capital requirements are
assessed prove to be inaccurate, this may adversely impact the NAB Group’s operations, and financial
performance and position.

A significant downgrade in the NAB Group’s credit ratings may adversely impact its cost of funds and
capital market access

Credit ratings are an assessment of a borrower’s creditworthiness and may be used by market participants in
evaluating the NAB Group and its products, services and securities. Credit rating agencies conduct ongoing
review activities, which can result in changes to credit rating settings and outlooks for the NAB Group, or
sovereign jurisdictions where the NAB Group conducts business. Credit ratings may be affected by
operational and market factors, or changes in the credit rating agency’s rating methodologies.

A downgrade in the credit ratings or outlook of the NAB Group, the NAB Group’s securities, or the
sovereign rating of one or more of the countries in which the NAB Group operates, may increase the NAB
Group’s cost of funds or limit access to capital markets. This may also cause a deterioration of the NAB
Group’s liquidity position and trigger additional collateral requirements in derivative contracts and other
secured funding arrangements. A downgrade to the NAB Group’s credit ratings relative to peers may also
adversely impact the NAB Group’s competitive position and financial performance and position.

The NAB Group’s financial performance and capital position may be adversely impacted by interest rate
fluctuations

Interest rate risk is the risk to the NAB Group’s financial performance and capital position caused by
changes in interest rates. Factors which may affect the level of interest rate risk include all on-balance sheet
and off-balance sheet items that create an interest rate risk exposure within the NAB Group. As interest rates
and yield curves change over time, including negative interest rates in certain countries in which the NAB
Group operates, the NAB Group may be exposed to a loss in earnings and economic value due to the interest
rate profile of its balance sheet. Such exposure may arise from a mismatch between the maturity profile of
the NAB Group’s lending portfolio compared to its deposit portfolio (and other funding sources), as well as
the extent to which lending and deposit products can be repriced as interest rates approach zero or become
negative, thereby impacting net interest margin.

The NAB Group may fail to or be unable to sell down its underwriting risk

As financial intermediaries, members of the NAB Group underwrite or guarantee different types of
transactions, risks and outcomes, including the placement of listed and unlisted debt, equity-linked and
equity securities. The underwriting obligation or guarantee may be over the pricing and placement of these
securities, and the NAB Group may therefore be exposed to potential losses, which may be significant, if it
fails to sell down some or all of this risk to other market participants.
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The value of the NAB Group’s banking book may be adversely impacted by foreign exchange rates

Foreign exchange and translation risk arises from the impact of currency movements on the value of the
NAB Group’s cash flows, profits and losses, and assets and liabilities due to participation in global financial
markets and international operations.

The NAB Group’s ownership structure includes investment in overseas subsidiaries and associates which
gives rise to foreign currency exposures, such as repatriation of capital and dividends. The NAB Group also
conducts business outside of Australia and transacts with customers, banks and other counterparties in a
number of different currencies. The NAB Group’s businesses may therefore be affected by a change in
currency exchange rates, or a change in the reserve status of any of these currencies.

The NAB Group’s financial statements are prepared and presented in Australian dollars, and any adverse
fluctuations in the Australian dollar against other currencies in which the NAB Group invests or transacts
and generates profits (or incurs losses) may adversely impact its financial performance and position.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems
or external events. This includes legal risk, but excludes strategic and reputation risk.

Disruption to technology may adversely impact the NAB Group’s reputation and operations

Most of the NAB Group’s operations depend on technology, and therefore the reliability and security of the
NAB Group’s information technology systems and infrastructure are essential to the effective operation of its
business and consequently to its financial performance and position. The reliability of technology may be
impacted by the complex technology environment, failure to keep technology systems up-to-date, an
inability to restore or recover systems in acceptable timeframes, or a physical or cyber-attack.

The rapid evolution of technology in the financial services industry and the increased expectation of
customers for internet and mobile services on demand expose the NAB Group to new operational challenges.

Any disruption to the NAB Group’s technology (including disruption to the technology systems of the NAB
Group’s external providers) may be wholly or partially beyond the NAB Group’s control and may result in:
operational disruption; regulatory enforcement actions; customer redress; litigation; financial losses; theft or
loss of customer data; loss of market share; loss of property or information; or may adversely impact the
speed and agility in the delivery of change and innovation.

In addition, any such disruption may adversely affect the NAB Group’s reputation, including the view of
regulators or ratings agencies, which may result in loss of customers, a reduction in share price, ratings
downgrades and regulatory censure or penalties. Social media commentary may further exacerbate such
adverse outcomes for the NAB Group and negatively impact the NAB Group’s reputation.

Privacy, security and data breaches may adversely impact the NAB Group’s reputation and operations

The NAB Group processes, stores and transmits large amounts of personal and confidential information
through its technology systems and networks. Threats to information security are constantly evolving and
techniques used to perpetrate cyber-attacks are increasingly sophisticated.

The NAB Group may not be able to anticipate a security threat, or be able to implement effective measures
to prevent or minimise the resulting damage. As with other business activities, the NAB Group uses select
external providers (in Australia and overseas) to store confidential data and to develop and provide its
technology services, including the increasing use of cloud infrastructure.
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A breach of the security at any of these external providers or within the NAB Group may be wholly or
partially beyond the control of the NAB Group and may result in theft or loss of customer data, a breach of
privacy laws and subsequent regulatory enforcement actions, customer redress, litigation, or financial losses.
This may adversely impact the financial performance and position of the NAB Group.

In addition, any such breach may adversely affect the NAB Group’s reputation, including the view of
regulators or ratings agencies, which may result in loss of customers, a reduction in share price, ratings
downgrades and regulatory censure or penalties. Social media commentary may further exacerbate such
adverse outcomes for the NAB Group and negatively impact the NAB Group’s reputation.

Deficient policies, processes, infrastructure and models give rise to a significant risk to the NAB Group’s
operations

The NAB Group’s business involves the execution of a large number of complex transactions. The NAB
Group is reliant on its policies, processes and supporting infrastructure functioning as designed, along with
third parties appropriately managing their own operational risk and delivering services to the NAB Group as
required. A failure in the design or operation of these policies, processes and infrastructure, failure of the
NAB Group to manage external service providers, or the disablement of a supporting system all pose a
significant risk to the NAB Group’s operations and consequently its financial performance and reputation.
Reputational damage may adversely impact the NAB Group’s ability to attract and retain customers or
employees in the short and long-term and the ability to pursue new business opportunities. Reputational
damage may also result in a higher risk premium being applied to the NAB Group, and impact the cost of
funding the NAB Group’s operations or its financial condition. Further, reputational damage may result in
regulators requiring the NAB Group to hold additional capital, pay fines or incur additional costs, including
costs to undertake remedial action. These impacts may affect the viability of some or all of the NAB Group’s
business activities.

Models are used extensively in the conduct of the NAB Group’s business, for example, in calculating capital
requirements and measuring and stressing exposures. If the models used prove to be inadequate or are based
on incorrect or invalid assumptions, judgements or inputs, this may adversely affect the NAB Group’s
financial performance and position.

The NAB Group is exposed to the risk of human error

The NAB Group’s business, including the internal processes and systems that assist in business decisions,
relies on inputs from its employees, agents and third party vendors. The NAB Group is exposed to
operational risk due to process or human errors including incorrect or incomplete data capture and records
maintenance, incorrect or incomplete documentation to support activities, or inadequate design of processes
or controls. The NAB Group uses select external providers (in Australia and overseas) to provide services to
the NAB Group and is exposed to similar risks arising from such failures in the operating environment of its
external providers. The materialisation of any of these risks could lead to direct financial loss, loss of
customer, employee or commercially sensitive data, regulatory penalties and reputational damage.

The NAB Group may not be able to attract and retain suitable personnel

The NAB Group is dependent on its ability to attract and retain key executives, employees and Board
members with a deep understanding of banking and technology, who are qualified to execute the NAB
Group’s strategy, as well as the technology transformation the NAB Group is undertaking to meet the
changing needs of its customers. Weaknesses in employment practices, including diversity, discrimination
and workplace health and safety, are sources of operational risk that can impact the NAB Group’s ability to
attract and retain qualified personnel with the requisite knowledge, skills and capability.

The NAB Group’s capacity to attract and retain key personnel is dependent on its ability to design and
implement effective remuneration structures. This process may be constrained by regulatory requirements
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(particularly in the highly regulated financial services sector), as well as investor expectations, which may be
somewhat disparate.

The unexpected loss of key resources or the inability to attract personnel with suitable experience may
adversely impact the NAB Group’s ability to operate effectively and efficiently, or to meet the NAB Group’s
strategic objectives.

External events may adversely impact the NAB Group’s operations

Operational risk can arise from external events such as natural disasters, biological hazards or acts of
terrorism. The NAB Group has branches in regional areas in Australia (including in Queensland, Western
Australia and New South Wales) that are prone to seasonal natural disasters, including fires and floods.

In addition, the NAB Group has branches and office buildings in Christchurch and Wellington in NZ, which
have experienced significant earthquakes and aftershocks in recent years and which may be exposed to the
risk of future earthquakes.

Given the NAB Group’s physical presence in the central business districts of major cities in Australia and
NZ, it may also be exposed to the risk of a terrorist attack.

External events such as natural disasters, biological hazards and acts of terrorism may cause property
damage and business disruption, which may adversely impact the NAB Group’s financial performance. In
addition, if the NAB Group is unable to manage the impacts of such external events, it may lead to
reputational damage and compromise the NAB Group’s ability to provide a safe workplace for its personnel.

If there is a ‘second strike’ shareholder vote against NAB’s 2019 Remuneration Report and a spill resolution
is passed at NAB’s 2019 Annual General Meeting, there is a risk of disruption to the governance and
oversight of the NAB Group

At NAB’s 2018 Annual General Meeting (AGM), NAB’s 2018 Remuneration Report received a ‘first strike’
vote under the Corporations Act. If at least 25 per cent. of the votes cast on the resolution to adopt NAB’s
2019 Remuneration Report are cast against that resolution, NAB will receive a ‘second strike’ and be
required to put a ‘spill resolution’ to its shareholders at NAB’s 2019 AGM. If the ‘spill resolution’ is passed
by a simple majority, then at a subsequent meeting to be held within 90 days of NAB’s 2019 AGM, all of
NAB?’s directors who approved NAB’s 2019 Remuneration Report (other than the Chief Executive Officer)
will be required to stand for re-election at the meeting. In the event NAB was to receive a ‘second strike’ and
the ‘spill resolution” was passed at its 2019 AGM, there is a risk that the composition of NAB’s Board may
change, causing disruption to the governance and oversight of the NAB Group.

The receipt of a ‘second strike’ and subsequent passing of a ‘spill resolution’ may also cause reputational
damage to the NAB Group, which may adversely impact the NAB Group’s ability to attract and retain
customers, employees and investors in the short and long-term and the ability to pursue new business
opportunities.

Compliance Risk

Compliance risk is the risk of failing to understand and comply with relevant laws, regulations, licence
conditions, supervisory requirements, self-regulatory industry codes of conduct and voluntary initiatives.

The NAB Group may be involved in a breach or alleged breach of laws governing bribery, corruption and
financial crime

Supervision, regulation and enforcement in relation to anti-bribery and corruption, anti-money laundering

(AML) and counter-terrorism financing (CTF) laws and trade sanctions has increased. In June 2018,
Australia’s financial intelligence agency, AUSTRAC, reached an agreement with another major Australian
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bank for a A$700 million penalty relating to serious breaches of AML/CTF laws. NAB has reported a
number of AML/CTF compliance breaches to relevant regulators and has responded to a number of requests
from regulators requiring the production of documents and information. The NAB Group is currently
investigating and remediating a number of AML/CTF compliance issues. The potential outcome and total
costs associated with the investigation and remediation process remain uncertain. A negative outcome to any
investigation or remediation process may adversely impact the NAB Group’s reputation and its business,
financial position and results of operations. Further, given the large volume of transactions that the NAB
Group processes, the undetected failure of internal AML/CTF controls, or the ineffective implementation or
remediation of compliance issues, could result in a significant number of breaches of AML/CTF obligations
and significant monetary penalties for the NAB Group.

Refer to ‘Notes to the Financial Statements — Note 29 — Contingent liabilities and credit commitments’ on
page 146 in the 2019 NAB Annual Financial Report under the heading ‘Regulatory activity, compliance
investigations and associated proceedings - Anti-Money Laundering (AML) and Counter-Terrorist
Financing (CTF) program uplift and compliance issues’, which is incorporated by reference in this Offering
Circular, for more information.

Matters arising during the Royal Commission may result in legal proceedings against the NAB Group

The Royal Commission has referred two matters to the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA)
regarding the conduct of the NAB Group’s superannuation trustee, NULIS Nominees (Australia) Ltd
(NULIS). It is possible that APRA may bring proceedings against NULIS in relation to these matters. In
addition, litigation funder IMF Bentham and William Roberts Lawyers recently announced that they are
working to bring a class action against NULIS and are seeking customers to register their interest in
participating in the class action.

The Royal Commission also referred other instances of potential misconduct to the Australian Securities and
Investments Commission (ASIC) for consideration. ASIC subsequently commenced civil proceedings
against NAB in relation to its ‘Introducer Payment Program’, alleging contraventions of the National
Consumer Credit Protection Act 2009 in relation to 297 loan applications that were made between 2013 and
2016. The potential outcome and total costs associated with this matter remain uncertain. ASIC may bring
further proceedings against the NAB Group in relation to other matters referred to it by the Royal
Commission, which may result in the imposition of civil or criminal penalties on the NAB Group or the
issuing of a class action or other civil litigation against the NAB Group.

It is also possible that legal actions may be commenced against relevant individuals within the NAB Group.

Any damages awards or penalties may adversely impact the NAB Group’s reputation and financial
performance and position. Refer to ‘Notes to the Financial Statements — Note 29 — Contingent liabilities and
credit commitments’ on pages 143-148 in the 2019 NAB Annual Financial Report, which is incorporated by
reference in this Offering Circular, for more information.

Responsible lending obligations are evolving and may create additional operational complexity for the NAB
Group

The responsible lending obligations applicable to the NAB Group under the National Consumer Credit
Protection Act 2009 have evolved in recent years. Changes to these obligations, including their interpretation
by the courts, or any increased regulatory and public scrutiny, may require the NAB Group to change its
consumer lending processes or procedures. This may lead to additional operational complexity for the NAB
Group, as well as increased costs, which may adversely impact the NAB Group’s financial performance and
position.
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Ensuring compliance with laws and regulations that apply to the NAB Group is complex and costly

The NAB Group is highly regulated and subject to various regulatory regimes which differ across the
jurisdictions in which it operates, trades or raises funds.

Ensuring compliance with all applicable laws is complex. There is a risk the NAB Group will be unable to
implement the processes and controls required by relevant laws and regulations in a timely manner or that
the NAB Group’s internal controls will prove to be inadequate or ineffective in ensuring compliance. Any
failure to comply with relevant laws and regulations may have a negative impact on the NAB Group’s
reputation and financial performance and position, and may give rise to class actions, regulatory enforcement
or litigation.

In addition, there is significant cost associated with the systems, processes and personnel required to ensure
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Such costs may negatively impact the NAB Group’s
financial performance and position.

Failure to comply with laws or regulatory requirements may expose the NAB Group to class actions

There have been a number of domestic and international firms facing high profile enforcement actions for
alleged instances of non-compliance with laws or regulatory requirements. In some cases, these enforcement
actions have also given rise to class actions. Plaintiff law firm Slater & Gordon has filed a class action in the
Federal Court of Australia, alleging that NAB and MLC Limited engaged in unconscionable conduct and
misleading and deceptive conduct in connection with the sale of a particular type of consumer credit
insurance (being ‘NAB Credit Card Cover’) and unconscionable conduct in connection with the sale of a
second consumer credit insurance product (being ‘NAB Personal Loan Cover’). Refer to ‘Notes to the
Financial Statements — Note 29 — Contingent liabilities and credit commitments’ on page 146 in the 2019
NAB Annual Financial Report under the heading °‘Regulatory activity, compliance investigations and
associated proceedings - Consumer Credit Insurance (CCI)’, which is incorporated by reference in this
Offering Circular, for more information.

It is possible that class actions may arise against members of the NAB Group in relation to allegations of
which the NAB Group is currently aware or other matters of which it is not yet aware. Any class action may
impact the NAB Group’s reputation, divert management time from operations and affect the NAB Group’s
financial performance and position, profitability and returns to investors.

The NAB Group may be exposed to losses if critical accounting judgements and estimates are subsequently
found to be incorrect

Preparation of the NAB Group’s financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions and to exercise judgement in applying relevant accounting policies, each of which may directly
impact the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. A higher degree of judgement is
required for the estimates used in the calculation of provisions (including for customer-related remediation),
the valuation of goodwill and intangible assets, and the fair value of financial instruments. Changes in the
methodology or assumptions on which the assessment of goodwill and intangible balances is based, together
with expected changes in future cash flows (including changes flowing from current and potential regulatory
reforms), could result in the potential write-off of a part or all of that goodwill or intangible balances.

If the judgements, estimates and assumptions used by the NAB Group in preparing financial statements are
subsequently found to be incorrect, there could be a significant loss to the NAB Group beyond that
anticipated or provided for, which may adversely impact the NAB Group’s reputation, and financial
performance and position.
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The NAB Group may be exposed to litigation and contingent liabilities

Entities within the NAB Group may be involved from time to time in legal proceedings arising from the
conduct of their business. The aggregate potential liability and costs in respect thereof cannot be estimated
with any certainty.

Currently, there are a number of ongoing investigations and court proceedings involving the NAB Group.
These include matters relating to: the provision of financial advice; the inappropriate charging of fees for
services; engaging in regulated credit activities with unlicensed persons; selling practices and advice in
relation to consumer credit insurance products and compliance with licence conditions and the National
Credit Code. Where appropriate, provisions are held for litigation matters based on a number of assumptions
derived from a combination of past experience, forecasts, industry comparison and the exercise of subjective
judgement based on (where appropriate) external professional advice. As with other accounting, judgements,
risks and uncertainties remain in relation to these assumptions and the ultimate costs of redress to the NAB
Group. There is inherent uncertainty regarding the possible outcome of any court proceedings involving the
NAB Group. It is also possible that further class actions, regulatory investigations or the imposition of new
licence conditions could arise in relation to these matters or other matters of which the NAB Group is not yet
aware.

A negative outcome to investigations or litigation involving the NAB Group may divert management time
from operations and adversely impact the NAB Group’s reputation, and financial performance and position.

Refer to ‘Notes to the Financial Statements — Note 29 — Contingent liabilities and credit commitments’ on
pages 143-148 in the 2019 NAB Annual Financial Report, which is incorporated by reference in this
Offering Circular, for details in relation to certain legal proceedings and contingent liabilities.

Conduct Risk

Conduct risk is the risk that any action of the NAB Group, or those acting on behalf of the NAB Group, will
result in unfair outcomes for any of the NAB Group’s customers.

The NAB Group is heavily reliant on its employees, contractors and external suppliers acting in an
appropriate and ethical way

Organisational culture can greatly influence individual and group behaviours which can expose an
organisation and lead to unfair customer outcomes. The behaviours that could expose the NAB Group to
conduct risk include:

. Selling, or unduly influencing customers to purchase, products or services that do not meet their
needs.

. Being a party to fraud.

. Non-adherence to applicable requirements or providing financial advice which is not appropriate or

in the customers’ interests.
. Delays in appropriately escalating regulatory issues.
. Failure to resolve issues and remediate customers in a timely manner.

If the NAB Group’s conduct related controls were to fail significantly, be set inappropriately, or not meet
legal, regulatory or community expectations, then the NAB Group may be exposed to:

. Increased costs of compliance, fines, additional capital requirements, public censure, litigation,
settlements and restitution to customers.
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. Increased supervision, oversight or enforcement by regulators or other stakeholders.
. Unenforceability of contracts such as loans, guarantees and other security documents.

. Enforced suspension of operations, amendments to licence conditions or loss of licence to operate all
or part of the NAB Group’s businesses.

. Other enforcement or administrative action or agreements, including legal proceedings.

A failure of the NAB Group’s conduct controls to accurately reflect relevant legal, regulatory or community
expectations may adversely impact the NAB Group’s reputation, financial performance and position,
profitability, operations and returns to investors.

Regulatory Risk

Regulatory risk is the risk of failing to identify or appropriately respond to changes to the regulatory
environment or of damaging the NAB Group’s standing with its regulators as a result of the NAB Group not
meeting regulatory expectations.

Extensive regulatory change poses a significant risk to the NAB Group

Globally, the financial services and banking industries are subject to a significant and increasing number of
regulatory reviews and political scrutiny, including in Australia and NZ. Changes to laws and regulations or
their interpretation and application can be unpredictable, are beyond the NAB Group’s control, and may not
be harmonised across the jurisdictions in which the NAB Group operates.

Regulatory change may result in significant capital and compliance costs, changes to the NAB Group’s
corporate structure and increasing demands on management, employees and information technology
systems. This may also impact the viability of the NAB Group’s participation in certain markets, or give rise
to the need to divest a part of the NAB Group’s business.

The Royal Commission made a considerable number of recommendations, most of which have received
political support. The Royal Commission’s recommendations are expected to result in significant legislative
and regulatory change that will impact the operations of the NAB Group. The Australian Government has
committed to a compressed timeframe for introducing the large number of legislative changes required to
effect the Royal Commission’s recommendations. The compressed timeframe for implementation poses a
particular risk to the NAB Group’s operations as the necessary controls may not be able to be implemented
in a timely and considered manner. Following the Royal Commission, further inquiries and regulatory
reviews impacting the financial services industry may be commissioned by the Australian Government,
which, depending on their scope, findings and recommendations, may adversely impact the NAB Group.

Other reviews and regulatory reforms currently relevant to the NAB Group which present a potential
regulatory risk include:

. APRA’s various reforms in relation to loss-absorbing capacity. These include the requirement, due
to be implemented by 1 January 2024, that Domestic Systemically Important Banks (D-SIBs), such
as NAB, increase total capital by 3 per cent. of risk weighted assets (RWA), which is expected to be
satisfied primarily by issuing additional Tier 2 Capital. Based on the NAB Group’s RWA of A$416
billion as at 30 September 2019, this requirement represents an incremental increase of A$12.5
billion of total capital. In addition, APRA intends to consult on a target of additional capital
amounting to a further 1-2 per cent. of RWA. The NAB Group’s funding costs are expected to
increase due to the higher cost of Tier 2 Capital issuance relative to senior debt.

. APRA’s proposed revisions to the credit risk management framework for ADIs include broadening
requirements for credit risk management practices; revising credit standards; and aligning asset

0083121-0000407 ICM:33574037.13 25



classification and provisioning with the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision’s (BCBS) recent
accounting standard changes and guidance.

. The RBNZ’s proposal that banks deemed systemically important in NZ (including NAB’s
subsidiary, BNZ) be required to hold Tier 1 capital amounting to 16 per cent. of RWA, consisting of
a minimum Tier 1 requirement of 6 per cent. of RWA and prudential capital buffer of Common
Equity Tier 1 equal to 10 per cent. of RWA over a proposed five-year staged transition period. It
remains unclear the extent to which APRA will incorporate aspects of the RBNZ’s proposals as part
of its review of the Australian capital framework.

. APRA’s ongoing consultation on revisions to the capital framework, reaffirming its intention to
strengthen banking system resilience by establishing ‘unquestionably strong’ capital ratios. The
major Australian banks (including NAB) are expected to meet APRA’s ‘unquestionably strong’
target benchmark beginning January 2020. Final revised prudential standards in relation to the risk-
weighting framework and other capital requirements are expected to be released in 2020, and may
require additional capital to be held by the NAB Group from January 2022.

. The NZ Financial Markets Authority (FMA) and RBNZ have undertaken a review of conduct and
culture in the NZ financial services industry. Alongside industry-wide recommendations released as
a result of the review, further specific findings were provided to individual NZ banks (including
BNZ) in November 2018. The review has led to a NZ Government announcement in September
2019 that it will introduce legislation to create an oversight regime for regulating conduct in the
banking and insurance sectors by the end of 2019.

. The Australian Banking Executive Accountability Regime (BEAR) has been legislated and applies
to the NAB Group. The Royal Commission made a number of recommendations regarding BEAR,
including to introduce a new accountable person responsibility for end-to-end product value chains
within an ADI (including any necessary remediation of customers in respect of an ADI’s products).
APRA is currently seeking submissions on this proposal, with a target implementation date of 1 July
2020.

. The Australian Government has directed the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission
(ACCC) to commence an inquiry into home loan pricing. The ACCC will investigate a wide range
of issues, including the rates paid by new and existing customers, how the cost of financing for
banks has affected interest rate decisions and the interaction between home loan pricing and rate-
setting by the Reserve Bank of Australia. A preliminary report is expected by the end of March
2020, with a final report due on 30 September 2020.

Other material regulatory changes include new requirements for the design and distribution of financial
products, responsible lending reforms, and the implementation of Open Banking reforms. In addition, there
are a number of other ongoing or proposed regulatory changes and inquiries relevant to the NAB Group such
as: changes to the NAB Group entities eligible for inclusion in the Level 1 group for prudential purposes;
changes to financial benchmarks; derivatives reform; payments; data protection and privacy laws; data
quality; competition inquiries; accounting and reporting requirements; and tax reform.

The full scope, timeline and impact of current and potential inquiries and regulatory reforms such as those
mentioned above, or how they will be implemented (if at all in some cases), is not known. Depending on the
specific nature of the requirements and how they are implemented or enforced, they may have an adverse
impact on the NAB Group’s business, operations, structure, compliance costs or capital requirements, and
ultimately its reputation, and financial performance and position.
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There is a risk of the NAB Group failing to deliver on commitments made to its regulators and to the public
or otherwise damaging its relationship with regulators

In response to the Royal Commission, the NAB Group has made certain public commitments to change the
way it operates. In addition, in November 2018, the NAB Group published its self-assessment on
governance, accountability and culture to APRA and has undertaken to regularly report on the NAB Group’s
progress in implementing the findings.

If the NAB Group does not deliver on the matters identified in its self-assessment, fails to deliver on its
public commitments following the Royal Commission, or otherwise fails to comply with the representations
it makes to the public or to its regulators, this may negatively impact the NAB Group’s reputation. Such
reputational damage may adversely impact the NAB Group’s ability to attract and retain customers or
employees in the short and long-term. It may also result in a higher risk premium being applied to the NAB
Group, and impact the cost of funding the NAB Group’s operations, or its financial performance and
position.

The enforcement approach of the NAB Group’s principal regulators has changed, resulting in a greater risk
of enforcement actions

A number of measures were recommended by the Royal Commission to improve the effectiveness and
oversight of ASIC and APRA in deterring, and imposing appropriate penalties for, misconduct. These
included a recommendation for ASIC to change its approach to enforcement, with a focus on instigating
court actions in relation to conduct matters where a breach of law is more likely than not, and the matter is in
the public interest. Accordingly, the NAB Group may be exposed to a greater risk of enforcement action
initiated by its primary regulators, ASIC and APRA, which may result in the imposition of civil or criminal
penalties on the NAB Group. The issuing of any such enforcement action, and any subsequent imposition of
penalties, may negatively impact on the NAB Group’s reputation and financial performance and position.

BNZ and BNZ-IF - Risks specific to BNZ and BNZ-IF

Set out below are the principal risks and uncertainties associated with BNZ and its controlled entities
(including BNZ-IF). It is not possible to determine the likelihood of these risks occurring with any certainty.
However, the risk in each sub-category that BNZ considers most material is listed first, based on the
information available at the date of this Offering Circular and BNZ’s best assessment of the likelihood of
each risk occurring and potential magnitude of the negative impact to BNZ should such risk materialise. In
the event that one or more of these risks materialise, BNZ’s reputation, strategy, business, operations,
financial condition and future performance could be materially and adversely impacted.

BNZ’s risk management framework and internal controls may not be adequate or effective in accurately
identifying, evaluating or addressing risks faced by BNZ. There may be other risks that are currently
unknown or are deemed immaterial, but which may subsequently become known or material. These may
individually or in aggregate adversely impact BNZ. Accordingly, no assurances or guarantees of future
performance, profitability, distributions or returns of capital are given by BNZ or BNZ-IF.

Risk specific to BNZ-IF as an offshore funding entity of BNZ
BNZ-IF is an offshore funding entity

BNZ-IF is a funding entity, the primary business of which is carrying out offshore wholesale funding for
BNZ through the issuance of debt securities (see "Description of BNZ-IF" on pages 198 to 200 of this
Offering Circular for further details). BNZ-IF's debt securities are unconditionally and irrevocably
guaranteed by BNZ to enable BNZ-IF to carry out such fundraising activities. As all funds raised by BNZ-IF
will be on-lent to BNZ, the ability of BNZ-IF to fund its debt obligations in respect of Guaranteed Senior
Notes will be entirely dependent on the ability of BNZ to fund its debt obligations to BNZ-IF.
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Strategic Risk

Strategic risk is the risk associated with the pursuit of BNZ’s strategic objectives, including the risk that
BNZ fails to execute its chosen strategy effectively or in a timely manner.

Strategic initiatives may fail to be executed, may not deliver all anticipated benefits and may change BNZ'’s
risk profile

BNZ’s corporate strategy sets its purpose, vision and objectives, and focuses on:

. Delivering great customer outcomes.

. Simplifying BNZ’s business to improve efficiency and better service its customers.
. Targeting growth opportunities including new and emerging propositions.

. Attracting and developing people to create a high performing organisation.

BNZ prioritises, and invests significant resources in, the execution of initiatives that are aligned to its
strategy, including transformation and change programmes. These programmes focus on technology,
infrastructure, business improvement and cultural transformation. There is a risk that these programmes may
not realise some or all of their anticipated benefits. These programmes may also increase operational,
compliance and other risks. Any failure by BNZ to deliver in accordance with its strategy or to deliver these
strategic programmes effectively, may result in material losses to BNZ, or a failure to achieve anticipated
benefits, and ultimately may adversely impact BNZ’s operations and financial performance and position.

BNZ faces intense competition

There is substantial competition across the markets in which BNZ conducts business. BNZ faces competition
from established financial services providers as well as foreign banks and new market entrants, particularly
non-bank competitors with lower costs and new operating and business models. In addition, evolving
industry trends and rapid technology changes may impact customer needs and preferences and BNZ may not
predict these changes accurately or quickly enough, or have the resources and flexibility to adapt in
sufficient time to meet customer expectations and keep pace with competitors. Progress is also being made
towards open data sharing in NZ, with Payments NZ (a governance organisation in respect of core payment
systems) negotiating the development of payment initiation and account information standards in May 2019.
Ongoing competition for customers can lead to compression in profit margins and loss of market share,
which may ultimately impact BNZ’s financial performance and position, profitability and returns to
investors.

Risks may arise from pursuing acquisitions and divestments

BNZ regularly considers a range of corporate opportunities, including acquisitions, divestments, joint
ventures and investments.

Pursuit of corporate opportunities inherently involves transaction risks, including over-valuation of an
acquisition or investment or under-valuation of a divestment and exposure to reputational damage. BNZ may
encounter difficulties in integrating or separating businesses, including failure to realise expected synergies,
disruption to operations, diversion of management resources or higher than expected costs. These risks and
difficulties may ultimately have an adverse impact on BNZ’s financial performance and position.

BNZ may incur unexpected financial losses following an acquisition, joint venture or investment if the

business it invests in does not perform as planned or causes unanticipated changes to BNZ’s risk profile.
Additionally, there can be no assurance that employees, counterparties, suppliers, customers and other
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relevant stakeholders will remain with an acquired business following the transaction and any failure to
retain such stakeholders may have an adverse impact on BNZ’s overall financial performance and position.

BNZ may also have ongoing exposures to divested businesses, including through the provision of continued
services and infrastructure or an agreement to retain certain liabilities of the divested businesses through
warranties and indemnities, which may have an adverse impact on BNZ’s business and financial
performance and position.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer will fail to meet its obligations to BNZ in accordance with agreed
terms. Credit risk arises from both BNZ’s lending activities and markets and trading activities.

Adverse business conditions in NZ, particularly in the agriculture sector, the consumer facing sector, or
both, may give rise to increasing customer defaults

BNZ has a large share of the business lending market in NZ. Should adverse business conditions lead to
defaults by business customers in these markets, BNZ may experience an adverse impact on its financial
performance and position.

Specifically, BNZ has a large market share in the NZ agricultural sectors, particularly the dairy sector.
Volatility in commodity prices, milk prices, foreign exchange rate movements, disease and introduction of
pathogens and pests, export and quarantine restrictions and extreme weather events may negatively impact
these sectors. This may result in increased losses to BNZ from customer defaults, and ultimately may have
an adverse impact on BNZ’s financial performance and position.

A significant decrease in global dairy prices, milk solid pay-outs, or both, could also materially and
adversely impact the NZ dairy sector’s ability to service debt. The financial impact on BNZ of a decrease in
the ability of dairy sector participants to service debt could be compounded by the low liquidity and
volatility in dairy farm values evident in NZ at present.

Customers of BNZ whose businesses are in consumer facing industries are also confronting challenges
including high household debt, and low wage growth weighing on consumer confidence and impacting their
business’ performance. These factors may give rise to an increase in customer defaults, ultimately affecting
BNZ’s financial performance and position, profitability and returns to investors.

A decline in the residential property market may give rise to lower recoveries for defaulting loans

Lending activities account for most of BNZ’s credit risk. BNZ’s lending portfolio is largely based in NZ.
Residential housing loans and commercial real estate loans constitute a material component of BNZ’s total
gross loans and acceptances. A decline in value of residential property used as collateral (including in
business lending) may give rise to greater losses to BNZ resulting from customer defaults, which, in turn,
may impact BNZ’s financial performance and position, profitability and returns to investors. The most
significant impact is likely to be experienced by residential mortgage customers in high loan-to-value-ratio
brackets.

Climate change and extreme climate patterns may lead to increasing customer defaults and may decrease
the value of collateral

Physical and transitional risks associated with climate change have led to regulatory change in NZ, such as
the New Zealand Climate Change Response (Zero Carbon) Amendment Act 2019, which commits NZ to a
net zero carbon economy by 2050 or sooner. These changes may disrupt the operations of BNZ’s customers
involved in a wide range of sectors and industries. As NZ transitions to a net zero carbon economy, there are
transitional risks which may lead to an increase in adoption of emission-reducing technology, changes to
farming and manufacturing practices, changes to insurance practices, tax changes and revised land use
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regulation, any of which may impact security values. Changing physical conditions may also reduce the
ability of businesses to service loans. Participants in the agricultural sector are particularly vulnerable
including businesses in their supply chains. NZ could also see damage to its natural assets that may reduce
tourism income. This may lead to changes to BNZ’s operations, strategy, risk profile and risk appetite,
which may adversely impact BNZ’s financial performance and position, profitability and returns to
investors.

BNZ’s losses may differ materially from its provisions which may impact its financial performance and
position

BNZ provides for expected losses from loans, advances and other assets. Estimating losses in the loan
portfolio is, by its very nature, uncertain. The accuracy of these estimates depends on many factors,
including general economic conditions, forecasts and assumptions, and involves complex modelling and
judgements. If the assumptions upon which these assessments are made prove to be inaccurate, the
provisions for credit impairment may need to be revised. This may adversely impact BNZ’s financial
performance and position.

BNZ may be adversely impacted by macro-economic and geopolitical risks and financial market conditions
which pose a credit risk

As BNZ primarily conducts business in NZ, BNZ’s performance is dependent on the performance of the
economy in NZ. Levels of borrowing are heavily dependent on customer confidence, employment trends,
market interest rates and other economic and financial market conditions and forecasts.

Domestic and international economic conditions and forecasts are influenced by a number of macro-
economic factors, such as: economic growth rates; cost and availability of capital; central bank intervention;
inflation and deflation rates; level of interest rates; yield curves; market volatility; and uncertainty.
Deterioration in any of these factors may lead to the following negative impacts on BNZ:

. Increased cost of funding or lack of available funding.

. Deterioration in the value and liquidity of assets (including collateral).

. Inability to price certain assets.

. An increase in customer or counterparty default and credit losses.

. Higher provisions for credit impairment.

. Mark-to-market losses in equity and trading positions.

. Lack of available or suitable derivative instruments for hedging purposes.

. Lower growth in business revenues and earnings.

. Increased cost of insurance, lack of available or suitable insurance, or failure of the insurance
underwriter.

Economic conditions may also be impacted by climate change and major shock events, such as natural
disasters, war and terrorism, political and social unrest, and sovereign debt restructuring and defaults.

The following macro-economic and financial market conditions are currently of most relevance to the credit
risk facing BNZ and may give rise to slower revenue growth and/or increasing customer defaults:
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. Global economic growth is trending downwards which may create credit risk for BNZ. NZ, which is
BNZ’s key market, is a small and open economy where national income (and with it, the capacity for
businesses and households to service debt) is impacted by global trends. The current global
economic cycle peaked in early 2018 and growth has slowed since this time, due to fading fiscal
stimulus, the impact of US-China trade tensions, and tighter monetary policy in the US and UK
among other jurisdictions.

. In response to weakening growth, some central banks have eased monetary policy and indicated
further rate cuts could occur. Given extremely low policy rates in some countries, policy easing may
also involve additional quantitative easing. Policy easing would be expected to reduce short-term
downside risks to growth, but risks building on existing imbalances in various asset classes and
regions. Policy easing may also reduce the impetus for highly geared borrowers to deleverage
thereby increasing the credit risk posed to BNZ by these highly geared customers.

. As a key trading partner, China’s economic growth is important to NZ, with export income and
business investment exposed to any sharp slowdown in the rapid pace of Chinese economic growth.
China’s high and growing debt burden presents a risk to its medium-term growth prospects. Due to
its export mix, NZ’s economy is exposed to any slowdown in China.

. The ongoing trade tensions between the US and China present additional uncertainty that poses risks
to global economic growth. There remains the possibility of further trade measures that will
negatively impact global economic growth. Although China is the primary target of US trade
measures, value chain linkages mean that other emerging markets, primarily in Asia, may also be
impacted. A number of emerging markets in East Asia are major trading partners with NZ and
accordingly a negative impact on their economies may increase the credit risk facing BNZ.

. Geopolitical risks continue to present uncertainty to the global economic outlook, with negative
impacts on consumption and business investment. These geopolitical risks include (but are not
limited to) an increasing fragmentation of, and a rise in populism in, many major democratic
economies which have led to difficulties in policy implementation, and uncertainty surrounding the
UK’s departure from the European Union which continues, with a general election scheduled prior
to the recently extended deadline, with the major parties offering differing ways forward for Brexit.

. NZ’s economic growth has slowed in 2019. The NZ tourism sector, in particular, is challenged with
capacity constraints and the potential for reduced demand for long-haul travel. Any such slowdown
could therefore have a negative impact on BNZ’s customers who are exposed to this sector, and may
give rise to increasing levels of customer defaults. A slowdown in economic growth in NZ and any
resulting increase in unemployment may negatively impact debt servicing levels, increase customer
defaults and negatively impact BNZ’s financial performance and position and its profitability.

. As a commodity exporting economy, NZ is exposed to shifts in global commodity prices that can be
sudden, sizeable and difficult to predict. Fluctuations in commodity markets can affect key economic
variables like national income tax receipts and exchange rates. Previous sharp declines in commodity
prices in NZ were driven by sub-trend global growth constraining demand, combined with increases
in commodity supply. Commodity price volatility remains substantial and given BNZ’s sizeable
exposures to commodity producing and trading businesses, this volatility poses a significant source
of credit risk to BNZ.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss from BNZ’s trading activities. BNZ may suffer losses as a result of a change in
the value of BNZ’s positions in financial instruments or their hedges due to adverse movements in market
prices. Adverse price movements impacting BNZ may occur in credit spreads, interest rates, foreign
exchange rates, and commodity and equity prices, in particular during periods of heightened market volatility
or reduced liquidity.
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Credit spread risk is the risk of BNZ’s market operations and trading activities being exposed to movements
in the value of securities and derivatives as the result of changes in the perceived credit quality of the
underlying company. Credit spread risk accumulates in BNZ’s market operations and trading activities when
it provides risk transfer services to customers seeking to buy or sell fixed income securities (such as
corporate bonds). BNZ may also be exposed to credit spread risk when holding an inventory of fixed income
securities in anticipation of customer demand or undertaking market-making activity (i.e. quoting buy and
sell prices to clients) in fixed income securities.

Interest rate risk is the risk of BNZ’s market operations and trading activities being exposed to changes in the
value of securities and derivatives as the result of changes in interest rates. BNZ’s market operations and
trading activities accumulate interest rate risk when BNZ provides interest rate hedging solutions for clients,
holds interest rate risk in anticipation of customer requirements or undertakes market-making activity in
fixed income securities or interest rate derivatives.

The occurrence of any event giving rise to a material trading loss may have a negative impact on BNZ’s
financial performance and financial position.

Balance Sheet and Liquidity Risk

Balance sheet and liquidity risk comprises key banking book structural risks of BNZ such as liquidity risk,
funding risk, interest rate risk, capital risk and foreign exchange risk.

BNZ is exposed to funding and liquidity risk

Funding risk is the risk that BNZ is unable to raise short and long-term funding to support its ongoing
operations, strategic plans and objectives. BNZ accesses domestic and global capital markets to help fund its
business, in addition to using customer deposits. Dislocation in any of these capital markets, reduced investor
interest in BNZ’s securities and/or reduced customer deposits may adversely affect BNZ’s funding and
liquidity position, increase the cost of obtaining funds or impose unfavourable terms on BNZ’s access to
funds, constrain the volume of new lending, or adversely affect BNZ’s capital position.

Liquidity risk is the risk that BNZ is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. These
obligations include the repayment of deposits on demand or at their contractual maturity, the repayment of
wholesale borrowings and loan capital as it matures, the payment of interest on borrowings and the payment
of operational expenses and taxes. BNZ must also comply with prudential and regulatory liquidity
obligations as part of NAB Group. Any significant deterioration in BNZ’s liquidity position may lead to an
increase in BNZ’s funding costs, constrain the volume of new lending or cause BNZ to breach its prudential
or regulatory liquidity obligations. This may adversely impact BNZ’s reputation and financial performance
and position.

BNZ’s capital position may be constrained by prudential requirements
Capital risk is the risk that BNZ does not hold sufficient capital and reserves to cover exposures and to
protect against unexpected losses. Capital is the cornerstone of BNZ’s financial strength. It supports BNZ’s

operations by providing a buffer to absorb unanticipated losses from its activities.

BNZ is required by its prudential obligations to hold minimum levels of capital relative to the size of its
balance sheet and its operational risk profile.

Compliance with prudential capital requirements in NZ and any further changes to these requirements may:
. Limit payment of dividends or distributions on shares and hybrid instruments.

. Require BNZ to raise more capital (in an absolute sense) or raise more capital of higher quality.
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. Restrict balance sheet growth.

Additionally, if the information or the assumptions upon which BNZ’s capital requirements are assessed
prove to be inaccurate, this may adversely impact BNZ’s operations, and financial performance and position.

A significant downgrade in BNZ'’s credit ratings may adversely impact its cost of funds and capital market
access

Credit ratings are an assessment of a borrower’s creditworthiness and may be used by market participants in
evaluating BNZ and its products, services and securities. Credit rating agencies conduct ongoing review
activities, which can result in changes to credit rating settings and outlooks for BNZ, or sovereign
jurisdictions where BNZ conducts business. Credit ratings may be affected by operational and market
factors, or changes in the credit rating agency’s rating methodologies.

A downgrade in the credit ratings or outlook of BNZ, BNZ’s securities, or the sovereign rating of one or
more of the countries in which BNZ conducts business, may increase BNZ’s cost of funds or limit access to
capital markets. This may also cause a deterioration of the liquidity position and trigger additional collateral
requirements in derivative contracts and other secured funding arrangements. A significant downgrade to
BNZ’s credit ratings relative to peers may also adversely impact BNZ’s competitive position and financial
performance and position.

BNZ’s financial performance and capital position may be adversely impacted by interest rate fluctuations

Interest rate risk is the risk to BNZ’s financial performance and capital position caused by changes in interest
rates. Factors which may affect the level of interest rate risk include all on-balance sheet and off-balance
sheet items that create an interest rate risk exposure within BNZ.

As interest rates and yield curves change over time, including negative interest rates in certain countries and,
potentially, in NZ, BNZ may be exposed to a loss in earnings and economic value due to the interest rate
profile of its balance sheet. Such exposure may arise from a mismatch between the maturity profile of BNZ’s
lending portfolio compared to its deposit portfolio (and other funding sources), as well as the extent to which
lending and deposit products can be repriced as interest rates approach zero or become negative, thereby
impacting net interest margin.

BNZ may fail to or be unable to sell down its underwriting risk

As a financial intermediary, BNZ underwrites or guarantees different types of transactions, risks and
outcomes, including the placement of listed and unlisted debt. The underwriting obligation or guarantee may
be over the pricing and placement of these securities, and BNZ may therefore be exposed to potential losses,
which may be significant, if it fails to sell down some or all of this risk to other market participants.

The value of BNZ’s banking book may be adversely impacted by foreign exchange rates

Foreign exchange and translation risk arises from the impact of currency movements on the value of BNZ’s
cash flows, profits and losses and assets and liabilities due to participation in global financial markets and
international operations.

BNZ’s financial statements are prepared and presented in New Zealand dollars, and any adverse fluctuations
in the New Zealand dollar against other currencies in which BNZ invests or transacts and generates profits
(or incurs losses) may adversely impact its financial performance and position.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems
or external events. This includes legal risk, but excludes strategic and reputation risk.
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Disruption to technology may adversely impact BNZ’s reputation and operations

Most of BNZ’s operations depend on technology, and therefore the reliability and security of BNZ’s
information technology systems and infrastructure are essential to the effective operation of its business and
consequently to its financial performance and position. The reliability of technology may be impacted by the
complex technology environment, failure to keep technology systems up-to-date, an inability to restore or
recover systems in acceptable timeframes, or a physical or cyber-attack.

The rapid evolution of technology in the financial services industry and the increased expectation of
customers for internet and mobile services on demand expose BNZ to new operational challenges.

Any disruption to BNZ’s technology (including disruption to the technology systems of BNZ’s external
providers) may be wholly or partially beyond BNZ’s control and may result in operational disruption;
regulatory enforcement actions; customer redress; litigation; financial losses; theft or loss of customer data;
loss of market share; loss of property or information; or may adversely impact the speed and agility in the
delivery of change and innovation.

In addition, any such disruption may adversely affect BNZ’s reputation including the view of regulators or
ratings agencies, which may result in loss of customers, ratings downgrades and regulatory censure or
penalties. Social media commentary may further exacerbate such adverse outcomes for BNZ and negatively
impact BNZ’s reputation.

Privacy, security and data breaches may adversely impact BNZ’s reputation and operations

BNZ processes, stores and transmits large amounts of personal and confidential information through its
technology systems and networks. Threats to information security are constantly evolving and techniques
used to perpetrate cyber-attacks are increasingly sophisticated.

BNZ may not be able to anticipate a security threat, or be able to implement effective measures to prevent or
minimise the resulting damage. As with other business activities, BNZ uses select external providers (in NZ
and overseas) to store confidential data and to develop and provide its technology services, including the
increasing use of cloud infrastructure.

A breach of the security at any of these external providers or within BNZ may be wholly or partially beyond
the control of BNZ and may result in theft or loss of customer data, a breach of privacy laws and subsequent
regulatory enforcement actions, customer redress, litigation, or financial losses. This may adversely impact
BNZ’s financial performance and position.

In addition, any such breach may adversely affect BNZ’s reputation, including the view of regulators or
ratings agencies, which may result in loss of customers, ratings downgrades and regulatory censure or
penalties. Social media commentary may further exacerbate such adverse outcomes for BNZ and negatively
impact BNZ’s reputation.

Deficient policies, processes, infrastructure and models give rise to a significant risk to BNZ'’s operations

BNZ is reliant on its policies, processes and supporting infrastructure functioning as designed, along with
third parties appropriately managing their own operational risk and delivering services to BNZ as required. A
failure in the design or operation of these policies, processes and infrastructure, failure of BNZ to manage
external service providers, or the disablement of a supporting system all pose a significant risk to BNZ’s
operations and consequently its financial performance and reputation. Reputational damage may adversely
impact BNZ’s ability to attract and retain customers or employees in the short and long-term and the ability
to pursue new business opportunities. Reputational damage may also result in a higher risk premium being
applied to BNZ, and impact the cost of funding BNZ’s operations or its financial condition. Further,
reputational damage may result in regulators requiring BNZ to hold additional capital, pay fines or incur
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additional costs, including costs to undertake remedial action. These impacts may affect the viability of some
or all of BNZ’s business activities.

Models are used extensively in the conduct of BNZ’s business, for example, in calculating capital
requirements and measuring and stressing exposures. If the models used prove to be inadequate or are based
on incorrect or invalid assumptions, judgements or inputs, this may adversely affect BNZ’s financial
performance and position.

BNZ is exposed to the risk of human error

BNZ’s business, including the internal processes and systems that assist in business decisions, relies on
inputs from its employees, agents and third party vendors. BNZ is exposed to operational risk due to process
or human errors, including incorrect or incomplete data capture and records maintenance, incorrect or
incomplete documentation to support activities, or inadequate design of processes or controls. BNZ uses
select external providers (in NZ and overseas) to provide services to BNZ and is exposed to similar risks
arising from such failures in the operating environment of its external providers. The materialisation of any
of these risks could lead to direct financial loss, loss of customer, employee or commercially sensitive data,
regulatory penalties and reputational damage.

BNZ may not be able to attract and retain suitable personnel

BNZ is dependent on its ability to attract and retain key executives, employees and Board members with a
deep understanding of banking and technology, who are qualified to execute BNZ’s strategy, as well as the
technology transformation BNZ is undertaking to meet the changing needs of its customers. Weaknesses in
employment practices, including diversity, discrimination and workplace health and safety, are sources of
operational risk that can impact BNZ’s ability to attract and retain qualified personnel with the requisite
knowledge, skills and capability.

BNZ’s capacity to attract and retain key personnel is dependent on its ability to design and implement
effective remuneration structures. This process may be constrained by regulatory requirements (particularly
in the highly regulated financial services sector).

The unexpected loss of key resources or the inability to attract personnel with suitable experience may
adversely impact BNZ’s ability to operate effectively and efficiently, or to meet BNZ’s strategic objectives.

External events may adversely impact BNZ'’s operations

Operational risk can arise from external events such as natural disasters, biological hazards or acts of
terrorism.

In addition, BNZ has branches and office buildings in Christchurch and Wellington in NZ, which have
experienced significant earthquakes and aftershocks in recent years and which may be exposed to the risk of
future earthquakes.

Given BNZ’s physical presence in the central business districts of major cities in NZ, it may also be exposed
to the risk of a terrorist attack.

External events such as natural disasters, biological hazards and acts of terrorism may cause property
damage and business disruption, which may adversely impact BNZ’s financial performance. In addition, if
BNZ is unable to manage the impacts of such external events, it may lead to reputational damage and
compromise BNZ’s ability to provide a safe workplace for its personnel.

Compliance Risk
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Compliance risk is the risk of failing to understand and comply with relevant laws, regulations, licence
conditions, supervisory requirements, self-regulatory industry codes of conduct and voluntary initiatives.

BNZ may be involved in a breach or alleged breach of laws governing bribery, corruption and financial
crime

Supervision, regulation and enforcement in relation to anti-bribery and corruption, AML and countering
financing of terrorism laws (CFT) and trade sanctions have increased. BNZ has reported a number of
potential compliance issues to the RBNZ and has responded to a number of requests from the RBNZ
requiring the production of documents and information. BNZ is currently investigating and remediating a
number of potential AML/CFT compliance issues. The potential outcome and total costs associated with the
investigation and remediation process remain uncertain. A negative outcome to any investigation or
remediation process may adversely impact BNZ’s reputation and its business, financial position and results
of operations. Further, given the large volume of transactions that BNZ processes, the risk of undetected
failure of internal AML/CFT controls, or the ineffective implementation or remediation of compliance
issues, could result in a significant number of breaches of AML/CFT obligations and significant monetary
penalties for BNZ.

Refer to ‘Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements — Note 29 — Contingent Liabilities and
Other Commitments’ on page 49 of the 2019 Disclosure Statement under the heading ‘Other contingent
liabilities’, which is incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular, for more information.

Ensuring compliance with laws and regulations that apply to BNZ is complex and costly
BNZ is highly regulated across the jurisdictions in which it conducts business.

Ensuring compliance with all applicable laws is complex. There is a risk BNZ will be unable to implement
the processes and controls required by relevant laws and regulations in a timely manner or that BNZ’s
internal controls will prove to be inadequate or ineffective in ensuring compliance. Any failure to comply
with relevant laws and regulations may have a negative impact on BNZ’s reputation and financial
performance and position and may give rise to representative actions, regulatory enforcement or litigation.

In addition, there is significant cost associated with the systems, processes and personnel required to ensure
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Such costs may negatively impact BNZ’s financial
performance and position.

BNZ may be exposed to losses if critical accounting judgements and estimates are subsequently found to be
incorrect

Preparation of BNZ’s financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions and to
exercise judgement in applying relevant accounting policies, each of which may directly impact the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. A higher degree of judgement is required for the
estimates used in the calculation of provisions (including for customer-related remediation), the valuation of
goodwill and intangible assets, and the fair value of financial instruments. Changes in the methodology or
assumptions on which the assessment of goodwill and intangible balances is based, together with expected
changes in future cash flows (including changes flowing from current and potential regulatory reforms),
could result in the potential write-off of a part or all of that goodwill or intangible balances.

If the judgements, estimates and assumptions used by BNZ in preparing financial statements are
subsequently found to be incorrect, there could be a significant loss to BNZ beyond that anticipated or

provided for, which may adversely impact BNZ’s reputation, and financial performance and position.

BNZ may be exposed to litigation and contingent liabilities
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BNZ may be involved from time to time in legal proceedings arising from the conduct of its business. The
aggregate potential liability and costs in respect thereof cannot be estimated with any certainty.

Where appropriate, provisions are held for conduct and litigation matters based on a number of assumptions
derived from a combination of past experience, forecasts, industry comparison and the exercise of subjective
judgement based on (where appropriate) external professional advice. As with other accounting judgements,
risks and uncertainties remain in relation to these assumptions and the ultimate costs of redress to BNZ.
There is inherent uncertainty regarding the possible outcome of any court proceedings involving BNZ. It is
also possible that representative actions, regulatory investigations or the imposition of new licence
conditions could arise in relation to these matters or other matters of which BNZ is not yet aware.

A negative outcome to investigations or litigation involving BNZ may divert management time from
operations and adversely impact BNZ’s reputation, and financial performance and position. Refer to ‘Notes
to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements — Note 29 — Contingent Liabilities and Other
Commitments’ on page 49 of the 2019 Disclosure Statement, under the heading ‘Other contingent liabilities’,
which is incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular, for details in relation to BNZ’s contingent
liabilities.

Conduct Risk

Conduct risk is the risk of negative outcomes arising as a result of behaviour or actions of BNZ, or those
acting on behalf of BNZ, that lead to unfair customer, employee, community or other stakeholder outcomes.

BNZ is heavily reliant on its employees, contractors and external suppliers acting in an appropriate and
ethical way

Organisational culture can greatly influence individual and group behaviours which can expose an
organisation and lead to unfair outcomes. The behaviours that could expose BNZ to conduct risk include:

. Selling, or unduly influencing customers to purchase, products or services that do not meet their
needs.

. Being a party to fraud.

. Non-adherence to applicable requirements or providing financial advice which is not appropriate or

in the customers’ interests.
. Delays in appropriately escalating regulatory issues.
. Failure to resolve issues and remediate customers in a timely manner.

If BNZ’s conduct related controls were to fail significantly, be set inappropriately, or not meet legal,
regulatory or community expectations, then BNZ may be exposed to:

. Increased costs of compliance, fines, additional capital requirements, public censure, litigation,
settlements and restitution to customers.

. Increased supervision, oversight or enforcement by regulators or other stakeholders.
. Unenforceability of contracts such as loans, guarantees and other security documents.
. Enforced suspension of operations, amendments to licence conditions or loss of licence to operate all

or part of BNZ’s businesses.

. Other enforcement or administrative action or agreements, including legal proceedings.
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A failure of BNZ’s conduct controls to accurately reflect relevant legal, regulatory or community
expectations may adversely impact BNZ’s reputation, financial performance and position, profitability,
operations and returns to investors.

Regulatory Risk

Regulatory risk is the risk of failing to identify or appropriately respond to changes to the regulatory
environment or of damaging BNZ’s standing with its regulators as a result of BNZ not meeting regulatory
expectations.

Extensive regulatory change poses a significant risk to BNZ

Globally, the financial services and banking industries are subject to a significant and increasing number of
regulatory reviews and political scrutiny, including in NZ. Changes to laws and regulations or their
interpretation and application can be unpredictable, are beyond BNZ’s control, and may not be harmonised
across the jurisdictions in which BNZ conducts business.

Regulatory change may result in significant capital and compliance costs, changes to corporate structure and
increasing demands on management, employees and information technology systems. This may also impact
the viability of BNZ’s participation in certain markets, or give rise to the need to divest a part of BNZ’s
business.

The NZ Government and its agencies, including the RBNZ and the FMA have supervisory oversight of
BNZ, as does APRA, indirectly through its supervisory oversight of NAB. BNZ expects a continued increase
in regulatory focus on capital and liquidity requirements, macro-prudential tools, customer outcomes and
other aspects of its business that may impose increased regulatory burdens. BNZ’s failure to comply with
applicable laws, regulations or codes of practice could result in the imposition of sanctions by agencies or
compensatory action by affected persons, and could damage BNZ’s reputation and financial position.

BNZ is a registered bank under the Reserve Bank of New Zealand Act 1989 (New Zealand) (RBNZ Act)
and supervised by the RBNZ. BNZ is subject to conditions of registration imposed by the RBNZ
(Conditions of Registration). The Conditions of Registration may be changed at any time and any changes
may be beyond BNZ’s control. If the RBNZ concluded that BNZ did not satisfy the Conditions of
Registration, sanctions could be imposed on BNZ. These sanctions could include disclosure of the breach,
increases in required levels of capital, fines, additional limitations on the conduct of BNZ’s business and, in
the case of a material breach or breaches, cancellation of BNZ’s registration as a bank or a recommendation
that BNZ be placed under statutory management. In addition, the RBNZ could require BNZ to take
additional steps and incur additional expense to satisfy the Conditions of Registration.

Reviews and regulatory reforms currently relevant to BNZ which present a potential regulatory risk include:

. The FMA and RBNZ have undertaken a review of conduct and culture in the financial services
industry. Alongside industry-wide recommendations released as a result of the review, further
specific findings were provided to individual NZ banks (including BNZ) in November 2018. The
review has led to a NZ Government announcement in September 2019 that it will introduce
legislation to Parliament to create an oversight regime for regulating conduct in the banking and
insurance sectors by the end of 2019.

. The FMA and RBNZ have also undertaken a review of life insurance providers in NZ, releasing
their thematic report in January 2019 and insurer specific reports in February 2019. BNZ distributes
insurance products, including those manufactured by BNZ Life Insurance Limited which provided
its response to the FMA and RBNZ review in June 2019. The proposed new conduct legislation
described above will also cover insurers and is likely to result in increased regulatory scrutiny of the
financial services and banking industry in NZ, which could adversely impact BNZ’s reputation,
operations, financial performance and position.
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. The RBNZ has proposed that banks deemed systemically important in NZ (including BNZ) be
required to hold Tier 1 capital amounting to 16 per cent. of RWA, consisting of a minimum Tier 1
requirement of 6 per cent. of RWA and prudential capital buffers of Common Equity Tier 1 equal to
10 per cent. of RWA over a proposed five-year staged transition period. The RBNZ is expected to
confirm final outcomes of the RBNZ capital review, including capital requirements and transition
period in December 2019. On 1 October 2019, the RBNZ published three independent international
experts' assessments of the capital review. These assessments were broadly supportive of the
direction proposed by the RBNZ. This proposal has significant implications for the level of capital
and the type of capital BNZ is required to hold, which may have associated costs. In addition, the
transition to higher capital levels may influence borrowing costs for BNZ customers.

. Phase 2 of the RBNZ Act review is a comprehensive review of the RBNZ's legislative framework.
The second round of consultation sought further feedback on several in principle decisions following
the first round of consultation including:

- Introducing a single overarching ‘financial stability’ objective.

- Combining the separate regulatory regimes for banks and non-bank deposit takers into a single
‘licensed deposit taker’ perimeter.

- Developing a formal depositor protection scheme that will protect depositors’ savings up to an
insured limit, currently proposed within a range of NZ$30,000-50,000.

- The establishment of a new governance board, which will be given statutory authority over all
RBNZ decisions (other than those reserved for the Monetary Policy Committee).

The second round of consultation also sought feedback on the RBNZ's macro prudential powers,
formulation of its balance sheet, its coordination with other government agencies and its funding and
resourcing. It questions whether the RBNZ needs greater oversight and accountability of prudential
policy from the Minister of Finance/NZ Treasury and proposes that the RBNZ's crisis management
toolkit needs overhauling. A third round of consultation for Phase 2 is expected in early 2020.

. The RBNZ has consulted on the terms under which the RBNZ would be prepared to accept NZ$
mortgage bonds (such as internal residential mortgage backed securities (RMBS) or covered bonds)
as repo-eligible collateral for the RBNZ’s lending operations in the future, and proposed a new
Residential Mortgage Obligations (RMO) standard. The RBNZ proposes to gradually phase-in
RMO to replace RMBS over a transition period of 5 years once the standard is finalised. The
outcome of this consultation may lead to higher costs associated with BNZ’s holdings of RMO
securities to support the liquid asset portfolio.

In addition, there are a number of other ongoing or proposed regulatory changes and inquiries within NZ and
globally that are relevant to BNZ such as changes to financial benchmarks; derivatives reform; payments;
data protection and privacy laws; data quality; competition inquiries; accounting and reporting requirements;
and tax reform.

The full scope, timeline and impact of current and potential inquiries and regulatory reforms such as those
mentioned above, or how they will be implemented (if at all in some cases), is not known. Depending on the
specific nature of the requirements and how they are implemented or enforced, they may have an adverse
impact on BNZ’s business, operations, structure, compliance costs or capital requirements, and ultimately its
reputation, and financial performance and position.

Regulatory investigations may expose BNZ to the risk of enforcement action

Since 2015, BNZ has been reviewing its compliance with the Credit Contracts and Consumer Finance Act
2003 (CCCFA), with a particular focus on disclosure requirements. As part of this process, in late 2018,
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BNZ provided information to the NZ Commerce Commission (Commerce Commission) in relation to
issues identified regarding the level and timing of disclosure made to certain credit and loan product
customers, and the remediation of these customers. In May 2019, the Commerce Commission informed
BNZ that it had commenced an investigation into BNZ’s compliance with particular disclosure requirements
under the CCCFA. BNZ is responding to the Commerce Commission’s request for BNZ to provide
information to support the investigation. The potential outcome of the investigation remains uncertain.

FACTORS WHICH ARE MATERIAL FOR THE PURPOSE OF ASSESSING THE MARKET
RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH NOTES ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

A range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features which
contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most common such
features, distinguishing between factors which may occur in relation to any Notes and those which might
occur in relation to certain types of Exempt Notes:

Risks applicable to all Notes

If the relevant Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, this may limit the market value of the
Notes concerned and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a manner which
achieves a similar effective return

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period when the
relevant Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise
substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption
period.

The relevant Issuer may be expected to redeem Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes when its cost of
borrowing is lower than the interest rate on those Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes. At those times,
an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as
high as the interest rate on the Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes being redeemed and may only be
able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of
other investments available at that time.

Under certain circumstances, NAB will have the right to redeem or repurchase Subordinated Notes before
their stated maturity. However, it may only do so with APRA’s approval. Noteholders should not expect
that APRA's approval will be given for any early redemption of Subordinated Notes.

If the Notes include a feature to convert the interest basis from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or vice versa,
this may affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes concerned

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes are Notes which bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate to a floating
rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. Such a feature to convert the interest basis, and any conversion of
the interest basis, may affect the secondary market in, and the market value of, the Notes as the change of
interest basis may result in a lower return for Noteholders. Where the Notes convert from a fixed rate to a
floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing
spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate
at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. Where the Notes convert from a floating rate to a
fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on those Notes and could affect the market
value of an investment in the relevant Notes.
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Holders of Notes issued in the form of global Notes and deposited with a common depositary or common
safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, a sub-custodian for the CMU or with a nominee for
DTC will have to rely on their procedures, including for transfer, payment and communications

Notes issued under the Programme will be represented on issue by one or more global Notes that may be
deposited with a common depositary or common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, a
sub-custodian for the CMU or with a nominee for DTC (each as defined under "Form of the Notes"). Except
in the circumstances described in each global Note, investors will not be entitled to receive Notes in
definitive form. Each of DTC, CMU, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and their respective direct and
indirect participants will maintain records of the beneficial interests in each global Note held through it.
While the Notes are represented by a global Note, investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests
only through the relevant clearing systems and their respective participants, and investors will have to rely
on the procedures of the relevant clearing system and of their respective participants, including for transfer,
payment and communications.

A holder of a beneficial interest in a global Note must rely on the procedures of the relevant clearing system
and its participants to receive payments under the Notes. The relevant Issuer has no responsibility or liability
for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in any global Note.

Notes which are issued at a substantial discount or premium may experience price volatility in response to
changes in market interest rates

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount (such as Zero Coupon Notes) or premium
from their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do
prices for more conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of such
securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to more conventional interest-bearing securities with
comparable maturities.

The obligations of the relevant Issuer and (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor under the
Notes are structurally subordinated to the indebtedness and other obligations, including trade payables, of
the subsidiaries of the relevant Issuer and (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor

The obligations of the relevant Issuer and (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor under the
Notes are structurally subordinated to all indebtedness and other obligations, including trade payables, of the
subsidiaries of the relevant Issuer and (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor. The effect of
this structural subordination is that, in the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution, reorganisation or
similar proceeding involving a subsidiary of the relevant Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes)
the Guarantor, the assets of the affected entity could not be used to pay holders of the relevant Notes until all
other claims against that subsidiary, including trade payables, have been fully paid.

The regulation and reform of benchmarks may adversely affect the value of Notes linked to or referencing
such benchmarks

Interest rates and indices which are deemed to be “benchmarks” (including, amongst others, LIBOR,
SONIA, EURIBOR, BBSW and BKBM, each as defined below) are the subject of recent national and
international regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective
whilst others are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause such benchmarks to perform differently
than in the past, to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such
consequence could have a material adverse effect on any Notes referencing such a benchmark.

In Australia, examples of reforms that are already effective include changes to the methodology for
calculation of the Australian Bank Bill Swap Rate (BBSW), and amendments to the Corporations Act made
by the Treasury Laws Amendment (2017 Measures No. 5) Act 2018 of Australia which, among other things,
enable ASIC to make rules relating to the generation and administration of financial benchmarks. On 6 June
2018, ASIC designated BBSW as a “significant financial benchmark” and made the ASIC Financial
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Benchmark (Administration) Rules 2018 and the ASIC Financial Benchmarks (Compelled) Rules 2018. On
27 June 2019, ASIC granted ASX Benchmarks Pty Limited a licence to administer BBSW.

In New Zealand, the current regulatory regime for the bank bill benchmark rate (BKBM) has been judged as
not sufficient to meet the EU equivalence standard under the Benchmarks Regulation. Without regulatory
reform, the use of BKBM will be restricted in the EU from 1 January 2020. To address this, the Financial
Markets (Derivatives Margin and Benchmark) Reform Amendment Act 2019 was enacted on 30 August
2019 which introduced a licensing regime for administrators of financial benchmarks. Regulations setting
out further detail of licence obligations are expected to be introduced in early 2020.

In Europe, the Benchmarks Regulation applies, subject to certain transitional provisions, to the provision of
benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark within the EU. It,
among other things, (i) requires benchmark administrators to be authorised or registered (or, if non-EU-
based, to be subject to an equivalent regime or otherwise recognised or endorsed) and (ii) prevents certain
uses by EU supervised entities of benchmarks of administrators that are not authorised or registered (or, if
non-EU based, not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed).

These reforms (including the Benchmarks Regulation) could have a material impact on any Notes linked to
or referencing a benchmark, in particular, if the methodology or other terms of the relevant benchmark are
changed in order to comply with the requirements imposed thereunder. Such changes could, among other
things, have the effect of reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate or
level of the relevant benchmark.

More broadly, any of the international or national reforms, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of
benchmarks, could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a
benchmark and complying with any such regulations or requirements.

Specifically, the sustainability of the London interbank offered rate (LIBOR) has been questioned as a result
of the absence of relevant active underlying markets and possible disincentives (including possibly as a
result of regulatory reforms) for market participants to continue contributing to such benchmarks. On 27 July
2017, and in a subsequent speech by its Chief Executive on 12 July 2018, the United Kingdom Financial
Conduct Authority (the FCA) confirmed that it will no longer persuade or compel banks to submit rates for
the calculation of the LIBOR benchmark after 2021 (the FCA Announcements). The FCA Announcements
indicated that the continuation of LIBOR on the current basis cannot and will not be guaranteed after 2021.
In addition, on 29 November 2017, the Bank of England and the FCA announced that, from January 2018, its
Working Group on Sterling Risk-Free Rates has been mandated with implementing a broad-based transition
to the Sterling Overnight Index Average (SONIA) over the next four years across sterling bond, loan and
derivative markets, so that SONIA is established as the primary sterling interest rate benchmark by the end
of 2021 (as further described under “The market continues to develop in relation to SONIA as a reference
rate” below).

Separate workstreams are also underway in Europe to reform the euro interbank offered rate (EURIBOR)
using a hybrid methodology and to provide a fallback by reference to a euro risk-free rate (based on a euro
overnight risk-free rate as adjusted by a methodology to create a term rate). On 13 September 2018, the
working group on euro risk-free rates recommended Euro Short-term Rate (ESTR) as the new risk free rate
and €STR was first published by the European Central Bank (the ECB) on 2 October 2019. In addition, on
21 January 2019, the euro risk free-rate working group published a set of guiding principles for fallback
provisions in new euro denominated cash products (including bonds). The guiding principles indicate,
among other things, that continuing to reference EURIBOR in relevant contracts may increase the risk to the
euro area financial system.

It is not possible to predict with certainty whether, and to what extent, LIBOR, EURIBOR, BBSW, BKBM
or any other benchmark will continue to be supported going forwards. This may cause LIBOR, EURIBOR,
BBSW, BKBM or any other such benchmark to perform differently than they have done in the past, and may
have other consequences which cannot be predicted. The potential transition from LIBOR to SONIA, or
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EURIBOR to €STR, or the elimination of LIBOR, EURIBOR, BBSW, BKBM or any other benchmark, or
changes in the manner of administration of any benchmark, could require an adjustment to the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes, or result in other consequences, in respect of any Notes referencing such
benchmark. Such factors may have (without limitation) the following effects on certain benchmarks: (i)
discouraging market participants from continuing to administer or contribute to a benchmark; (ii) triggering
changes in the rules or methodologies used in the benchmark and/or (iii) leading to the disappearance of the
benchmark. Any of the above changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international or
national reforms or other initiatives or investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of
and return on any Notes linked to, referencing, or otherwise dependent (in whole or in part) upon, a
benchmark.

Investors should be aware that in the case of certain Floating Rate Notes, the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes provide for certain fallback arrangements in the event that a published benchmark, including an inter-
bank offered rate (such as LIBOR or EURIBOR) or another relevant reference rate (such as BBSW or
BKBM) ceases to exist or be published or another Benchmark Event (as defined in the Terms and Conditions
of the Notes) occurs. These fallback arrangements include the possibility that the Rate of Interest could be
determined by reference to a Successor Rate or an Alternative Rate and that an Adjustment Spread may be
applied to such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate as a result of the replacement of the relevant benchmark
or screen rate (as applicable) originally specified with the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case
may be), together with the making of certain Benchmark Amendments to the Terms and Conditions of such
Notes (without the consent of the Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders, as further described under
Condition 5.5(c) “Benchmark Discontinuation—Benchmark Amendments” of the Terms and Conditions of
the Notes), which in the case of any Alternative Rate, any Adjustment Spread unless formally recommended
or provided for and any Benchmark Amendments shall be determined by the relevant Issuer (acting in good
faith and by reference to such sources as it deems appropriate, which may include consultation with an
Independent Adviser). An Adjustment Spread that is applied could be positive, negative or zero and may not
be effective in reducing or eliminating any economic prejudice to investors arising out of the replacement of
the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be). The use of
a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (including with the application of an Adjustment Spread) will still
result in any Notes referencing an Original Reference Rate performing differently (which may include
payment of a lower Rate of Interest) than they would if the Original Reference Rate were to continue to
apply in its current form. In the case of Subordinated Notes, any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate
determined in accordance with Condition 5.5 will be subject to APRA’s prior written approval. Investors
should note that APRA’s approval may not be given for any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate it considers
to have the effect of increasing the Rate of Interest contrary to applicable prudential standards. By way of
example, the prudential standards applicable to the Subordinated Notes prohibit the inclusion of any ‘step-
ups’ in interest rates or other incentives to redeem.

In certain circumstances the ultimate fallback for the purposes of calculation of interest for a particular
Interest Period may result in the Rate of Interest for the last preceding Interest Period being used. This may
result in the effective application of a fixed rate for Floating Rate Notes based on the rate which was last
observed on the Relevant Screen Page or the initial Rate of Interest applicable to such Notes on the Interest
Commencement Date. In addition, due to the uncertainty concerning the availability of any Successor Rate
or Alternative Rate, any determinations that may need to be made by the relevant Issuer and the involvement
of any Independent Adviser, the relevant fallback provisions may not operate as expected or as intended at
the relevant time.

Any such consequences could have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of and return on any
such Notes. Moreover, any of the above matters or any other significant change to the setting or existence of
any relevant rate could affect the ability of the relevant Issuer to meet its obligations under the Floating Rate
Notes or could have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and the amount payable under,
such Floating Rate Notes.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential
risks imposed by the Benchmarks Regulation or any of the international or national reforms and the possible
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application of the benchmark discontinuation provisions of the Notes in making any investment decision
with respect to any Notes referencing a benchmark.

The market continues to develop in relation to SONIA as a reference rate

Where the applicable Final Terms for a Series of Floating Rate Notes identifies that the Rate of Interest for
such Notes will be determined by reference to SONIA, the Rate of Interest will be determined on the basis of
Compounded Daily SONIA (as defined in the Terms and Conditions). Compounded Daily SONIA differs
from LIBOR in a number of material respects, including (without limitation) that Compounded Daily
SONIA is a backwards-looking, compounded, risk-free overnight rate, whereas LIBOR is expressed on the
basis of a forward-looking term and includes a risk-element based on inter-bank lending. As such, investors
should be aware that LIBOR and SONIA may behave materially differently as interest reference rates for
Notes issued under the Programme. The use of Compounded Daily SONIA as a reference rate for Eurobonds
is nascent, and is subject to change and development, both in terms of the substance of the calculation and in
the development and adoption of market infrastructure for the issuance and trading of debt securities
referencing Compounded Daily SONIA.

Accordingly, prospective investors in any Notes referencing Compounded Daily SONIA should be aware
that the market continues to develop in relation to SONIA as a reference rate in the capital markets and its
adoption as an alternative to Sterling LIBOR. For example, in the context of backwards-looking SONIA
rates, market participants and relevant working groups are, as at the date of this Offering Circular, currently
assessing the differences between compounded rates and weighted average rates, and such groups are also
exploring forward-looking ‘term’ SONIA reference rates (which seek to measure the market’s forward
expectation of an average SONIA rate over a designated term). The adoption of SONIA may also see
component inputs into swap rates or other composite rates transferring from LIBOR or another reference rate
to SONIA.

The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of SONIA that differs significantly from
that set out in the Terms and Conditions as applicable to Notes referencing Compounded Daily SONIA that
are issued under this Offering Circular. Furthermore, each of the Issuers may in future issue Notes
referencing SONIA that differ materially in terms of interest determination when compared with any
previous SONIA-referenced Notes issued by it under the Programme. The nascent development of
Compounded Daily SONIA as an interest reference rate for the Eurobond markets, as well as continued
development of SONIA-based rates for such market and the market infrastructure for adopting such rates,
could result in reduced liquidity or increased volatility or could otherwise affect the market price of any
SONIA-referenced Notes issued under the Programme from time to time.

Furthermore, the Rate of Interest on Notes which reference Compounded Daily SONIA is only capable of
being determined at the end of the relevant Observation Period (as defined in Condition 5.2(b)(iii)) and
immediately prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date. It may be difficult for investors in Notes which
reference Compounded Daily SONIA to estimate reliably the amount of interest which will be payable on
such Notes, and some investors may be unable or unwilling to trade such Notes without changes to their IT
systems, both of which factors could adversely impact the liquidity of such Notes. Further, in contrast to
LIBOR-based Notes, if Notes referencing Compounded Daily SONIA become due and payable as a result of
an Event of Default under Condition 10, or are otherwise redeemed early on a date which is not an Interest
Payment Date, the final Rate of Interest payable in respect of such Notes shall only be determined
immediately prior to the date on which the Notes become due and payable.

In addition, the manner of adoption or application of SONIA reference rates in the Eurobond markets may
differ materially compared with the application and adoption of SONIA in other markets, such as the
derivatives and loan markets. Investors should carefully consider how any mismatch between the adoption of
SONIA reference rates across these markets may impact any hedging or other financial arrangements which
they may put in place in connection with any acquisition, holding or disposal of Notes referencing
Compounded Daily SONIA.
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Investors should carefully consider these matters when making their investment decision with respect to any
such Notes.

Risks applicable to Exempt Notes
(a) Risks applicable to certain types of Exempt Notes

There are particular risks associated with an investment in certain types of Exempt Notes, such as Index
Linked Notes and Dual Currency Notes. In particular, an investor might receive less interest than expected
or no interest in respect of such Notes and may lose some or all of the principal amount invested by it

The relevant Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest determined by reference to an index or
formula, to changes in the prices of securities or commodities, to movements in currency exchange rates or
to other factors (each, a Relevant Factor). In addition, the relevant Issuer may issue Notes with principal or
interest payable in one or more currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are
denominated. Potential investors should be aware that:

@) the market price of such Notes may be volatile and may be linked to factors other than the credit of
the relevant Issuer;

(i) they may receive no interest;

(iii))  payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than
expected;

(@iv) they may lose all or a substantial portion of their principal;

) a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in
interest rates, currencies or other indices;

(vi) if a Relevant Factor is applied to Notes in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or contains
some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Relevant Factor on principal or interest
payable likely will be magnified; and

(vii)  the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the
average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the Relevant
Factor, the greater the effect on yield.

The historical experience of an index or other Relevant Factor should not be viewed as an indication of the
future performance of such Relevant Factor during the term of any Notes. Accordingly, potential investors
should consult their respective financial and legal advisers about the risk entailed by an investment in any
Notes linked to a Relevant Factor and the suitability of such Notes in light of their particular circumstances.

In the case of Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark, potential investors should also refer to the risk
factor entitled “The regulation and reform of benchmarks may adversely affect the value of Notes linked to
or referencing such benchmarks” above.

Where Notes are issued on a partly paid basis, an investor who fails to pay any subsequent instalment of the
issue price could lose all of its investment

The relevant Issuer may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one instalment. Any

failure by an investor to pay any subsequent instalment of the issue price in respect of its Notes could result
in such investor losing all of its investment.
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Notes which are issued with variable interest rates or which are structured to include a multiplier or other
leverage factor are likely to have more volatile market values than more standard securities

Notes with variable interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to include multipliers or
other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features or other similar related
features, their market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do not include those
features.

Inverse Floating Rate Notes will have more volatile market values than conventional Floating Rate Notes

Inverse Floating Rate Notes have an interest rate equal to a fixed rate minus a rate based upon a reference
rate such as LIBOR. The market values of those Notes typically are more volatile than market values of
other conventional floating rate debt securities based on the same reference rate (and with otherwise
comparable terms). Inverse Floating Rate Notes are more volatile because an increase in the reference rate
not only decreases the interest rate of the Notes, but may also reflect an increase in prevailing interest rates,
which further adversely affects the market value of these Notes.

(b) Risks related to the structure of Subordinated Notes

NAB's obligations under Subordinated Notes are subordinated to its senior indebtedness, the incurrence of
which is not restricted by the terms of the Subordinated Notes

NAB's obligations under Subordinated Notes will be unsecured and subordinated and will rank junior in
priority of payment to the claims of Senior Creditors as defined in Condition 3.2, pari passu among
themselves, pari passu with Equal Ranking Instruments as defined in Condition 3.2 and ahead of Junior
Ranking Instruments as defined in Condition 3.2. As a result, although Subordinated Notes may pay a higher
rate of interest than comparable Notes which are not subordinated, there is a risk that an investor in
Subordinated Notes will lose all or some of its investment should NAB become insolvent. Potential investors
in Subordinated Notes should understand that the Subordinated Notes will rank equally with the U.S.$250
million undated subordinated Floating Rate Notes issued by NAB on 9 October 1986 and behind instruments
issued as Lower Tier 2 Capital prior to 1 January 2013. See "General Information — Additional Disclosure in
relation to the Ranking of Subordinated Notes".

The liabilities which are preferred by Australian law to the claims of a holder in respect of a Subordinated
Note will be substantial and the terms and conditions of Subordinated Notes do not limit the amount of such
liabilities which may be incurred or assumed by NAB or its subsidiaries from time to time. Further, under
the terms of the Subordinated Notes, there is no restriction on the amount of debt that NAB may issue that
ranks senior to or pari passu with the Subordinated Notes. The issue of debt by NAB or its subsidiaries may
reduce the amount recoverable by a holder upon any Winding Up (as defined in Condition 3.2) of NAB.
NAB’s ability to make payments on a timely basis or at all on its outstanding debt may depend on the
amount and terms of NAB’s other obligations.

There are restrictions on the payment of interest, principal and other amounts on Subordinated Notes

Payment of interest, principal and other amounts in respect of Subordinated Notes is conditional upon NAB
being solvent when and immediately after such payment is made.

There are limited remedies available to holders for non-payment of amounts owing under Subordinated
Notes

If NAB fails to pay any amount of interest or principal on Subordinated Notes when due to be paid, the
Trustee may, either at its own discretion or at the direction of the requisite number of holders but subject in
each case to it being indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction, take action to recover
the amount unpaid provided that NAB may only be compelled to pay the unpaid amount to the extent that it
is, and immediately after the payment is made would remain, solvent.
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There may be a limited right to accelerate amounts owing under Subordinated Notes

The only circumstance where amounts owing under Subordinated Notes may be accelerated by the Trustee
or a requisite number of holders is, in summary, upon the making of a court order or the passing of an
effective resolution for the winding up of NAB (which is not successfully appealed or permanently stayed
within 60 days of making the order).

Investors in Subordinated Notes shall not have any right to set-off

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, a holder of a Subordinated Note shall not have any right to
set-off any amounts owing to it by NAB in connection with that Subordinated Note against any amount
owing by it to NAB in connection with the Subordinated Notes or otherwise and NAB shall not have any
right to set-off any amounts owing by it to the holder in connection with that Subordinated Note against any
amount owing by the holder to it in connection with the Subordinated Notes or otherwise.

Subordinated Notes are subject to mandatory Conversion or Write-Off in the event of the non-viability of
NAB

Under the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, Subordinated Notes are subject to mandatory Conversion into
ordinary shares in the capital of NAB (Ordinary Shares) or Write-Off if a Non-Viability Trigger Event
occurs. The applicable Final Terms will specify whether the Subordinated Notes are to be Converted upon a
Non-Viability Trigger Event (or, in certain limited circumstances, Written-Off) (Conversion Option) or are
to be Written-Off upon a Non-Viability Trigger Event (Write-Off Option). Capitalised terms defined in the
Terms and Conditions of the Notes shall have the same meanings in this risk factor unless otherwise stated.

A Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs when APRA has provided a written determination to NAB that (i)
the conversion or write-off of certain regulatory capital instruments of NAB is necessary because without the
conversion or write-off, APRA considers that NAB would become non-viable or (ii) without a public sector
injection of capital into, or equivalent support with respect to, NAB, APRA considers that NAB would
become non-viable.

On the date on which a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs (the Conversion Date), where the requirements
of the determination are not satisfied by the conversion or write-off of Tier 1 Capital Instruments of NAB
which, in accordance with their terms or by operation of law, are capable of being written-off or converted in
the event of non-viability, NAB will be required:

@) if the Conversion Option applies:

(@ to Convert immediately and irrevocably all or some of the nominal amount of the
Subordinated Notes into Ordinary Shares; or

(b) alternatively, if, for any reason (including if NAB is prevented by applicable law, order or
other reason from Converting the Subordinated Notes into Ordinary Shares) Conversion has
not been effected within five Business Days (as defined in the Schedule to the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes), NAB will be required to Write-Off and immediately and
irrevocably terminate all or some of the nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes with
effect on and from the Conversion Date; or

(i1) if the Write-Off Option applies, to Write-Off and immediately and irrevocably terminate all or some
of the nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes.

For the purposes of paragraph (i) and (ii) above, the Subordinated Notes will be Converted or Written-Off
(as applicable) on an approximately proportionate basis with other Tier 2 Capital Instruments of NAB, which
in accordance with their terms or by operation of law, are capable of being written-off or converted in the
event of non-viability.
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Noteholders should note that APRA will not approve partial conversion or partial write-off in those
exceptional circumstances where a public sector injection of funds is deemed necessary. In circumstances
where APRA considers that NAB would be non-viable without a public sector injection of capital, NAB
must immediately convert or write-off all Relevant Capital Instruments. If APRA does not consider that a
public sector injection of capital is required, and APRA is satisfied that conversion or write-off of a
proportion of Relevant Capital Instruments will be sufficient to ensure that NAB does not become non-
viable, NAB must immediately convert or write-off that proportion.

The holders of Subordinated Notes issued under this Offering Circular are likely to be in a worse position in
the event of NAB becoming non-viable than holders of NAB’s term subordinated debt issued prior to
1 January 2013

It is a requirement under APRA’s prudential standards, which came into effect on 1 January 2013, that any
instruments, in order to be eligible for inclusion as regulatory capital known as Additional Tier 1 Capital and
Tier 2 Capital (including term subordinated debt), contain provisions for conversion or write-off in the event
of non-viability.

Potential investors in Subordinated Notes should understand that NAB has on issue Tier 1 Capital
Instruments and Tier 2 Capital Instruments which were issued prior to the implementation of the above
prudential requirements and which, in the event of non-viability, are not capable of being written-off or
converted in accordance with their terms or by operation of law. Accordingly, the Subordinated Notes may
be Converted or Written-Off before any such instruments (notwithstanding that claims of holders of Tier 1
Capital Instruments may, in the Winding Up (as defined in Condition 3.2) of NAB, rank junior to the claims
of the holders of Subordinated Notes). Without limiting the foregoing, the requirement for conversion or
write-off on account of non-viability does not apply to certain of NAB’s existing term subordinated debt and
accordingly the holders of Subordinated Notes issued under this Offering Circular are likely to be in a worse
position in the event of NAB becoming non-viable than holders of such existing term subordinated debt of
NAB.

The circumstances under which APRA would consider NAB non-viable are uncertain

APRA’s prudential standards do not define non-viability and APRA has not provided specific guidance on
how it would determine non-viability. Non-viability could be expected to include a serious impairment of
NAB’s financial position. However, it is possible that APRA’s view of non-viability may not be confined to
solvency or capital measures and APRA’s position on these matters may change over time. APRA has
indicated that non-viability is likely to arise prior to the insolvency of an ADI. Non-viability may be
significantly impacted by a number of factors, including factors which impact the business, operation and
financial condition of NAB, such as systemic and non-systemic macro-economic, environmental and
operational factors.

A Non-Viability Trigger Event could occur at any time

A Non-Viability Trigger Event could occur on dates not previously contemplated by investors or which may
be unfavourable in light of the prevailing market conditions or investors’ individual circumstances or timing
preferences.

Investors may suffer adverse consequences if Subordinated Notes are Converted into Ordinary Shares as a
result of a Non-Viability Trigger Event

Potential investors in Subordinated Notes should understand that, if a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs
and Subordinated Notes are Converted into Ordinary Shares, investors are obliged to accept the Ordinary
Shares or a cash amount pursuant to Condition 10A.9(e)(ii) even if they do not consider Ordinary Shares (or
cash) to be an appropriate investment for them at the time and despite any change in the financial position of
NAB since the issue of the Subordinated Notes or any disruption to the market for those shares or to capital
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markets generally. Further, investors have no right to elect to have Subordinated Notes Written-Off instead
of Converted.

Potential investors in Subordinated Notes should also consider the additional issues outlined below, which
may adversely impact them in the event of Conversion.

The number of Ordinary Shares that a holder will receive on Conversion is calculated in accordance
with a formula which provides for a calculation based on a discounted volume weighted average
price (VWAP) over five Business Days (as defined in the Schedule to the Terms and Conditions of
the Notes) (or other period specified in the applicable Final Terms) but cannot be greater than a
maximum conversion number based on 20 per cent. of the VWAP during the period of 20 Business
Days (as defined in the Schedule to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) (or other period
specified in the applicable Final Terms) preceding the issue date of the Relevant Subordinated Notes
(as defined in the Schedule to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) (the Issue Date VWAP). For
more information on the conversion mechanics see Condition 10A and the Schedule to the Terms
and Conditions of the Notes.

The Issue Date VW AP is adjusted for only limited corporate actions of NAB, including bonus issues
and divisions. Accordingly, a holder of Subordinated Notes may receive Ordinary Shares on
Conversion worth significantly less than the nominal amount of the holder’s Subordinated Notes.

The Ordinary Shares may not be able to be sold at prices representing the VWAP used to determine
the number of Ordinary Shares to be issued, or at all. In particular, the VWAP will be based wholly
or partly on trading days which occurred before the Non-Viability Trigger Event.

The calculation for the number of Ordinary Shares that a holder may receive upon a Conversion of
Subordinated Notes relies upon a conversion of Australian dollar amounts (being the currency in
which the Ordinary Shares are denominated and are quoted on the Australian Securities Exchange
(the ASX)). If the Subordinated Notes are denominated in a Specified Currency other than
Australian dollars, there are risks that the exchange rate between Australian dollars and the Specified
Currency in which the Subordinated Notes are denominated may be subject to material changes, and
the imposition or modification of exchange controls by the applicable governments, which may also
affect exchange rates. In recent years, exchange rates between certain currencies, including (but not
limited to) the exchange rate between the Australian dollar and U.S. dollar, have been highly
volatile. Volatility between these currencies or with other currencies may occur in the future, though
fluctuations in exchange rates in the past are not necessarily indicative of fluctuations that may occur
in the future. Depending upon the exchange rates prevailing around the time that a Non-Viability
Trigger Event occurs, the number of Ordinary Shares that a holder of Subordinated Notes actually
receives upon a Conversion relating to a particular Non-Viability Trigger Event may be significantly
less than the number of Ordinary Shares the holder may have received had the Conversion taken
place on a different date or that the holder otherwise expected to receive. Prospective investors in
Subordinated Notes could lose a substantial portion of their investment in these circumstances. No
interest or other compensation is payable in the event of a loss by an investor due to foreign currency
conversions. See risk factor entitled “Depreciation of the Australian dollar against the Specified
Currency of the Subordinated Notes may make it more likely that the maximum conversion number
will apply” for more detail on the risks associated with changes to exchange rates between
Australian dollars and the Specified Currency.

To enable NAB to issue Ordinary Shares to a holder of Subordinated Notes on Conversion, investors
need to have appropriate securities accounts in Australia for the receipt of Ordinary Shares and to
provide to NAB, no later than the Conversion Date, their name and address and certain security
holder account and other details. Holders of Subordinated Notes should understand that a failure to
provide this information to NAB on time, or where the holder is a Foreign Holder (as defined in
Condition 10A.9) or notifies NAB that it does not wish to receive Ordinary Shares in connection
with a Conversion, or the requirement to make a FATCA Withholding (as defined in Condition
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10A.16) in respect of such Ordinary Shares, may result in NAB issuing the Ordinary Shares to a
nominee. The nominee may then sell the Ordinary Shares received on Conversion, paying the net
proceeds (if any) to the holders. The nominee will have no duty or obligation to seek a fair market
price, or to engage in an arm’s length transaction in such sale. NAB and the nominee give no
assurance as to whether a sale will be achieved or the price at which it may be achieved and each has
no liability to holders of Subordinated Notes for any loss suffered as a result of the sale of Ordinary
Shares. In this situation, holders of Subordinated Notes will have no further rights against NAB in
relation to the Conversion.

e There may be no market in Ordinary Shares received on Conversion and holders may not be able to
sell the Ordinary Shares at a price equal to the value of their investment and, as a result, may suffer
loss. The sale of Ordinary Shares in NAB may also be restricted by applicable Australian law,
including restrictions under the Corporations Act on the sale of Ordinary Shares within 12 months of
their issue (except where certain exemptions apply) on account of the Subordinated Notes and the
Ordinary Shares being issued without disclosure by NAB as required by the Corporations Act. The
restrictions may apply to sales by any nominee for holders as well as sales by holders and, by
restricting sales, holders may suffer loss. Holders of Subordinated Notes agree under the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes not to trade Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion (except where relevant
exemptions apply), until NAB has taken all actions required under the Corporations Act, other
applicable laws and the listing rules of the ASX (ASX Listing Rules) for the Ordinary Shares to be
freely tradeable without further disclosure or other action.

e Potential investors in Subordinated Notes should also understand that if NAB is required to Convert
a nominal amount of Subordinated Notes but, for any reason (including if NAB is prevented from
doing so by applicable law, court order, government action) the Conversion is not effected within
five Business Days (as defined in the Schedule to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) after the
Conversion Date, the Conversion will not occur and the rights of holders in relation to those
Subordinated Notes will be Written-Off and immediately and irrevocably terminated. Such holders
will have no recourse to NAB if NAB fails to issue Ordinary Shares in respect of any Subordinated
Notes, or portions thereof. In this situation also, holders will lose some or all of the value of their
investment and will not receive any compensation.

o The rules and regulations of ASX in certain circumstances limit NAB’s ability, without shareholder
approval, to issue Ordinary Shares and other equity securities (which may include convertible notes)
without the approval of holders of Ordinary Shares. If the issue or Conversion of Subordinated
Notes would contravene that limit, then NAB may be prevented from Converting Subordinated
Notes and such Subordinated Notes may be required to be Written-Off.

e As described further under “Description of NAB — Major Shareholders™ on page 188 of this Offering
Circular, there are provisions of Australian law that are relevant to the ability of any person to
acquire interests in NAB beyond the limits prescribed by those laws. These provisions could apply
to the Conversion of Subordinated Notes into Ordinary Shares and, in some circumstances, could
apply to the acquisition of Subordinated Notes.

e Potential investors in Subordinated Notes should take care to ensure that by acquiring any
Subordinated Notes which provide for such Subordinated Notes to be Converted to Ordinary Shares
as provided in Condition 10A (taking into account any Ordinary Shares into which they may
Convert), such holders do not breach any applicable restrictions on the ownership of interests in
NAB. Without limiting this, if Conversion of Subordinated Notes into Ordinary Shares (whether in
the hands of the Noteholder or a nominee) would breach those restrictions, NAB may be prevented
from Converting such Subordinated Notes and, where Conversion is required under Condition 10A,
such Subordinated Notes may be required to be Written-Off.
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Holders of Subordinated Notes will lose some or all of the value of their investment and will not receive any
compensation if their Subordinated Notes are Written-Off

If Subordinated Notes are Written-Off, holders of such Subordinated Notes will lose some or all of the value
of their investment and will not receive any compensation. The rights of the holders of such Subordinated
Notes or portions thereof (including rights to payment of interest with respect to such principal amount, both
in the future or as accrued but unpaid) will be immediately and irrevocably terminated for no consideration
in respect of such amount Written-Off and holders of such Subordinated Notes may receive no consideration
for their investment. Noteholders have no right to elect to have Subordinated Notes Converted instead of
being Written-Off.

Depreciation of the Australian dollar against the Specified Currency of the Subordinated Notes may make it
more likely that the maximum conversion number will apply

As the maximum conversion number is calculated based on the market price of Ordinary Shares and the
exchange rate in respect of the Australian dollar and the Specified Currency in the 20 Business Days (as
defined in the Schedule to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) (or other period specified in the applicable
Final Terms) preceding the issue date of the relevant Subordinated Notes, any depreciation of the Australian
dollar against the Specified Currency by the time that the VWAP is calculated for the purpose of determining
the Conversion Number (as defined in the Schedule to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) may make it
more likely that the maximum conversion number will apply (especially if accompanied by a deterioration in
the market price of Ordinary Shares at the time of a Non-Viability Trigger Event). See the risk factor entitled
“Investors may suffer adverse consequences if Subordinated Notes are Converted into Ordinary Shares as a
result of a Non-Viability Trigger Event” for more detail about the maximum conversion number.

Further, the realisable value in the Specified Currency of Ordinary Shares issued, or the proceeds from any
sale of such Ordinary Shares, following a Non-Viability Trigger Event could be substantially lower than that
implied by the exchange rate in respect of the Australian dollar and the Specified Currency at the time of a
Non-Viability Trigger Event.

Risks related to Notes generally
Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Notes generally:

Noteholders’ ability to enforce certain rights in connection with the Notes may be limited or affected by
APRA

APRA has extensive powers to intervene in the operations of NAB, including a power to direct NAB to
conduct or not to conduct certain activities or transactions, or not to make payments in certain circumstances.
In addition, under the Banking Act 1959 of Australia (the Banking Act), APRA may appoint a Banking Act
statutory manager to an ADI (of which NAB is one) in certain circumstances, including where APRA
considers that the ADI may become unable to meet its obligations or may suspend payment. Under section
15C of the Banking Act, a party to a contract with an ADI may not deny any obligations under that contract,
accelerate any debt under that contract, close out any transaction relating to that contract or enforce any
security under that contract, on the grounds that a Banking Act statutory manager is in control of the ADI’s
business. Accordingly, this may prevent Noteholders from accelerating repayment of Notes on the grounds
that a Banking Act statutory manager has been appointed. Noteholders may also be subject to similar
restrictions on enforcement if APRA otherwise intervenes in the conduct of the ADI’s business, including by
requiring a compulsory transfer of the ADI’s business. Further, an obligation relating to the issue of
Ordinary Shares by NAB on Conversion of Subordinated Notes may be cancelled, and any such Ordinary
Shares or rights attaching to them may be varied or cancelled by a Banking Act statutory manager under
section 14AA of the Banking Act, notwithstanding the constitution of NAB, the Corporations Act, the terms
of any contract or arrangement to which NAB is party or the listing rules of any financial market in whose
official list NAB is included.
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On 5 March 2018, the Financial Sector Legislation Amendment (Crisis Resolution Powers and Other
Measures) Act 2018 of Australia (the Crisis Management Act) came into effect. The Crisis Management
Act amended the Banking Act (among other statutes applicable to financial institutions in Australia) and was
intended to enhance certain of APRA’s powers. Specifically, the Crisis Management Act enhanced APRA’s
powers to facilitate the orderly resolution of the entities it regulates (and their subsidiaries) in times of
distress. Additional powers given to APRA under the Crisis Management Act which could impact the NAB
Group and potentially the position of Noteholders, include greater oversight, management and directions
powers in relation to NAB and the NAB Group entities which were previously not regulated by APRA,
increased statutory management powers over regulated entities within the NAB Group and changes which
are designed to give statutory recognition to the conversion or write-off of regulatory capital instruments (the
Statutory Conversion and Write-Off Provisions).

The Statutory Conversion and Write-Off Provisions apply in relation to regulatory capital instruments issued
by certain financial sector entities (including ADIs, of which NAB is one) that contain provisions for
conversion or write-off for the purposes of APRA’s prudential standards. Where the Statutory Conversion
and Write-Off Provisions apply to an instrument, that instrument may be converted in accordance with its
terms. This is so despite any law (other than specified laws, currently those relating to the ability of a person
to acquire interests in an Australian corporation or financial sector entity), the constitution of the issuer, any
contract or arrangement to which the issuer is a party, and any listing rules, operating rules or clearing
settlement rules applicable to the instrument. In addition, the Banking Act includes a moratorium on the
taking of certain actions on grounds relating to the operation of the Statutory Conversion and Write-Off
Provisions.

Notes issued under the Programme are not deposit liabilities of NAB

Division 2AA of Part II of the Banking Act sets out arrangements for the protection of protected account
holders of an insolvent ADI under the Financial Claims Scheme. Pursuant to the Financial Claims Scheme a
person who holds a protected account with a net credit balance at an ADI which APRA has applied to be
wound up or whose business is under the control of a Banking Act statutory manager and which has been
declared by the responsible Australian Government Minister to be covered by the Financial Claims Scheme
will be entitled to receive payment from APRA in respect of that balance and certain accrued but uncredited
interest, subject to various adjustments and preconditions (including a maximum payment entitlement of
A$250,000 per customer). The rights of account-holders with protected accounts will be reduced to the
extent protected under the Financial Claims Scheme and, to the extent of that reduction, will become rights
of APRA.

A protected account is, subject to certain conditions, an account kept with an ADI and recorded in
Australian currency:

@) where the ADI is required to pay the account-holder, on demand or at an agreed time, the net credit
balance of the account; or

(ii) otherwise prescribed by regulation.

The Banking Regulation 2016 of Australia prescribes protected accounts for the purposes of the Banking Act
and also formally excludes foreign branches of Australian ADIs from the coverage of the Financial Claims
Scheme.

Notes issued under the Programme are not deposit liabilities of NAB, are not protected accounts for
the purposes of the depositor protection provisions in Division 2 of Part II of the Banking Act or of the
Financial Claims Scheme established under Division 2AA of Part II of the Banking Act and are not
guaranteed or insured by any government, government agency or compensation scheme of the
Commonwealth of Australia, Her Majesty the Queen in right of New Zealand or any other
jurisdiction.
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The conditions of the Notes contain provisions which may permit their modification (including for principal
and interest) with the consent of a defined majority of investors and confer significant discretions on the
Trustee which may be exercised without the consent of the Noteholders and without regard to the individual
interests of particular Noteholders

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters
affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders
including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a
manner contrary to the majority.

The conditions of the Notes also provide that the Trustee may, without the consent of Noteholders and
without regard to the interests of particular Noteholders, agree to (i) any modification of, or to the waiver or
authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of the provisions of the Notes, or (ii) determine
without the consent of the Noteholders that any Event of Default or Potential Event of Default shall not be
treated as such, or (iii) the substitution of another company as principal debtor under certain Notes in place
of the relevant Issuer, in the circumstances described in Condition 15 of the conditions of the Notes. In
addition, the Trustee shall be obliged to concur with the Issuer in effecting any Benchmark Amendments in
the circumstances and as otherwise set out in Condition 5.5 without the consent of the Noteholders,
Receiptholders or Couponholders.

APRA’s prior written approval is required for any modifications which may affect the eligibility of the
Subordinated Notes as Tier 2 Capital.

Investors who hold less than the minimum Specified Denomination may be unable to sell their Notes and
may be adversely affected if definitive Notes are subsequently required to be issued

In relation to any issue of Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified
Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that such
Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination that are not integral
multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such
amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in its account with the
relevant clearing system would not be able to sell the remainder of such holding without first purchasing a
principal amount of Notes at or in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination such that its holding
amounts to a Specified Denomination. Further, a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an
amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in its account with the relevant clearing
system at the relevant time may not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive
Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes at or in excess of the minimum
Specified Denomination such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.

If such Notes in definitive form are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes which have a
denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and
difficult to trade.

The value of the Notes could be adversely affected by a change in English law or administrative practice or
other applicable laws

The conditions of the Notes (except for the subordination provisions set out in Condition 3.2, Condition 10A
and the conversion mechanisms set out in the Schedule to the Conditions (in relation to NAB)) are based on
English law in effect as at the date of this Offering Circular. The subordination provisions set out in
Condition 3.2, Condition 10A and the conversion mechanisms set out in the Schedule to the Conditions (in
relation to NAB) are based on the jurisdiction of incorporation of NAB. No assurance can be given as to the
impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or administrative practice or the laws of the
jurisdiction of incorporation of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor after the date of this Offering Circular
and any such decision or change to English law or administrative practice or the laws of the jurisdiction of
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incorporation of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor could materially adversely impact the value of any
Notes affected by it.

Risk factors specific to Notes denominated in Renminbi

Renminbi is not completely freely convertible, and there are significant restrictions on remittance of
Renminbi into and out of the PRC

As at the date of this Offering Circular, Renminbi is not completely freely convertible. The PRC government
(the PRC Government) continues to regulate conversion between Renminbi and foreign currencies despite
significant reduction over the years by the PRC Government of control over trade transactions involving
import and export of goods and services as well as other frequent routine foreign exchange transactions.
These transactions are known as current account items. While regulation in the PRC on the remittance of
Renminbi into the PRC for settlement of capital account items is developing gradually, remittance of
Renminbi by foreign investors into and out of the PRC for the purposes of capital account items, such as
capital contributions, is currently generally only permitted upon obtaining specific approvals from, or
completing specific registrations or filings with, the relevant authorities on a case-by-case basis and is
subject to a strict monitoring system.

Although starting from 1 October 2016, the Renminbi has been added to the Special Drawing Rights basket
of currencies, in addition to the U.S. dollar, euro, Japanese yen and pound Sterling, created by the
International Monetary Fund as an international reserve asset, and policies further improving accessibility to
Renminbi to settle cross-border transactions in foreign currencies were implemented by the People’s Bank of
China (the PBOC) in 2018. There is no assurance that the PRC Government will liberalise its control over
cross-border Renminbi remittances in the future or that new PRC regulations will not be promulgated in the
future which have the effect of restricting or eliminating the remittance of Renminbi into or outside the PRC.

There is only limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC, which may affect the liquidity of the Notes
and the relevant Issuer's ability to source Renminbi outside the PRC to make payments under the Notes

As a result of the restrictions by the PRC Government on cross-border Renminbi fund flows, the availability
of Renminbi outside of the PRC is limited.

While the PBOC has entered into agreements on the clearing of Renminbi business (the Settlement
Agreements) with financial institutions that have been permitted to engage in the settlement of current
account trade transactions in Renminbi in a number of financial centres and cities (the Renminbi Clearing
Banks), including but not limited to Hong Kong, the current size of Renminbi-denominated financial assets
outside the PRC is limited.

Renminbi business participating banks do not have direct Renminbi liquidity support from the PBOC. The
relevant Renminbi Clearing Banks only have access to onshore liquidity support from the PBOC for the
purpose of squaring open positions of participating banks for limited types of transactions, including open
positions resulting from conversion services for corporations relating to cross-border trade settlement, and
are not obliged to square for participating banks any open positions as a result of other foreign exchange
transactions or conversion services. In such cases, the participating banks will need to source Renminbi from
outside the PRC to square such open positions.

The offshore Renminbi market is subject to many constraints as a result of PRC laws and regulations on
foreign exchange. There is no assurance that new PRC regulations will not be promulgated or the Settlement
Arrangements will not be terminated or amended so as to have the effect of restricting availability of
Renminbi offshore. The limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC may affect the liquidity of the
Notes. To the extent the relevant Issuer is required to source Renminbi in the offshore market to service the
Notes, there is no assurance that the relevant Issuer will be able to source such Renminbi on satisfactory
terms, if at all.
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Investment in the Notes is subject to exchange rate risks

The value of Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other foreign currencies fluctuates from time to time and
is affected by changes in the PRC and international political and economic conditions and by many other
factors. In August 2015, the PBOC implemented changes to the way it calculates the midpoint against the
U.S. dollar to take into account market-maker quotes before announcing the daily midpoint. This change,
among others that may be implemented, may increase the volatility in the value of the Renminbi against
other currencies. Except in the limited circumstances stipulated in Condition 6.9 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes, all payments of interest and principal will be made with respect to Renminbi-
denominated Notes in Renminbi. As a result, the value of these Renminbi payments in U.S. dollar terms may
vary with the prevailing exchange rates in the marketplace. If the value of Renminbi depreciates against the
U.S. dollar or other applicable foreign currency between the Issue Date of the relevant Series of Notes and
when the relevant Issuer pays back the principal of such Renminbi-denominated Notes in Renminbi at
maturity, the value of a Noteholder’s investment in U.S. dollar or other applicable foreign currency terms
will have declined.

An investment in the Notes is subject to interest rate risks

The PRC Government has gradually liberalised the regulation of interest rates in recent years. Further
liberalisation may increase interest rate volatility. In addition, the interest rate for Renminbi in markets
outside the PRC may significantly deviate from the interest rate for Renminbi in the PRC as a result of
foreign exchange controls imposed by PRC law and regulations and prevailing market conditions.
Consequently, the trading price in the secondary market of Fixed Rate Notes denominated in Renminbi will
vary with fluctuations in interest rates. If a holder of the Notes tries to sell such Notes before their maturity,
they may receive an offer that is less than the amount invested.

If Renminbi is not available in certain circumstances as described in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes,
the relevant Issuer can make payments under the Renminbi-denominated Notes in U.S. dollars

There can be no assurance that access to Renminbi for the purposes of making payments under Renminbi-
denominated Notes by the relevant Issuer or generally will remain or that new PRC regulations will not be
promulgated which have the effect of restricting availability of Renminbi outside of the PRC.

Although the relevant Issuer’s primary obligation is to make all payments with respect to such Notes in
Renminbi, in the event access to Renminbi becomes restricted to the extent that, by reason of
Inconvertibility, Non-transferability or Illiquidity (each as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes), the relevant Issuer is unable to make any payment in respect of such Notes in Renminbi, the terms of
such Notes permit (i) the relevant Issuer to make payment in U.S. dollars at the prevailing spot rate of
exchange, and/or (ii) such payments to be made after the original date that, but for the occurrence of the
CNY Disruption Event (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes), would have been the date of
such payments, all as provided in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. The value of these Renminbi
payments in U.S. dollars may vary with the prevailing exchange rates in the market place.

Payments in respect of Renminbi-denominated Notes will only be made to investors in the manner specified
in such Renminbi-denominated Notes

All payments to investors in respect of Renminbi-denominated Notes will be made solely by (i) when the
Renminbi-denominated Notes are represented by global certificates deposited with a sub-custodian for
CMU, transfer to a Renminbi bank account maintained in Hong Kong in accordance with prevailing CMU
rules and procedures, (ii) when the Renminbi-denominated Notes are represented by global certificates held
with the common depositary, for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or any alternative clearing system,
transfer to a Renminbi bank account maintained in Hong Kong in accordance with prevailing Euroclear
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg rules and procedures or those of such alternative clearing system, or (iii)
for so long as the Renminbi-denominated Notes are in definitive form, transfer to a Renminbi bank account
maintained in Hong Kong in accordance with prevailing rules and regulations. Other than as described in the

0083121-0000407 ICM:33574037.13 55



Terms and Conditions of the Notes, the relevant Issuer cannot be required to make payment by any other
means (including in any other currency or in bank notes, by cheque or draft or by transfer to a bank account
in the PRC).

Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a description of material market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest
rate risk and credit risk:

An active secondary market in respect of the Notes may never be established or may be illiquid and this
would adversely affect the value at which an investor could sell its Notes

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market for the
Notes does develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily
or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed
secondary market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency
or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet
the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a
more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities.

If an investor holds Notes which are not denominated in the investor's home currency, they will be exposed
to movements in exchange rates adversely affecting the value of its holding. In addition, the imposition of
exchange controls in relation to any Notes could result in an investor not receiving payments on those Notes

The relevant Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes and the Guarantor will make any payments
under the Guarantee in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if
an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the Investor's
Currency) other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly
change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's
Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify
exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency
would decrease (i) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (ii) the Investor's Currency-
equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (iii) the Investor's Currency-equivalent market
value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that
could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the ability of the relevant Issuer to make payments in
respect of the Notes. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest
or principal.

The value of Fixed Rate Notes may be adversely affected by movements in market interest rates

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that if market interest rates subsequently increase above the
rate paid on the Fixed Rate Notes, this will adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.

Credit ratings assigned to the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) or any Notes may not reflect all
the risks associated with an investment in those Notes

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes, the relevant Issuer or
the Guarantor. The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market,
additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is
not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold any Notes in so far as such ratings do not comment as to market
price or suitability for a particular investor. There is no assurance that any rating will remain in effect for a
given period of time and any rating may be revised, suspended or withdrawn by the relevant rating agency at
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any time, if, in the judgment of such relevant rating agency, circumstances warrant. The relevant Issuer is
under no obligation to update information regarding such ratings should they change over time.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended)
(the CRA Regulation) from using credit ratings for regulatory purposes, unless such ratings are issued by a
credit rating agency established in the EU and registered under the CRA Regulation (and such registration
has not been withdrawn or suspended subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances).
Such general restriction will also apply in the case of credit ratings issued by non-EU credit rating agencies,
unless the relevant credit ratings are endorsed by an EU registered credit rating agency or the relevant non-
EU rating agency is certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or
certification, as the case may be, has not been withdrawn or suspended, subject to transitional provisions that
apply in certain circumstances). If the status of the rating agency rating the Notes changes, European
regulated investors may no longer be able to use the rating for regulatory purposes and the Notes may have a
different regulatory treatment. This may result in European regulated investors selling the Notes which may
impact the value of the Notes and any secondary market. The list of registered and certified rating agencies
published by the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) on its website in accordance with the
CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the status of the relevant rating agency included in such list,
as there may be delays between certain supervisory measures being taken against a relevant rating agency
and the publication of the updated ESMA list. Certain information with respect to the credit rating agencies
and ratings is set out in the Offering Circular, see "Documents Incorporated by Reference and Credit
Ratings".
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE AND CREDIT RATINGS

(A) Documents Incorporated by Reference

The following documents, which have previously been published or are published simultaneously with this
Offering Circular shall be incorporated in, and form part of, this Offering Circular:

(@ O
(ii)

® O
(i)

© @
(i)

NAB's Annual Financial Report for the financial year ended 30 September 2018 in its
entirety, containing the audit report and the consolidated audited financial statements of the
NAB Group and the non-consolidated audited financial statements of NAB for the financial
year ended 30 September 2018 (the 2018 NAB Annual Financial Report), which is
published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and is
available via http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10f015f94e2b0241c380dfb6db739df5e2; and

NAB's Annual Financial Report for the financial year ended 30 September 2019 in its
entirety (but excluding the section entitled "Chairman’s message" on pages 3-4 thereof),
containing the audit report and the consolidated audited financial statements of the NAB
Group and the non-consolidated audited financial statements of NAB for the financial year
ended 30 September 2019 (the 2019 NAB Annual Financial Report), which is published on
the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and is available via
http://dl.bourse. lu/dlp/106dd570366cda4684b0732d9be7569e4a;

BNZ's Disclosure Statement for the financial year ended 30 September 2018 in its entirety,
containing the consolidated audited financial statements of BNZ and its subsidiaries (the
2018 Disclosure Statement), which is published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and is available via
http://dl.bourse. lu/dlp/1018b03 1eec29840c491408bf648fa79ea; and

BNZ's Disclosure Statement for the financial year ended 30 September 2019 in its entirety,
containing the consolidated audited financial statements of BNZ and its subsidiaries (the
2019 Disclosure Statement and together with the 2018 Disclosure Statement, the
Disclosure Statements), which is published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and is available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10d95b0ff6450f489a962c¢3101148ca3fa;

BNZ-IF's Annual Report and Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 September
2018 in its entirety, containing the audited financial statements of BNZ-IF (the 2018 BNZ-
IF Annual Report), which is published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
(www.bourse.lu) and is available via
http.://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10ebfcfe859a4b427492d9b7fb7c15840f; and

BNZ-IF's Annual Report and Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 September
2019 in its entirety, containing the audited financial statements of BNZ-IF (the 2019 BNZ-
IF Annual Report), which is published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
(www.bourse.lu) and is available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/1034d4b863230b4711938¢55b0e382536¢;

(d) the statutory documents of NAB, BNZ and BNZ-IF as follows, each of which is published on the
website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu):

@

the constitution of NAB (available via
hitp://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/105d3c133f3b514f5b9f7b41 1fcf802d3Db);
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(i1) the constitution of BNZ (available via
hitp://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10fc2434e36fad4fb49c650fdef85f58ea); and

(>ii1) the constitution of BNZ-IF (available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10585ec017783544978344e95d5866d2cf); and

© for the purposes of an issue of Notes when the first tranche of Notes which is being increased was
issued under an Offering Circular with an earlier date, the Terms and Conditions of the Notes set out
on:

1) pages 87 to 133 of the Offering Circular dated 15 December 2011 (as amended by the
Supplement dated 23 November 2012) (available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/1063afa6204361436¢cb154f29b7af39c46 and
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10011c88833ca3411cbaefba?2a7c424d5, respectively);

(ii) pages 115 to 173 of the Offering Circular dated 14 December 2012 (available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/1011292bd2f2dd426793baef3f061412b2);

(iii))  pages 123 to 183 of the Offering Circular dated 16 December 2013 (available via
http://dl.bourse. lu/dlp/10605006ceaa434f688a36fab39714f5¢3);

(iv)  pages 113 to 171 of the Offering Circular dated 15 December 2014 (available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10b88ea7c6ddb34bda81ede029a0797f91);

v) pages 123 to 185 of the Offering Circular dated 19 November 2015 (available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10bfc2fea43267414abebf902220a52bfc);

(vi)  pages 122 to 181 of the Offering Circular dated 17 November 2016 (available via
http.://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/102eclal44fadcdcf7a56fee5ed8b90490);

(vii) pages 130 to 188 of the Offering Circular dated 17 November 2017 (available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/1038cdefdda2eb4466978268d6457d572); and

(viii) pages 140 to 207 of the Offering Circular dated 21 November 2018 (available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/107b16cb09881849f18923587231198cd),

shall be incorporated in, and form part of, this Offering Circular, each of which is also published on
the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).

Any documents themselves incorporated by reference in the documents incorporated by reference in this
Offering Circular will not form part of this Offering Circular.

Any non-incorporated parts of a document referred to herein are either (i) not considered by the relevant
Issuer to be relevant for investors or (ii) included elsewhere in this Offering Circular.

Any statement contained herein or in a document and/or information which is incorporated by reference
herein shall be modified or superseded for the purpose of the Offering Circular to the extent that a statement
contained in any such subsequent document and/or information which is incorporated by reference herein
modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise), provided that
such modifying or superseding statement is made by way of supplement to the Offering Circular pursuant to
Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation (in the case of PR Notes) or Article 10.2 of Part 2, Chapter I of the
rules and regulations of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (in the case of Exempt Notes).

The content of websites or URLs referred to in this Offering Circular do not form part of this Offering
Circular.
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The documents listed in (a) — (c) above contain financial information on the Issuers and the Guarantor as
described in the "Cross-Reference Table" below. Other information contained in such documents, but not
specifically set out in the tables below, is considered as additional information and is not required by the
relevant schedules of Commission Regulation (EU) No 2019/980.

Cross-Reference Table

NAB

BNZ (as an Issuer and as the

Guarantor)

BNZ-IF

Balance sheet

2019 NAB Annual Financial Report,
page 76

2018 NAB Annual Financial Report,
page 73

2019 Disclosure Statement,

page 10

2018 Disclosure Statement,

page 10

2019 BNZ-IF Annual Report,
page 3

2018 BNZ-IF Annual Report,
page 3

Income statement

2019 NAB Annual Financial Report,
page 74

2018 NAB Annual Financial Report,
page 71

2019 Disclosure Statement,

page 8

2018 Disclosure Statement,

page 8

2019 BNZ-IF Annual Report,
page 1

2018 BNZ-IF Annual Report,
page 1

Cash flow statement

2019 NAB Annual Financial Report,
page 77-78

2018 NAB Annual Financial Report,
pages 74

2019 Disclosure Statement,

pages 11-12

2018 Disclosure Statement,

pages 11-12

2019 BNZ-IF Annual Report,
pages 4-5

2018 BNZ-IF Annual Report,
pages 4-5

Accounting policies

and explanatory notes

2019 NAB Annual Financial Report,
pages 81-164

2018 NAB Annual Financial Report,
pages 77-157

2019 Disclosure Statement,

pages 13-75

2018 Disclosure Statement,

pages 13-76

2019 BNZ-IF Annual Report,
pages 6-16

2018 BNZ-IF Annual Report,
pages 6-16

Audit reports

2019 NAB Annual Financial Report,
pages 166-173

2018 NAB Annual Financial Report,
pages 159-164

2019 Disclosure Statement,
pages 76-81

2018 Disclosure Statement,
pages 77-80

2019 BNZ-IF Annual Report,
pages 17-18

2018 BNZ-IF Annual Report,
pages 17-18

Legal and arbitration 2019 NAB Annual Financial Report, 2019 Disclosure Statement, None
proceedings Note 29, at pages 145 -148 page 3
2018 NAB Annual Financial Report, 2018 Disclosure Statement, N
one
Note 29, at pages 140-142 page 3
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B) Credit Ratings

Each of the Issuers and the Programme is, as of the date of this Offering Circular, rated as follows:

NAB BNZ BNZ-IF
Issuer credit rating | S&P Global Ratings S&P Global Ratings Moody's Investors
(Long-Term / Short- | Australia Pty Ltd: Australia Pty Ltd: Service Pty Limited:
Term)

AA-/ A-1+ AA-/A-1+ Al /Prime-1

Moody's Investors Moody's Investors

Service Pty Limited: Service Pty Limited:

Aa3 /Prime-1 Al /Prime-1

Fitch Australia Pty Ltd: Fitch Australia Pty Ltd:

AA-/Fl1+ AA-/Fl+
Senior  Notes  and | S&P Global Ratings S&P Global Ratings | S&P Global Ratings
Guaranteed Senior | Australia Pty Ltd: Australia Pty Ltd: Australia Pty Ltd:
Notes with a maturity of
less than one year A-1+ A-1+ A-1+

Moody's Investors
Service Pty Limited:

Moody's Investors
Service Pty Limited:

Moody's Investors
Service Pty Limited:

Prime-1 Prime-1 Prime-1
Senior  Notes  and | S&P Global Ratings S&P Global Ratings | S&P Global Ratings
Guaranteed Senior | Australia Pty Ltd: Australia Pty Ltd: Australia Pty Ltd:
Notes with a maturity of
more than one year AA- AA- AA-

Moody's Investors
Service Pty Limited:

Moody's Investors
Service Pty Limited:

Moody's Investors
Service Pty Limited:

Aa3 Al Al
Subordinated Notes S&P Global Ratings N/A N/A

Australia Pty Ltd:

BBB+

Moody's Investors
Service Pty Limited:

Baal

Notes issued under the Programme may be unrated or rated by either of S&P Global Ratings Australia Pty
Ltd (S&P Australia) and/or Moody's Investors Service Pty Limited (Moody's Australia) or by another
independent credit rating agency. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the
same as the rating assigned to the Programme by the relevant rating agency (if applicable).
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There are credit ratings contained in certain of the documents incorporated by reference into this Offering
Circular. In the case of the 2018 NAB Annual Financial Report and the 2019 NAB Annual Financial Report,
these credit ratings are assigned by S&P Australia, Moody's Australia and Fitch Australia Pty Ltd (Fitch
Australia). In the case of BNZ’s Disclosure Statements, these credit ratings are assigned by S&P Australia,
Moody's Australia and Fitch Australia.

S&P Australia, Moody's Australia and Fitch Australia are not established in the European Union and have
not applied for registration under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended) (the CRA Regulation). The
ratings of S&P Australia, Moody's Australia and Fitch Australia have been endorsed by S&P Global Ratings
Europe Limited (S&P Europe), Moody's Investors Service Limited (Moody’s Europe) and Fitch Ratings
Limited (Fitch Europe) respectively in accordance with the CRA Regulation. Each of S&P Europe,
Moody's Europe and Fitch Europe is established in the European Union and registered under the CRA
Regulation. As such each of S&P Europe, Moody's Europe and Fitch Europe is included in the list of credit
rating agencies published by the European Securities and Markets Authority on its website at
http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-certified-CRAs in accordance with the CRA
Regulation. The European Securities Markets Authority has indicated that ratings issued in Australia, which
have been endorsed by S&P Europe, Moody's Europe or Fitch Europe may be used in the EU by the relevant
market participants.

Any credit rating in respect of any Notes or Issuer is for distribution only to persons who are not a "retail
client" within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act and are also sophisticated investors,
professional investors or other investors in respect of whom disclosure is not required under Part 6D.2 of the
Corporations Act and, in all cases, in such circumstances as may be permitted by applicable law in any
jurisdiction in which an investor may be located.
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OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety
by, the remainder of this Offering Circular and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any particular
Tranche of Notes, the applicable Final Terms.

This Overview constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 25(1) of
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980 (the Delegated Regulation).

Words and expressions defined in "Form of the Notes" and "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" shall have
the same meanings in this Overview.

Information relating to the Issuers and the Guarantor

Description of the Issuers and National Australia Bank Limited: registered in Australia with ABN 12
the Guarantor: 004 044 937 and having its registered office at Level 1, 800 Bourke
Street, Docklands, Victoria 3008, Australia.

Bank of New Zealand: incorporated as a company under the New Zealand
Companies Act 1993 with company number 428849 and having its
registered office at Level 4, 80 Queen Street, Auckland 1010, New
Zealand.

BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through its London Branch:
incorporated as a company under the New Zealand Companies Act 1993
with company number 1635202 and having its registered office at Level
4, 80 Queen Street, Auckland 1010, New Zealand, acting through its
London Branch at 88 Wood Street, London EC2V 7QQ, United
Kingdom.

Issuers’ Legal Entity Identifiers NAB: F8SB4JFBSYQFRQEH3Z21
(LEISs):
BNZ: N7TLGVZM7X4UQ66T7LT74

BNZ-IF: 549300HVMZ89HDMELW08

Business of the Issuers and the National Australia Bank Limited (ABN 12 004 044 937): NAB was

Guarantor: incorporated on 23 June 1893. The NAB Group is a financial services
organisation with more than 34,000 people, operating through a network
of almost 900 locations, with more than 573,000 shareholders and serving
over nine million customers. The majority of the NAB Group’s financial
services businesses operate in Australia and New Zealand, with branches
located in Asia, the United States and the United Kingdom.

Bank of New Zealand (in its capacity as an Issuer and the Guarantor):
BNZ is one of New Zealand's oldest banks, founded in 1861. It provides a
broad range of banking and financial products and services to retail,
business, agribusiness, corporate and institutional clients. It has been a
member of the NAB Group since 1992.

BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through its London Branch:

BNZ-IF is a subsidiary of BNZ carrying out offshore wholesale funding
requirements through the issuance of debt securities.
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Information relating to the Programme

Description: Global Medium Term Note Programme
Arranger: Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch
Dealers: BNP Paribas

Citigroup Global Markets Limited

Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited
Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch
Goldman Sachs International

HSBC Bank plc

J.P. Morgan Securities plc

Merrill Lynch International

Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc
National Australia Bank Limited

RBC Europe Limited

The Toronto-Dominion Bank

UBS AG London Branch

Wells Fargo Securities International Limited

and any other Dealers appointed in accordance with the Programme
Agreement.

Certain Restrictions: Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which
particular laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting
requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which comply
with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting
requirements from time to time (see "Subscription and Sale and Transfer
and Selling Restrictions"), including, in relation to BNZ and BNZ-IF, the
following restrictions applicable at the date of this Offering Circular.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year

Notes issued by BNZ or BNZ-IF having a maturity of less than one year
will constitute deposits for the purposes of the prohibition on accepting
deposits contained in section 19 of the United Kingdom Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 (FSMA) unless they are issued to a
limited class of professional investors and have a denomination of at least
£100,000 or its equivalent; see "Subscription and Sale and Transfer and
Selling Restrictions".

Trustee: Deutsche Trustee Company Limited
Principal Paying Agent: Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch
Registrars: Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas

Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.
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CMU Lodging Agent:

Programme Size:

Distribution:

Currencies:

Maturities:

Issue Price:

Form of Notes:

Fixed Rate Notes:

Floating Rate Notes:

Exempt Notes:
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Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch

Up to U.S.$100,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies)
outstanding at any time. The Issuers may increase the amount of the
Programme in accordance with the terms of the Programme Agreement.

Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement and, in
each case, on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis.

Subject to any applicable legal or regulatory restrictions, any currency
agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Such maturities as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the
relevant Dealer, subject to such minimum or maximum maturities as may
be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or
equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to such Issuer or
the relevant Specified Currency.

Notes may be issued on a fully-paid or, in the case of Exempt Notes, a
partly-paid basis and at an issue price which is at par or at a discount to,
or premium over, par.

The Notes will be issued in bearer or registered form as described in
"Form of the Notes". Registered Notes will not be exchangeable for
Bearer Notes and vice versa.

Fixed interest will be payable on such date or dates as may be agreed
between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer and on redemption
and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be
agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined:

1) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest rate
swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by
an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as
published by the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association, Inc., and as amended and updated as at the Issue
Date of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series); or

(ii) on the basis of the reference rate set out in the applicable Final
Terms; or

(iii) on such other basis as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer
and the relevant Dealer.

The margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed between
the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer for each Series of Floating
Rate Notes.

Floating Rate Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a minimum
interest rate or both.

The relevant Issuer may issue Exempt Notes which are Fixed Rate Notes,
Floating Rate Notes, Zero Coupon Notes, Index Linked Notes, Dual
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Zero Coupon Notes:

Benchmark Discontinuation:

Redemption:
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Currency Notes, Partly Paid Notes or Notes redeemable in one or more
instalments.

Index Linked Notes: Payments of principal in respect of Index Linked
Redemption Notes or of interest in respect of Index Linked Interest Notes
will be calculated by reference to such index and/or formula or to changes
in the prices of securities or commodities or to such other factors as the
relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree.

Dual Currency Notes: Payments (whether in respect of principal or
interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) in respect of Dual Currency
Notes will be made in such currencies, and based on such rates of
exchange, as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree.

Partly Paid Notes: The relevant Issuer may issue Notes in respect of
which the issue price is paid in separate instalments in such amounts and
on such dates as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree.

Notes redeemable in instalments: The relevant Issuer may issue Notes
which may be redeemed in separate instalments in such amounts and on
such dates as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree.

The relevant Issuer and, in the case of Notes issued by BNZ-IF, the
Guarantor may agree with any Dealer that Exempt Notes may be issued in
a form not contemplated by the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, in
which event the relevant provisions will be included in the applicable
Final Terms.

Zero Coupon Notes will be (i) offered and sold at a discount to their
nominal amount or (ii) offered and sold at their nominal amount and
redeemed at a premium to their nominal amount, and in each case will not
bear interest.

In the case of certain Floating Rate Notes, if the relevant Issuer
determines that a Benchmark Event has occurred, the relevant benchmark
or screen rate may be replaced by a Successor Rate or, if there is no
Successor Rate but the Issuer determines there is an Alternative Rate
(acting in good faith and by reference to such sources as it deems
appropriate, which may include consultation with an Independent
Adviser), such Alternative Rate. An Adjustment Spread may also be
applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may
be), together with any Benchmark Amendments (which in the case of any
Alternative Rate, any Adjustment Spread unless formally recommended
or provided for and any Benchmark Amendments shall be determined by
the relevant Issuer acting in good faith and by reference to such sources as
it deems appropriate, which may include consultation with an
Independent Adviser). For further information, see Condition 5.5. In the
case of Subordinated Notes, any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate will
be subject to APRA’s prior written approval, which may not be given for
any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as the case may be) that APRA
considers may have the effect of increasing the Rate of Interest contrary
to applicable prudential standards.

The applicable Final Terms will indicate either that the relevant Notes
cannot be redeemed prior to their stated maturity date (other than, in the
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Repayment:

Denomination of Notes:

Taxation:

Negative Pledge:
Cross Default:

Set-off:

Status of the Senior Notes and
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case of Exempt Notes, in specified instalments, if applicable or for certain
taxation reasons or following an Event of Default) or that such Notes will
be redeemable at the option of the relevant Issuer upon giving notice to
the Noteholders, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, on a date or
dates specified prior to such stated maturity and at a price or prices and on
such other terms as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the
relevant Dealer.

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each Note,
which is not a Zero Coupon Note or an Exempt Note, will be redeemed at
an amount equal to at least 100 per cent. of its nominal value on its
scheduled maturity date.

In relation to BNZ and BNZ-IF, Notes having a maturity of less than one
year may be subject to restrictions on their denomination and distribution;
see "Certain Restrictions—Notes having a maturity of less than one year"
above.

Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be agreed between the
relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer save that the minimum
denomination of each Note (other than an Exempt Note) that will be
admitted to trading on a European Economic Area exchange or offered to
the public in a Member State of the European Economic Area in
circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under the
Prospectus Regulation will be €100,000, or where it is a Note to be
admitted to trading only on a regulated market, or a specific segment of a
regulated market, to which only qualified investors (as defined in the
Prospectus Regulation) have access, €1,000 (or, if the Notes are
denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amounts in
such currency at the date of issue) or such other higher amount as may be
allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or
equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the relevant
Specified Currency; see "Certain Restrictions—Notes having a maturity
of less than one year" above.

All payments in respect of the Notes will be made without deduction for
or on account of withholding taxes unless required by law, to the extent
provided in Condition 8. In the event that any such deduction is made, the
relevant Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor (in the case of
Guaranteed Senior Notes) will, save in certain limited circumstances
provided in Conditions 6 and 8, be required to pay additional amounts to
cover the amounts so deducted.

The terms of the Notes will not contain a negative pledge.

The terms of the Notes will not contain cross default provisions.

A holder of a Subordinated Note (or any related Receipt or Coupon)
issued by NAB shall not, on any account, set-off against any amounts
owing to it in respect of such Subordinated Note, Receipt or Coupon
amounts owing by the holder thereof to NAB and NAB shall not have any
right to set-off any amounts owing by it to a holder against any amount

owing by the holder to it.

The Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes will be unsubordinated,
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direct and unsecured obligations of the relevant Issuer and will rank pari
passu with all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the
relevant Issuer (save for certain obligations preferred by mandatory
provisions of applicable law). Senior Notes issued by NAB do not
constitute deposit liabilities of NAB, are not protected accounts for the
purposes of the Banking Act and are not guaranteed or insured by any
government, government agency or compensation scheme of the
Commonwealth of Australia or any other jurisdiction or by any other

party.

The Subordinated Notes will be direct and unsecured obligations of NAB
and will be subordinated to the claims of all Senior Creditors of NAB in
right of payment with respect to the assets of NAB in the event of a
Winding Up of NAB as defined and further described in Condition 3.2
and are liable to be mandatorily Converted into Ordinary Shares or
Written-Off where this is determined by APRA to be necessary on the
grounds that NAB would otherwise become non-viable as further
described in Condition 10A. Subordinated Notes do not constitute deposit
liabilities of NAB, are not protected accounts for the purposes of the
Banking Act and are not guaranteed or insured by any government,
government agency or compensation scheme of the Commonwealth of
Australia or any other jurisdiction or by any other party.

Only Notes issued by BNZ-IF will be unconditionally and irrevocably
guaranteed by the Guarantor. The obligations of BNZ-IF and the
Guarantor under the Guaranteed Senior Notes will constitute
unsubordinated, direct and unsecured obligations of BNZ-IF and the
Guarantor and will rank pari passu with all other unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of BNZ-IF and the Guarantor (save for certain
obligations required to be preferred by law).

See pages 61 to 62 of this Offering Circular for further information on
ratings.

A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold any Notes and may
be subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time by the
relevant rating agency.

Any credit rating in respect of any Notes or any Issuer is for distribution
only to persons who are not a "retail client” within the meaning of section
761G of the Corporations Act and are also sophisticated investors,
professional investors or other investors in respect of whom disclosure is
not required under Part 6D.2 of the Corporations Act and, in all cases, in
such circumstances as may be permitted by applicable law in any
jurisdiction in which an investor may be located. Anyone who is not such
a person is not entitled to receive the Offering Circular and anyone who
receives the Offering Circular must not distribute it to any person who is
not entitled to receive it.

Application has been made to:

@) the Competent Authority to approve this Offering Circular in
connection with the issue by the Issuers of PR Notes (as defined
above) to be admitted to the official list and traded on the
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Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and on the
Professional Segment of the Regulated Market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange in accordance with the Prospectus
Regulation; and

(i1) the Luxembourg Stock Exchange to approve this Offering
Circular in connection with the issue by the Issuers of certain
Tranches of Exempt Notes (as defined above) to be admitted to
trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's Euro MTF market
(the Euro MTF Market).

The Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on
such other or additional stock exchanges or markets as may be agreed
between the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed
Senior Notes) and the relevant Dealer.

The applicable Final Terms will state whether or not the relevant Notes
are to be listed and, if so, on which stock exchange(s).

The Notes may be settled on a delivery against payment basis or a
delivery free of payment basis, as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

There are certain factors that may affect the relevant Issuer's ability to
fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the Programme or the
Guarantor's ability to fulfil its obligations under the Guarantee. These
factors are set out under "Risk Factors" and include, inter alia, the risk of
subsequent changes in the actual or perceived creditworthiness of the
relevant Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable), which may adversely
affect the market value of the Notes. In addition, there are certain factors
which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks
associated with Notes issued under the Programme, which include, inter
alia, risks related to the structure of particular types of Notes,
modifications and waivers of the terms and conditions of the Notes in
certain circumstances without the consent of all of the Noteholders,
changes in laws, taxation laws or regulations which affect the Notes, risks
related to secondary market trading of the Notes, exchange rate risks and
interest rate risks. For further particulars, please see "Risk Factors".

The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in
connection with them will be governed by, and construed in accordance
with, English law save that in the case of Notes issued by NAB,
Conditions 3.2, 10A and the conversion mechanisms set out in the
Schedule to the Conditions will be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Victoria and the Commonwealth
of Australia.

There are restrictions on the offer, sale and transfer of the Notes in the
United States, the European Economic Area (including the United
Kingdom, Austria, France, Republic of Italy and Belgium), New Zealand,
Hong Kong, Japan, Singapore, Switzerland, Canada, China, the Republic
of Korea and Australia and such other restrictions as may be required in
connection with the offering and sale of a particular Tranche of Notes; see
"Subscription and Sale and Transfer and Selling Restrictions".

Regulation S Compliance Category 1/2/3, Rule 144A, TEFRA C or

69



Restrictions: TEFRA D or TEFRA not applicable, as specified in the applicable Final
Terms.
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FORM OF THE NOTES

The Notes of each Series will be in either bearer form, with or without interest coupons attached, or
registered form, without interest coupons attached. Bearer Notes will be issued outside the United States in
reliance on Regulation S and Registered Notes will be issued both outside the United States in reliance on
the exemption from registration provided by Regulation S and within the United States in reliance on
Rule 144A.

Bearer Notes

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes will initially be issued in the form of either a temporary bearer global note (a
Temporary Bearer Global Note) or, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, a permanent bearer
global note (a Permanent Bearer Global Note and, together with the Temporary Bearer Global Note, the
Bearer Global Notes) which, in either case, will:

1) if the Bearer Global Notes are intended to be issued in new global note (NGN) form, as stated in the
applicable Final Terms, be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a
common safekeeper (the Common Safekeeper) for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (Euroclear) and
Clearstream Banking S.A. (Clearstream, Luxembourg); and

(i1) if the Bearer Global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN form, be delivered on or prior to the
original issue date of the Tranche to (A) a common depositary (the Common Depositary) for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or (B) a sub-custodian for the Central Moneymarkets Unit
Service (the CMU), operated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (the HKMA) (the CMU
Service).

It is anticipated that all Bearer Notes issued by the Issuers under the Programme will not be issued in NGN
form and will be deposited with a sub-custodian for the CMU or a common depositary for Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg. Bearer Notes issued by NAB, BNZ and/or BNZ-IF do not currently satisfy the
ECB’s Eurosystem eligibility criteria and, accordingly, cannot be recognised as eligible collateral for
Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations.

Where the global Notes issued in respect of any Tranche of Notes are in NGN form, the applicable Final
Terms will also indicate whether or not such global Notes are intended to be held in a manner which would
allow Eurosystem eligibility. Any indication that the global Notes are to be so held does not necessarily
mean that the Notes of the relevant Tranche will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any times during
their life, as such recognition depends upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria. The Common
Safekeeper for NGNs will either be Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or another entity approved by
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

While any Bearer Note is represented by a Temporary Bearer Global Note, payments of principal, interest (if
any) and any other amount payable in respect of the Notes due prior to the Exchange Date (as defined below)
will be made (against presentation of the Temporary Bearer Global Note if the Temporary Bearer Global
Note is not intended to be issued in NGN form) only to the extent that certification (in a form to be provided)
to the effect that the beneficial owners of interests in the Temporary Bearer Global Note are not U.S. persons
or persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. person, as required by U.S. Treasury regulations, has
been received by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or the CMU Lodging Agent and Euroclear
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or the CMU Lodging Agent, as applicable, has given a like
certification (based on the certification it has received) to the Principal Paying Agent.

On and after the date (the Exchange Date) which is 40 days after a Temporary Bearer Global Note is issued,

interests in such Temporary Bearer Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge) upon a request as
described therein either for (i) interests in a Permanent Bearer Global Note of the same Series or (ii) for
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definitive Bearer Notes of the same Series with, where applicable, receipts, interest coupons and talons
attached (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms and subject, in the case of definitive Bearer Notes, to
such notice period as is specified in the applicable Final Terms), in each case against certification of
beneficial ownership as described above unless such certification has already been given, provided that
purchasers in the United States and certain U.S. persons will not be able to receive definitive Bearer Notes.
The CMU Service may require that any such exchange for a Permanent Bearer Global Note is made in whole
and not in part and in such event, no such exchange will be effected until all relevant account holders (as set
out in a CMU Instrument Position Report (as defined in the rules of the CMU Service) or any other relevant
notification supplied to the CMU Lodging Agent by the CMU Service) have so certified. The holder of a
Temporary Bearer Global Note will not be entitled to collect any payment of interest, principal or other
amount due on or after the Exchange Date unless, upon due certification, exchange of the Temporary Bearer
Global Note for an interest in a Permanent Bearer Global Note or for definitive Bearer Notes is improperly
withheld or refused.

Payments of principal, interest (if any) or any other amounts on a Permanent Bearer Global Note will be
made through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (against presentation or surrender (as the case may
be) of the Permanent Bearer Global Note if the Permanent Bearer Global Note is not intended to be issued in
NGN form) without any requirement for certification.

The applicable Final Terms will specify that a Permanent Bearer Global Note will be exchangeable (free of
charge), in whole but not in part, for definitive Bearer Notes with, where applicable, receipts, interest
coupons and talons attached upon either (i) not less than 60 days' written notice (a), in the case of Notes held
by a Common Depositary or Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, from
Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such
Permanent Bearer Global Note) to the Principal Paying Agent as described therein and/or (b), in the case of
Notes held through the CMU Service, from the relevant person(s) for whose account(s) interests in the
relevant Bearer Global Note are credited, as set out in a CMU Instrument Position Report or any other
relevant notification supplied to the CMU Lodging Agent by the CMU Service (each, an Accountholder)
therein to the CMU Lodging Agent as described therein or (ii) only upon the occurrence of an Exchange
Event. For these purposes, Exchange Event means that (i) an Event of Default (as defined in Condition 10)
has occurred and is continuing, (ii) the relevant Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg have and, in the case of Notes held through the CMU Service, the CMU Service has, been
closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or
otherwise) or have announced an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so and, in any
such case, no successor clearing system satisfactory to the Trustee is available or (iii) the relevant Issuer or
(in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor has or will become subject to adverse tax
consequences which would not be suffered were the Notes represented by the Permanent Bearer Global Note
in definitive form and a certificate to such effect signed by two Authorised Signatories (as defined in the
Trust Deed) of the relevant Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor is given to the
Trustee. The relevant Issuer will promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 if an
Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, (a) in the case of Notes held
by a Common Depositary or Common Safekeeper for Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Permanent
Bearer Global Note) and/or, (b) in the case of Notes held through a sub-custodian for the CMU Service, the
relevant Accountholder therein, and/or (c) the Trustee, may give notice to the Principal Paying Agent or, as
the case may be, the CMU Lodging Agent requesting exchange and, in the event of the occurrence of an
Exchange Event as described in (iii) above, the relevant Issuer may also give notice to the Principal Paying
Agent or, as the case may be, the CMU Lodging Agent, requesting exchange. Any such exchange shall occur
not later than 45 days after the date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Principal Paying Agent or, as
the case may be, the CMU Lodging Agent.
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Tranches of Bearer Notes shall not be physically delivered in Belgium, except to a clearing system, a
depositary or other institution for the purpose of their immobilisation in accordance with article 4 of
the Belgian Law of 14 December 2005.

A Noteholder who holds a principal amount of less than the minimum Specified Denomination will not
receive a definitive Bearer Note in respect of such holding and would need to purchase a principal amount of
Notes so that it holds an amount equal to one or more Specified Denominations.

The following legend will appear on all Bearer Notes (other than Temporary Bearer Global Notes), receipts,
interest coupons and talons relating to such Notes where TEFRA D is specified in the applicable Final
Terms:

"ANY UNITED STATES PERSON (AS DEFINED IN THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF THE
UNITED STATES) WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS
UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED
IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE."

The sections referred to provide that United States holders, with certain exceptions, will not be entitled to
deduct any loss on Bearer Notes, receipts or interest coupons and will not be entitled to capital gains
treatment in respect of any gain on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of
Bearer Notes, receipts, interest coupons or talons.

Notes which are represented by a Bearer Global Note will only be transferable in accordance with the rules
and procedures for the time being of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Service, as the case
may be.

Registered Notes

The Registered Notes of each Tranche offered and sold in reliance on Regulation S, which will be sold to
non-U.S. persons outside the United States, will initially be represented by a global note in registered form (a
Regulation S Global Note). Prior to expiry of the distribution compliance period (as defined in Regulation
S) applicable to each Tranche of Notes, beneficial interests in a Regulation S Global Note may not be offered
or sold to, or for the account or benefit of, a U.S. person save as otherwise provided in Condition 2 and may
not be held otherwise than through Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Service and such
Regulation S Global Note will bear a legend regarding such restrictions on transfer.

The Registered Notes of each Tranche may only be offered and sold in the United States or to U.S. persons
in private transactions to "qualified institutional buyers" within the meaning of Rule 144A under the
Securities Act (QIBs). The Registered Notes of each Tranche sold to QIBs will be represented by a global
note in registered form (a Rule 144A Global Note and, together with a Regulation S Global Note, the
Registered Global Notes).

Registered Global Notes will either (i) be deposited with a custodian for, and registered in the name of a
nominee of, The Depository Trust Company (DTC); (ii) be deposited with a custodian for, and registered in
the name of a nominee of, DTC for the accounts of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, (iii), when
represented by a Regulation S Global Note, be deposited with a common depositary or a common
safekeeper, for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and registered in the name of a common nominee of
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or in the name of a nominee of the common safekeeper, or (iv),
when represented by a Regulation S Global Note, be deposited with a sub-custodian for the HKMA as
operator of the CMU Service, as specified in the applicable Final Terms. Persons holding beneficial interests
in Registered Global Notes will be entitled or required, as the case may be, under the circumstances
described below, to receive physical delivery of definitive Notes in fully registered form.

The Rule 144A Global Note will be subject to certain restrictions on transfer set forth therein and will bear a
legend regarding such restrictions.
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Payments of principal, interest and any other amount in respect of the Registered Global Notes will, in the
absence of provision to the contrary, be made to the person shown on the Register (as defined in Condition
6.4) as the registered holder of the Registered Global Notes. None of the relevant Issuer, (in the case of
Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor, the Trustee, any Paying Agent or the Registrar will have any
responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to or payments or deliveries made on account
of beneficial ownership interests in the Registered Global Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing
any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

Payments of interest in respect of the Registered Notes in definitive form will, in the absence of provision to
the contrary, be made to the persons shown on the Register on the relevant Record Date (as defined in
Condition 6.4) immediately preceding the due date for payment in the manner provided in that Condition.

Interests in a Registered Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge), in whole but not in part, for
definitive Registered Notes without receipts, interest coupons or talons attached only upon the occurrence of
an Exchange Event. For these purposes, Exchange Event means that (i) an Event of Default has occurred
and is continuing, (ii) in the case of Notes registered in the name of a nominee for DTC, either DTC has
notified the relevant Issuer that it is unwilling or unable to continue to act as depositary for the Notes and no
alternative clearing system is available or DTC has ceased to constitute a clearing agency registered under
the Exchange Act, (iii) in the case of Notes registered in the name of a nominee for a common depositary for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, the relevant Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg, and in the case of Notes held through the CMU Service, the CMU Service, have
been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or
otherwise) or have announced an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so and, in any
such case, no successor clearing system satisfactory to the Trustee is available or (iv) the relevant Issuer or
(in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor has or will become subject to adverse tax
consequences which would not be suffered were the Notes represented by the Registered Global Note in
definitive form and a certificate to such effect signed by two Authorised Signatories of the relevant Issuer or
(in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor is given to the Trustee. The relevant Issuer will
promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 if an Exchange Event occurs. In the
event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the
instructions of any holder of an interest in such Registered Global Note) and/or in the case of Notes held
through the CMU Service, the relevant account holders therein, may give notice to the Registrar or, as the
case may be, the CMU Lodging Agent requesting exchange and, in the event of the occurrence of an
Exchange Event as described in (iv) above, the relevant Issuer may also give notice to the Registrar or, as the
case may be, the CMU Lodging Agent requesting exchange. Any such exchange shall occur not later than 10
days after the date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Registrar or, as the case may be, the CMU
Lodging Agent.

Transfer of Interests

Interests in a Registered Global Note may, subject to compliance with all applicable restrictions, be
transferred to a person who wishes to hold such interest in another Registered Global Note. No beneficial
owner of an interest in a Registered Global Note will be able to transfer such interest, except in accordance
with the applicable procedures of DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and the CMU Service, in each
case to the extent applicable. Registered Notes are also subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth
therein and will bear a legend regarding such restrictions; see "Subscription and Sale and Transfer and
Selling Restrictions".

General

Pursuant to the Agency Agreement (as defined under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes"), the Principal
Paying Agent or, as the case may be, the CMU Lodging Agent shall arrange that, where a further Tranche of
Notes is issued which is intended to form a single Series with an existing Tranche of Notes at a point after
the Issue Date of the further Tranche, the Notes of such further Tranche shall be assigned a common code
and ISIN and, where applicable, a CUSIP and CINS number or, where the CMU Service is able to generate a
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temporary CMU Instrument Number, a CMU instrument number which are different from the common code,
ISIN, CUSIP, CINS and CMU instrument number assigned to Notes of any other Tranche of the same Series
until such time as the Tranches are consolidated and form a single Series, which shall not be prior to the
expiry of the distribution compliance period applicable to the Notes of such Tranche.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear, Clearstream,
Luxembourg and/or the CMU Service, each person (other than Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or
the CMU Service) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or
the CMU Service as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Notes (in which regard any certificate
or other document issued by Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or the CMU Service as to the nominal
amount of such Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes
save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, the Agents and the
Trustee as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the
payment of principal or interest on such nominal amount of such Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the
relevant Bearer Global Note or the registered holder of the relevant Registered Global Note shall be treated
by the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor and the Agents and the Trustee as the holder of such nominal amount of
such Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note and the expressions
Noteholder and holder of Notes and related expressions shall be construed accordingly. Notwithstanding
the above, if a Note is held through the CMU Service, any payment that is made in respect of such Note shall
be made to, or to the order of, the bearer or at the direction of the registered holder to the person(s) for whose
account(s) interests in such Note are credited as being held through the CMU Service in accordance with the
CMU Rules (as defined in the Trust Deed) at the relevant time as notified to the CMU Lodging Agent by the
CMU Service in a relevant CMU Instrument Position Report or any other relevant notification by the CMU
Service (which notification, in either case, shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the CMU Service as
to the identity of any accountholder and the principal amount of any Note credited to its account, save in the
case of manifest error) and such payments shall discharge the obligation of the Issuer in respect of that
payment under such Note.

So long as DTC or its nominee is the registered owner or holder of a Registered Global Note, DTC or such
nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or holder of the Notes represented by such
Registered Global Note for all purposes under the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and such Notes except
to the extent that in accordance with DTC's published rules and procedures any ownership rights may be
exercised by its participants or beneficial owners through participants.

Any reference herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC and/or the CMU service
shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative
clearing system specified in the applicable Final Terms.

No Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder shall be entitled to proceed directly against the relevant
Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor unless the Trustee, having become bound so
to proceed, fails or is unable so to do within a reasonable period and the failure or inability shall be
continuing.
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS
APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS IN RESPECT OF PR NOTES

Set out below is the form of Final Terms for the purposes of Article 8(2)(a) of the Prospectus Regulation
which will be completed for each Tranche of PR Notes issued under the Programme

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - The Notes are not intended to be
offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to
any retail investor in the European Economic Area (the EEA). For these purposes, a retail investor means a
person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive
2014/65/EU (as amended, MIiFID II); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the
Insurance Distribution Directive), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as
defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus
Regulation (where Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129). Consequently no key
information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the PRIIPs Regulation) for
offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been
prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor
in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]'

[MIiFID II product governance/Professional investors and eligible counterparties only target market —
Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment
in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible
counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID
II)/[MiFID II]; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional
clients are appropriate. [Consider any negative target market.] Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market
assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer|'s/s'] target market
assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

[In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore (as modified
or amended from time to time, the SFA) and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products)
Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the CMP Regulations 2018), the Issuer has determined the classification of
the Notes as prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded
Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and
MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products)]’

FINAL TERMS
[Date]

[National Australia Bank Limited (ABN 12 004 044 937)/Bank of New Zealand/
BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through its London Branch]

Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): [F8SB4JFBSYQFRQEH3Z21/N7TLGVZM7X4UQ66T7LT74/
549300HVMZS9HDMELW08]

! Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if the Notes potentially constitute “packaged” products and no key information document will be
prepared or the Issuer wishes to prohibit offers to EEA retail investors for any other reason, in which case the item entitled “Prohibition of Sales to
EEA Investors” should be specified to be “Applicable”.

% Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if transaction involves one or more manufacturer(s) subject to MiFID II and if following the
"ICMA 1" approach.

* To amend notification if the Notes are “capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products” pursuant to Section 309B of the
SFA or Specified Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-
NI16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products). Relevant Manager(s)/Dealer(s) to consider whether it / they have received the
necessary product classification from the Issuer prior to the launch of the offer, pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA.
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Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]
[guaranteed by Bank of New Zealand]
under the U.S.$100,000,000,000

Global Medium Term Note Programme

[The Notes will only be admitted to trading on the Professional Segment of the Regulated Market of
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, which is a specific segment of an EEA regulated market (as defined
in MiFID II), to which only qualified investors (as defined in the Prospectus Regulation) can have
access and shall not be offered or sold to non-qualified investors.]*

PART A—CONTRACTUAL TERMS

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the
Offering Circular dated 20 November 2019 [and the supplement[s] to it dated [date] [and [date]] which
[together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation (the Offering
Circular). This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of
Article 8 of the Prospectus Regulation and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular in order to
obtain all the relevant information. The Offering Circular is available on the website of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).]

(The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was
issued under an Offering Circular with an earlier date.)

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the
Conditions) set forth in the Offering Circular dated [/5 December 2011/14 December 2012/16 December
2013/15 December 2014/19 November 2015/17 November 2016/17 November 2017/21 November 2018]
[and the supplement to it dated 23 November 2012]. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes
described herein for the purposes of Article 8 of the Prospectus Regulation and must be read in conjunction
with the Offering Circular dated 20 November 2019 [and the supplement[s] to it dated [date] [and [date]]
which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation (the Offering
Circular), save in respect of the Conditions which are extracted from the Offering Circular dated [/5
December 2011/14 December 2012/16 December 2013/15 December 2014/19 November 2015/17 November
2016/17 November 2017/21 November 2018], in order to obtain all the relevant information. The Offering
Circular is available on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).]

(Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable”. Note that the numbering should
remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs
(in which case the sub-paragraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be deleted). Italics
denote directions for completing the Final Terms.)

(If the Notes issued by Bank of New Zealand or BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through its
London Branch have a maturity of less than one year from the date of their issue, the minimum denomination
must be £100,000 or its equivalent in any other currency.)

1. (a) Series Number: [ ]
(b) Tranche Number: [ ]
(c) Date on which the Notes will be The Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series

consolidated and form a single with [identify earlier Tranches] on [the Issue Date/the

* Legend to be included for PR Notes with a minimum denomination of less than €100,000 (or equivalent in another currency) which will only be
admitted to trading on the Professional Segment of the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
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Series:
2. Specified Currency or Currencies:
3. Aggregate Nominal Amount:
(a) Series:

(b) Tranche:

4, Issue Price:
5. (a) Specified Denominations:
(b) Calculation Amount (in relation

to calculation of interest for
Notes in global form see

Conditions):
6. (a) Issue Date:
(b) Interest Commencement Date:
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date that is 40 days after the Issue Date/exchange of the
Temporary Bearer Global Note for interests in the
Permanent Bearer Global Note, as referred to in
Paragraph 22 below, which is expected to occur on or
about [date]][Not Applicable]

[ ]

[ ]
[ ]

[ ] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount
[plus accrued interest from [insert date]] (include in the
case of fungible issues only, if applicable)

[ ]

(N.B. Notes must have a minimum denomination of
€100,000 (or equivalent) unless they are to be admitted
to trading only on a regulated market, or a specific
segment of a regulated market, to which only qualified
investors have access, in which case the Notes must have
a minimum denomination of at least €1,000 (or
equivalent). It is anticipated that Notes issued by BNZ
and BNZ-IF under the Programme that are to be
admitted to trading on a regulated market, or a specific
segment of a regulated market, to which only qualified
investors have access, shall be issued with a minimum
denomination of €100,000 (or equivalent).)

(Note — where multiple denominations above [€100,000]
or equivalent are being used the following sample
wording should be followed:

"[€100,000] and integral multiples of [€1,000] in excess
thereof up to and including [€199,000]. No Notes in

definitive form will be issued with a denomination above
[€199,000].")

[ ]

(If only one Specified Denomination, insert the Specified
Denomination. If more than one Specified Denomination,
insert the highest common factor. Note: There must be a
common factor in the case of two or more Specified
Denominations.)

[ ]

[Specify/lssue Date/Not Applicable]
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7. Maturity Date:

8. Interest Basis:
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(N.B. An Interest Commencement Date will not be
relevant for certain Notes, for example Zero Coupon
Notes.)

[Fixed rate—specify date/undated/Interest Payment Date
falling in or nearest to [specify month and year]]

[Floating rate—Interest Payment Date falling in or
nearest to [specify month and year]]/[Undated]

(N.B. for certain Fixed Rate Notes, including Notes
denominated in Renminbi or Hong Kong dollars, or
Fixed Rate Notes which apply a Business Day
Convention other than Following Business Day
Convention specified in in paragraph 14(f) below, where
the Interest Payment Dates are subject to modification it
will be necessary to use the “Interest Payment Date
falling in or nearest to [specify month and year]”
formulation)

(N.B. for Zero Coupon Notes, include relevant Business
Day Convention language if the Maturity Date is to be
postponed or brought forward (as applicable) in
accordance with a Business Day Convention. For a Zero
Coupon Note with a Maturity Date that is to be
postponed or brought forward (as applicable) in
accordance with the Modified Following Business Day
Convention consider including: “[date] [month] [year],
unless [date] [month] [year] is not a [specify applicable
financial centres, as appropriate] Business Day, in which
case the Maturity Date shall be postponed to the next day
which is a [specify applicable financial centres, as
appropriate] Business Day unless it would thereby fall
into the next calendar month, in which event the Maturity
Date shall be brought forward to the immediately
preceding [specify applicable financial centres, as
appropriate] Business Day. [Specify applicable financial
centres, as appropriate] Business Day means a day on
which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets
settle payments and are open for general business
(including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign
currency deposits) in [specify applicable financial
centres, as appropriate].”)

[l ] per cent. per annum Fixed Rate]

[[LIBOR/EURIBOR/HIBOR/BA-CDOR/SIBOR/CNH
HIBOR/NIBOR] [Compounded Daily SONIA] [BBSW
Rate/BKBM Rate] +/- [ ] per cent. per annum
Floating Rate]

[Zero Coupon]

(further particulars specified below)

(N.B. It is expected that BBSW Rate or BKBM Rate will
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10.

11.

12.

13.

Redemption/Payment Basis:

Change of Interest Basis:

U.S. Dollar Equivalent:

Put/Call Options:

(a)
(b)

Status of the Notes:

Date of [Board] approval for
issuance of Notes [and
Guarantee] obtained:

only be selected where “BBSW Determination” or
“BKBM Determination”, respectively, are marked as
“Applicable” below)

Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early
redemption, the Notes will be redeemed on the Maturity
Date at [ ] per cent. of their nominal amount

[Specify details of any provision for change of Notes into
another Interest Basis or cross refer Paragraphs 14 and
15 below if details are included there] [Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(N.B. Where Notes are denominated in Renminbi, it is
expected that this paragraph will be marked
“Applicable”.)

[Investor Put]

[Issuer Call]

[Not Applicable]

[(further particulars specified below)]

[Senior]/[Subordinated]/[Guaranteed Senior]

[ ] [and [ ], respectively][Not Applicable]
(N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar)
authorisation is required for the particular tranche of
Notes or related Guarantee)

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

14.

Fixed Rate Note Provisions:

(a)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e

Rate(s) of Interest:

Interest Payment Date(s):

Fixed Coupon Amount(s) for
Notes in definitive form (and in
relation to Notes in global form,
see Conditions):

Broken Amount(s) for Notes in
definitive form (and in relation
to Notes in global form, see
Conditions):

Day Count Fraction:
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[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this Paragraph)

[ ] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on each
Interest Payment Date

[ ] in each year, commencing on [ ], up to (and
including) the Maturity Date (Amend appropriately in the

case of irregular coupons)

[ ] per Calculation Amount

[ ] per Calculation Amount payable on the Interest
Payment Date falling [in/on] [ ] [Not Applicable]

[30/360]
[Actual/Actual ICMA)]
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® Business Day Convention:

1) Adjusted:

(i1) Non-Adjusted:

(g2) Additional Business Centre(s):

(h) Determination Date(s):

15. Floating Rate Note Provisions:

(a) Specified  Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

(b) Business Day Convention:

(© Additional Business Centre(s):

(d) Manner in which the Rate of
Interest and Interest Amount is

to be determined:

(e) Party responsible for calculating
the Rate of Interest and Interest
Amount (if not the Agent):

® Screen Rate Determination:
@) Reference Rate and
Relevant Financial
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[RBA Bond Basis/Australian Bond Basis]
[Actual/Actual (ISDA)][Actual/Actual]
[Actual/365 (Fixed)]

[Actual/365 (Sterling)]

[Actual/360]

[30E/360] [Eurobond Basis]

[30E/360 (ISDA)]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[ ] [Not Applicable]

1l ] in each year] [Not Applicable]

(Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is
Actual/Actual (ICMA). In such a case, insert regular
interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity
date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this Paragraph)

[ ] [, subject to adjustment in accordance with the
Business Day Convention set out in (b) below /, not
subject to adjustment, as the Business Day Convention in
(b) below is specified to be Not Applicable]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified  Following  Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention][Not
Applicable]

[ ] [Not Applicable]

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination/BBSW
Determination/BKBM Determination]

[ ][Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this Paragraph)

Reference Rate: [ ] month
[LIBOR/EURIBOR/HIBOR/BA-CDOR/SIBOR/CNH
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Centre:

(i1) Interest Determination
Date(s):

(iii) Relevant Screen Page:

@iv) SONIA Lag Period (p):

(2) ISDA Determination:

@) Floating Rate Option:

(ii) Designated Maturity:

(ii1) Reset Date:
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HIBOR/NIBOR] [Compounded Daily SONIA]
Relevant Time: [ ]

Relevant Financial Centre:
[London/Brussels/Hong Kong/Toronto/Singapore/Oslo]

[the first day of each Interest Period][the second/[specify]
business day prior to the start of each Interest Period][the
second day on which the TARGET2 System is open prior
to the start of each Interest Period][The [first/[specify]]
London Banking Day falling after the last day of the
relevant Observation Period][specify other]

[ ]

(In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBOROI
ensure it is a page which shows a composite rate or
amend the fallback provisions appropriately.)

[S/[specify  other] London Banking Days][Not
Applicable]

(It is anticipated that Screen Rate Determination will be
used on an issue by issue basis, unless otherwise agreed
between the Relevant Issuer and the relevant dealer or
the relevant managers on the launch of a particular
issue.)

(N.B. When setting the SONIA Lag Period (p), the
practicalities of this period should be discussed with the
Agent or, if applicable, such other party responsible for
the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms. It is anticipated that ‘(p)’ will be
no fewer than 5 London Banking Days unless otherwise
agreed with the Agent or, if applicable/required, such
other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of
Interest, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, in
relation to the relevant issuance)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this Paragraph)

(In the case of a LIBOR or EURIBOR based option, the
first day of the Interest Period)

(N.B. The fall-back provisions applicable to ISDA
Determination under the 2006 ISDA Definitions are
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(h) BBSW Determination:
@) Relevant Financial
Centre:
(i1) Interest Determination
Date(s):
@) BKBM Determination:
1) Relevant Financial
Centre:
(i) Interest Determination
Date(s):
G Linear Interpolation:
(k) Margin(s):
) Minimum Rate of Interest:
(m) Maximum Rate of Interest:
(n) Day Count Fraction:
(0) Interest Amounts Non-
Adjusted:
16. Zero Coupon Note Provisions:
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reliant upon the provision by reference banks of offered
quotations for LIBOR and/or EURIBOR which,
depending on market circumstances, may not be
available at the relevant time)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this Paragraph)

[Sydney]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this Paragraph)

[Auckland and Wellington]

[Not Applicable][Applicable — the Rate of Interest for the
[long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated
using Linear Interpolation (specify for each short or long
interest period)]

[+/-]11 ] per cent. per annum
[l ] per cent. per annum][Not Applicable]
[ ] per cent. per annum][Not Applicable]

[[Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/Actual]
Actual/365 (Fixed)

Actual/365 (Sterling)

Actual/360

[30/360] [360/360] [Bond Basis]
[30E/360] [Eurobond Basis]

30E/360 (ISDA)

RBA Bond Basis

Australian Bond Basis]

(See Condition 5.7 for alternatives)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the
remaining subparagraphs of this Paragraph)
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(a) Accrual Yield:
(b) Reference Price:
(c) Day Count Fraction in relation

to Early Redemption Amounts:

[ ] per cent. per annum
[ 1
[30/360]

[Actual/360]
[Actual/365]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

17. Notice periods for Condition 7.2:

18. Issuer Call:

(a) Optional Redemption Date(s):
(b) Optional Redemption Amount

and method, if any, of
calculation of such amount(s):

(c) If redeemable in part:

@) Minimum Redemption
Amount:

(i1) Maximum Redemption
Amount:

(d) Notice periods:
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Minimum period: [30/[ ]] days
Maximum period: [[60/[ ]] days] [Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this Paragraph)

[ ]

[ ] per Calculation Amount] / [In accordance with
the table below]

Optional Redemption Optional Redemption

Date Amount (as a percentage
of the Calculation
Amount)

[ ] [ ]

(NB: If the Optional Redemption Amount is other than a
specified amount per Calculation Amount, the Notes will
need to be Exempt Notes)

Minimum period: [5/[ ]] days
Maximum period: [/0/[ ]] days

(N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised to
consider the practicalities of distribution of information
through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems
(which require a minimum of 5 clearing system business
days’ notice for a call) and custodians, as well as any
other notice requirements which may apply, for example,
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19. Investor Put:

(a) Optional Redemption Date(s):

(b) Optional Redemption Amount:

(c) Notice periods:

20. Final Redemption Amount:

21. Early Redemption Amount payable on
redemption for taxation reasons or on
event of default:

as between the Issuer and the Agent or Trustee)
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this Paragraph)

[ ]

[l ] per Calculation Amount] / [In accordance with
the table below]

Optional Redemption Optional Redemption

Date Amount (as a percentage
of the Calculation
Amount)

[ ] [ ]

(NB: If the Optional Redemption Amount is other than a
specified amount per Calculation Amount, the Notes will
need to be Exempt Notes)

Minimum period: [/5/[ ]] days
Maximum period: [30/[ ]] days

(N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised to
consider the practicalities of distribution of information
through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems
(which require a minimum of 15 clearing system business
days’ notice for a put) and custodians, as well as any
other notice requirements which may apply, for example,
as between the Issuer and the Agent or Trustee)

[ ] per Calculation Amount
[l ] per Calculation Amount] / [Condition 7.5
applies]

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

22. (a) Form of Notes:

0083121-0000407 ICM:33574037.13

[Bearer Notes:

[Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for a
Permanent Bearer Global Note which is exchangeable for
Definitive Bearer Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any
time/only upon an Exchange Event].]

[Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for
Definitive Bearer Notes on and after the Exchange Date.]

[Permanent Bearer Global Note exchangeable for

Definitive Bearer Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any
time/only upon an Exchange Event].]
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(b) New Global Note:
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(Ensure that this is consistent with the wording in the
"Form of the Notes" section in the Offering Circular and
the Notes themselves. N.B. The exchange upon notice/at
any time options should not be expressed to be applicable
if the Specified Denomination of the Notes in Paragraph
5(a) includes language substantially to the following
effect: "[€100,000] and integral multiples of [€1,000] in
excess thereof up to and including [€199,000]."
Furthermore, such Specified Denomination construction
is not permitted in relation to any issue of Notes which is
to be represented on issue by a Temporary Bearer Global
Note exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes.)

[Registered Notes:

Regulation S Global Note (U.S.$[ ] nominal amount)
registered in the name of a nominee for [DTC/a sub-
custodian for the CMU/a common depositary for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg/a common
safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
(and held under the NSS)]/Rule 144A Global Note
(U.S.9[ ] nominal amount) registered in the name of
a nominee for [DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear
and Clearstream, Luxembourg/a common safekeeper for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (and held under
the NSS)] (specify nominal amounts)]

(It is anticipated that all Registered Notes issued by NAB,
BNZ or BNZ-IF under the Programme will be registered
in the name of a common depositary for Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or in the name of a
nominee for DTC and/or a sub-custodian for the CMU,
because Registered Notes issued by NAB, BNZ or BNZ-IF
do not currently satisfy the ECB's Eurosystem eligibility
criteria and, accordingly, cannot be recognised as
eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and
intra-day credit operations.)

(Ensure that this is consistent with the wording in the
"Form of the Notes" section in the Offering Circular and
the Notes themselves. NB: The exchange event upon
notice/at any time options should not be expressed to be
applicable if the Specified Denomination of the Notes in
Paragraph 5(a) includes language substantially to the
following effect: "[€100,000] and integral multiples of
[€1,000] in excess thereof up to and including
[€199,000]." Furthermore, such Specified Denomination
construction is not permitted in relation to any issue of
Notes which is to be represented on issue by a Temporary
Bearer Global Note exchangeable for a Definitive Bearer
Note.)

[Yes] [No]

[t is anticipated that all Bearer Notes issued by NAB,
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23. Additional Financial Centre(s):

24. Talons for future Coupons to be
attached to Definitive Bearer Notes:

THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

BNZ or BNZ-IF under the Programme will not be issued
in NGN form and will be deposited with a sub-custodian
for the CMU or a common depositary for Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg. Bearer Notes issued by NAB,
BNZ or BNZ-IF do not currently satisfy the ECB's
Eurosystem eligibility criteria and, accordingly, cannot
be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations.]

[ ] [Not Applicable]

(Note that this Paragraph relates to the date of payment
and not the end dates of Interest Periods for the purposes
of calculating the amount of interest to which sub-
paragraph 15(c) relates.)

[Yes, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon payments,
Talons may be required if, on exchange into definitive
form, more than 27 coupon payments are still to be
made/No]

[Relevant third party information (for example: “The description[s] of the [‘AA-’] and [‘Aa3’] credit
rating(s] in Item [2] of Part B of these Final Terms”)] [has/have] been extracted from [specify source(s)]
[respectively]. The Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it
is aware and is able to ascertain from such information published by [specify source(s)], no facts have been
omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. [Complete/amend as

appropriate)

Signed on behalf of [insert name of Issuer]:
By e

Duly authorised

0083121-0000407 ICM:33574037.13

[Signed on behalf of Bank of New Zealand:

Duly authorised

By:

Duly authorised)
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PART B—OTHER INFORMATION

1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

(a) Listing and Admission to
trading:

(b) Estimate of total expenses
related to admission to trading:

2. RATINGS

Ratings:

0083121-0000407 ICM:33574037.13

[Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its
behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on [the
[Professional Segment of the] Regulated Market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and listed on the official
list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange] [other] with
effect from [ ].] [Application is expected to be made by
the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted
to trading on [the [Professional Segment of the]
Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
and listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange] [other] with effect from [ ].] [Not
Applicable.]

(When documenting a fungible issue, need to indicate
that original Notes are already admitted to trading.)

[ ]

[The Notes to be issued [[have been]/[are expected to
be]]rated [ ]by[ ].] [Not Applicable] [The following
ratings reflect ratings assigned to Notes of this type
issued under the Programme generally: [specify rating(s)
and rating agencies]]

[Need to include a brief explanation of the meaning of
the ratings if this has previously been published by the
rating provider. Consider including the following (to be
completed at the time of the relevant issuance):

[[S&P Global Ratings] has, in its [month, year]
publication “[S&P Global Ratings Definitions]”,
described a [long-term issue] credit rating of [ ‘AA’] in
the following terms: [“An obligation rated 'AA’ differs
from the highest-rated obligations only to a small
degree. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial
commitments on the obligation is very strong ... Ratings
Jrom 'AA’" to 'CCC'" may be modified by the addition of a
plus (+) or minus (-) sign to show relative standing
within the rating categories.”.]] [Complete as
applicable]

[[Moody’s Investors Service] has, in its [month, year]
publication  “[Rating Symbols and Definitions]”,
described a credit rating of [‘Aa’] in the following
terms: [ “Obligations rated Aa are judged to be of high
quality and are subject to very low credit risk ... Note:
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Moody’s appends numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to
each generic rating classification from Aa through Caa.
The modifier 1 indicates that the obligation ranks in the
higher end of its generic rating category, the modifier 2
indicates a mid-range ranking; and the modifier 3
indicates a ranking in the lower end of that generic
rating category.”.]] [Complete as applicable].

3. INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE

[Save for any fees payable to [specify names of dealers/managers] (the [Dealers]/[Managers]), so
far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the
offer. The [Dealers/Managers] and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in
investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services
for, the Issuer [and the Guarantor] and [its/their] affiliates in the ordinary course of business. —
Amend as appropriate if there are other interests]

(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters
described constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to
the Offering Circular under Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation.)

4, REASONS FOR THE OFFER AND ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS
1) Reasons for the offer: [See "Use of Proceeds" in the Offering Circular/Give
details]

(See "Use of Proceeds"” wording in Offering Circular
— if reasons for offer different from what is disclosed
in the Offering Circular, give details)

(i1) Estimated net proceeds: [ ]
5. YIELD (Fixed Rate Notes only)
Indication of yield: [ ][Not Applicable]
6. OPERATIONAL INFORMATION
(a) ISIN: [ ]
(b) Common Code: [ ]
(c) CFI: [[See/[[include code], as updated, as set out on] the

website of the Association of National Numbering
Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the
responsible National Numbering Agency that assigned
the ISIN/Not Applicable/Not Available]

(d) FISN: [[See/[[include code], as updated, as set out on] the
website of the Association of National Numbering
Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the
responsible National Numbering Agency that assigned
the ISIN/Not Applicable/Not Available]

(e) [CMU Instrument Number:] [ ]
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®

(2)

(h)
®

@

k)

@

(m)

[CUSIP/CINS/Other securities

code(s):]

Any clearing system(s) other
than [Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg,]
[CMU Service] [and DTC]
[delete as applicable] and the
relevant identification
number(s):

Delivery:

If syndicated, names of

Managers:

Date of
Agreement:

Subscription

Name(s) and address(es) of
additional Paying Agent(s) (if
any):

Deemed delivery of clearing
system notices for the purposes
of Condition 14:

Intended to be held in a manner
which would allow Eurosystem
eligibility:
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(Only applicable for Notes held through the CMU
Service)

[Insert here any other relevant codes such as CUSIP and
CINS codes and renumber accordingly)

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)]

Delivery [against/free of] payment

[Not Applicable/give names]

[ ][Not Applicable]

[ ][Not Applicable]

[Any notice delivered to Noteholders through [Euroclear
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg] [and/or DTC] [and/or
the persons shown in a CMU Instrument Position Report
issued by the CMU Service] will be deemed to have been
given on the [day]/[[second] day after the day] on which
it was given to [Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg,] [DTC] [or the persons shown in a CMU
Instrument Position Report issued by the CMU Service,]
[as applicable].]

[Yes. Note that the designation "yes" simply means that
the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited with
one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper [(and registered
in the name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as a
common safekeeper)] [include this text for Registered
Notes] and does not necessarily mean that the Notes will
be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the
Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times
during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the
ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria
have been met.]

[No. Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at the
date of these Final Terms, should the Eurosystem
eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that the
Notes are capable of meeting them the Notes may then
be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common
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7. SELLING RESTRICTIONS

(a) U.S. Selling Restrictions:

(b) The Republic of Korea (Korea)
Selling Restrictions:

(c) Prohibition of Sales to EEA
Retail Investors:

safekeeper [(and registered in the name of a nominee of
one of the ICSDs acting as common safekeeper)][include
this text for Registered Notes]. Note that this does not
necessarily mean that the Notes will then be recognised
as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and
intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem at any time
during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the
European Central Bank being satisfied that Eurosystem
eligibility criteria have been met.]] [include this text if
"no" selected]

Reg. S Compliance Category [1/2/3];
[TEFRA D/TEFRA C/TEFRA not applicable]

[Not Applicable/The Notes have not been and will not be
registered for public offering under the Financial
Investments Services and Capital Markets Act of Korea
(the FSCMA). Accordingly, (i) the Notes shall not be
offered to 50 or more residents in Korea (as defined in
the Foreign Exchange Transactions Law of Korea
(FETL) and its Enforcement Decree), and (ii) the
number of Notes (where, for this purpose, the minimum
Specified Denomination specified in these Final Terms
shall constitute one Note) offered in Korea or to a
resident in Korea shall be less than 50. Furthermore, the
Notes shall not be divided or redenominated within 1
year from the issuance. Except for the Notes offered in
Korea or to a resident in Korea in accordance with the
aforementioned restriction, none of the Notes may be
offered, sold and delivered directly or indirectly, or
offered or sold to any person for re-offering or resale,
directly or indirectly, in Korea or to any resident of
Korea within 1 year from the issuance of the Notes,
except pursuant to the applicable laws and regulations of
Korea.

Furthermore, by purchasing the Notes, each Noteholder
will be deemed to represent, warrant and agree that it
shall comply with all applicable regulatory requirements
(including but not limited to requirements under the
FETL) in connection with the purchase of the Notes.’]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute “packaged”
products or the Notes do constitute “packaged” products
and a key information document will be prepared, “Not
Applicable” should be specified. If the Notes may
constitute “packaged” products and no key information
document will be prepared, “Applicable” should be
specified.)

5 Only applicable for Notes offered into Korea otherwise state 'Not Applicable'.
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(d) Prohibition of Sales to Belgian [Applicable/Not Applicable]
Consumers:
(N.B. advice should be taken from Belgian counsel
before disapplying this selling restriction)
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APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS IN RESPECT OF EXEMPT NOTES
Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Exempt Notes.

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - The Notes are not intended to be
offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to
any retail investor in the European Economic Area (the EEA). For these purposes, a retail investor means a
person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive
2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID II); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the
Insurance Distribution Directive), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as
defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus
Regulation (where Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129). Consequently no key
information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the PRIIPs Regulation) for
offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been
prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor
in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]l

[MIiFID II product governance/[Professional investors and eligible counterparties only] target market
[~ Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market
assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible
counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID
IT)/[MiFID IIJ; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional
clients are appropriate. [Consider any negative target market.] Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market
assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market
assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]*/[appropriate target market legend to be
included.] [complete/amend as appropriate]]

[In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore (as modified
or amended from time to time, the SFA) and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products)
Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the CMP Regulations 2018), the Issuer has determined the classification of
the Notes as prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded
Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and
MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Produ(:ts).]3

THE CSSF HAS NEITHER APPROVED NOR REVIEWED INFORMATION CONTAINED IN
THESE FINAL TERMS IN RESPECT OF EXEMPT NOTES

FINAL TERMS
[Date]

[National Australia Bank Limited (ABN 12 004 044 937)/Bank of New Zealand/
BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through its London Branch]

! Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if the Notes potentially constitute “packaged” products and no key information document will be
prepared or the Issuer wishes to prohibit offers to EEA retail investors for any other reason, in which case the item entitled “Prohibition of Sales to
EEA Investors” should be specified to be “Applicable”.

% This version of the legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if transaction involves one or more manufacturer(s) subject to MiFID II and if
following the "ICMA 1" approach.

* To amend notification if the Notes are “capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products” pursuant to Section 309B of the
SFA or Specified Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16:
Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products). Relevant Manager(s)/Dealer(s) to consider whether it / they have received the necessary
product classification from the Issuer prior to the launch of the offer, pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA.
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Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): [FS8SB4JFBSYQFRQEH3Z21/N7LGVZM7X4UQ66T7LT74/
549300HVMZS9HDMELW08]

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]
[guaranteed by Bank of New Zealand]
under the U.S.$100,000,000,000

Global Medium Term Note Programme
PART A—CONTRACTUAL TERMS

[Any person making or intending to make an offer of the Notes may only do so in circumstances in
which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any [Dealer/Manager] to publish a prospectus pursuant to
Article 3 of the Prospectus Regulation or to supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the
Prospectus Regulation, in each case, in relation to such offer.]*

This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein. This document must be read in
conjunction with the Offering Circular dated 20 November 2019 [as supplemented by the supplement[s] to it
dated [date[s]]] (the Offering Circular). Full information on the Issuer [and the Guarantor] and the offer of
the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Offering Circular.
Copies of the Offering Circular may be obtained free of charge, from the registered office of the Principal
Paying Agent at Winchester House, 1 Great Winchester Street, London EC2N 2DB.

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the
Conditions) set forth in the Offering Circular [dated [15 December 2011/14 December 2012/16 December
2013/15 December 2014/19 November 2015/17 November 2016/17 November 2017/21 November 2018]
[and the supplement to it dated 23 November 2012] and attached hereto].] (Only include this language where
it is a fungible issue and the original Tranche was issued under an Offering Circular with a different date.)

(Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable". Note that the numbering should
remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs.
Italics denote directions for completing the Final Terms.)

(If the Notes issued by Bank of New Zealand or BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through its
London Branch have a maturity of less than one year from the date of their issue, the minimum denomination
must be £100,000 or its equivalent in any other currency.)

1. (a) Issuer: [National Australia Bank Limited (ABN 12 004 044 937) /Bank
of New Zealand/BNZ International Funding Limited, acting
through its London Branch]

(b) [Guarantor: Bank of New Zealand

The Notes described herein are not guaranteed by any
government, government agency or compensation scheme of the
Commonwealth of Australia, Her Majesty the Queen in right of
New Zealand or any other jurisdiction.]

2. (a) Series Number: [ ]

(b) Tranche Number: [ ]

4 Do not include if the "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" legend is included (because the Notes potentially constitute "packaged"
products and no key information document will be prepared) and the related selling restriction is specified to be "Applicable".

0083121-0000407 ICM:33574037.13 94



(c) Date on which the
Notes will be
consolidated and form a
single Series:

3. Specified Currency or

Currencies:

4. Aggregate Nominal Amount:

(a) Series:

(b) Tranche:

5. Issue Price:
6. (a) Specified
Denominations:

(b) Calculation Amount (in
relation to calculation
of interest for Notes in
global form see
Conditions):

7 (a) Issue Date:

(b) Interest
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[The Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series with
lidentify earlier Tranches] on [the Issue Date/the date that is 40
days after the Issue Date/exchange of the Temporary Bearer
Global Note for interests in the Permanent Bearer Global Note, as
referred to in Paragraph 28 below, which is expected to occur on
or about [date]][Not Applicable]

[ ]

[ ]
[ ]

[ ] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus
accrued interest from [insert date]] (include in the case of
fungible issues only, if applicable)

[ ] [(subject to Condition 10A.2A) (include in the case of
Subordinated Notes only, if applicable))

(Note — where multiple denominations above [€100,000] or
equivalent are being used the following sample wording should

be followed:

"[€100,000] and integral multiples of [€1,000] in excess thereof
up to and including [€199,000]. No Notes in definitive form will
be issued with a denomination above [€199,000].")

(N.B. If an issue of Notes is (i) NOT admitted to trading on a
European Economic Area exchange; and (ii) only offered in the
European Economic Area in circumstances where a prospectus is
not required to be published under the Prospectus Regulation, the
[€100,000] minimum denomination is not required. It is
anticipated that Notes to be admitted to trading on the Euro MTF
Market will be issued in minimum denominations of at least

€100,000.)

[ ] [(subject to Condition 10A.2A) (include in the case of
Subordinated Notes only, if applicable)]

(If only one Specified Denomination, insert the Specified
Denomination. If more than one Specified Denomination, insert
the highest common factor. Note: There must be a common factor
in the case of two or more Specified Denominations.)

[ ]

[Specify/lssue Date/Not Applicable]
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Commencement Date:

8. Maturity Date:

9. Interest Basis:
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(N.B. An Interest Commencement Date will not be relevant for
certain Notes, for example Zero Coupon Notes.)

[Fixed rate—|[Specify date]/[Interest Payment Date falling in or
nearest to [specify month and year]/[Undated]]

[Floating rate—Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest to
[specify month and year]/[Undated]]

(N.B. for certain Fixed Rate Notes, including Notes denominated
in Renminbi or Hong Kong dollars, or Fixed Rate Notes which
apply a Business Day Convention other than Following Business
Day Convention specified in in paragraph 16(f) below, where the
Interest Payment Dates are subject to modification it will be
necessary to use the “Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest
to [specify month and year]” formulation)

(N.B. for Zero Coupon Notes, include relevant Business Day
Convention language if the Maturity Date is to be postponed or
brought forward (as applicable) in accordance with a Business
Day Convention. For a Zero Coupon Note with a Maturity Date
that is to be postponed or brought forward (as applicable) in
accordance with the Modified Following Business Day
Convention consider including: “[date] [month] [year], unless
[date] [month] [year] is not a [specify applicable financial
centres, as appropriate] Business Day, in which case the
Maturity Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a
[[specify applicable financial centres, as appropriate Business
Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in
which event the Maturity Date shall be brought forward to the
immediately preceding [specify applicable financial centres, as
appropriate] Business Day. [Specify applicable financial centres,
as appropriate] Business Day means a day on which commercial
banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are
open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange
and foreign currency deposits) in [specify applicable financial
centres, as appropriate].”)

[ ] per cent. per annum Fixed Rate]

[[LIBOR/EURIBOR/HIBOR/BA-CDOR/SIBOR/CNH
HIBOR/NIBOR] [Compounded Daily SONIA] [BBSW
Rate/BKBM Rate] +/- [ ] per cent. per annum Floating
Rate]

(N.B. It is expected that BBSW Rate or BKBM Rate will only be
selected  where ‘BBSW  Determination” or  “BKBM

Determination”, respectively, are marked as “Applicable”
below)

([Where interpolated rates for the first Interest Period use the
following: "The ISDA Rate" in respect of the first Interest Period
(such period for the avoidance of doubt being from (and
including) the Interest Commencement Date to (but excluding)
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10. Redemption/Payment Basis:

11. Change of Interest Basis or
Redemption/Payment Basis:

12. U.S. Dollar Equivalent:

13. Put/Call Options:

14. (a) Status of the Notes:

(b) [Date of [Board]
approval for issuance of
Notes [and Guarantee]
obtained:

the Interest Payment Date falling in [ ]) shall be determined
through the use of straight-line interpolation by reference to two
rates based on the Floating Rate Option, one of which shall be
determined as if the Designated Maturity were [ ] months
and the other of which shall be determined as if the Designated
Maturity were [ ] months])

[Zero Coupon]

[Index Linked Interest]

[Dual Currency Interest]

[Specify other]

(further particulars specified below)

[Redemption at par] [(subject to Condition 10A.2A) (include in
the case of Subordinated Notes only, if applicable)]

[Index Linked Redemption]

[Dual Currency Redemption]

[Partly Paid]

[Instalment]

[Specify other]

[Specify details of any provision for change of Notes into another
Interest Basis or Redemption/Payment Basis] [Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(N.B. Where Notes are denominated in Renminbi, it is expected
that this paragraph will be marked “Applicable”.)

[Investor Put]

[Issuer Call]

[Regulatory Event Call]

[(further particulars specified below)]
[Not Applicable]

[Senior]/[Subordinated]/[Guaranteed Senior]

[(see further particulars in paragraph 15 below)]
(N.B. Further particulars statement only relevant where the
Issuer is NAB and "Subordinated" is selected)

[ ] [and [ ], respectively]]

(N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar) authorisation is
required for the particular tranche of Notes or related
Guarantee)

PROVISIONS RELATING TO SUBORDINATED NOTES

15. Subordinated Notes:

(a) Write-Off:
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[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
paragraph 15)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
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(b)

Conversion:
1) CD:

(i1) VWAP Period:

(iii) Issue Date

VWAP:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[ ]

[As specified in the Schedule to the Conditions]/[[ ] Business
Days]
[As specified in the Schedule to the Conditions]/[[ ] Business

Days]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

16. Fixed Rate Note Provisions:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®

Rate(s) of Interest:

Interest Payment
Date(s):
Fixed Coupon

Amount(s) for Notes in
definitive form (and in
relation to Notes in
global form, see
Conditions):

Broken Amount(s) for
Notes in definitive form
(and in relation to
Notes in global form,
see Conditions):

Day Count Fraction:

Business
Convention:

Day

0083121-0000407 ICM:33574037.13

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

[ ] per cent. per annum [payable [annually/semi-
annually/quarterly/other (specify)] in arrear on each Interest
Payment Date] (If payable other than annually, consider
amending Condition 5)

1l ] in each year, commencing on [ ], up to (and
including) the Maturity Date (Amend appropriately in the case of
irregular coupons)

[ ] per Calculation Amount [(subject to Condition 10A.2A)
(include in the case of Subordinated Notes only, if applicable)]

[ ] per Calculation Amount payable on the Interest Payment
Date falling [in/on] [ ] [Not Applicable]

[30/360]

[Actual/Actual (ICMA)]

[RBA Bond Basis][Australian Bond Basis]
[Actual/Actual (ISDA)][Actual/Actual]
[Actual/365 (Fixed)]

[Actual/365 (Sterling)]

[Actual/360]

[30E/360] [Eurobond Basis]

[30E/360 (ISDA)]

[Specify other]

(See Condition 5.7 for alternatives)

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
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1) Adjusted:
(i1) Non-Adjusted:

(2) Additional Business
Centre(s):

(h) Determination Date(s):

1) Other terms relating to
the method of
calculating interest for
Fixed Rate Notes which
are Exempt Notes:

17. Floating Rate Note Provisions:

(a) Specified
Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

(b) Business Day
Convention:

(c) Additional Business
Centre(s):

(d) Manner in which the
Rate of Interest and
Interest Amount is to be
determined:

(e Party responsible for
calculating the Rate of
Interest and Interest
Amount (if not the

Agent):

® Screen Rate
Determination:
1) Reference Rate
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Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/[Specify other]]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[ ] [Not Applicable]

[l ] in each year] [Not Applicable]

(Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual
(ICMA). In such a case, insert regular interest payment dates,
ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long or short
first or last coupon)

[None/Give details]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

[ 1 [, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business
Day Convention set out in (b) below /, not subject to any
adjustment, as the Business Day Convention in (b) below is
specified to be Not Applicable]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/
Preceding Business Day Convention/[Specify other]][Not
Applicable]

[ ] [Not Applicable]

[Screen Rate  Determination/ISDA  Determination/BBSW
Determination/BKBM Determination/Specify other]

[ ] [Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

Reference Rate: [ ] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR/HIBOR/BA-
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and Relevant
Financial
Centre:

(i1) Interest
Determination
Date(s):

(ii1) Relevant
Screen Page:

@iv) SONIA  Lag
Period (p):

(g) ISDA Determination:

@) Floating Rate
Option:

(i1) Designated
Maturity:

(iii) Reset Date:
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CDOR/SIBOR/CNH HIBOR/NIBOR] [Compounded Daily
SONIA] [Specify other Reference Rate]

Relevant Time: [ ]

Relevant Financial Centre: [London/Brussels/Hong
Kong/Toronto/Singapore/Oslo/Specify other Relevant Financial
Centre]

[the first day of each Interest Period][the second [specify]
business day prior to the start of each Interest Period][the second
day on which the TARGET?2 System is open prior to the start of
each Interest Period][The [first/[specify]] London Banking Day
falling after the last day of the relevant Observation
Period][specify other]

[ ]

(In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBOROI ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate or amend the fallback
provisions appropriately.)

[S/[specify other] London Banking Days][Not Applicable]

(It is anticipated that Screen Rate Determination will be used on
an issue by issue basis, unless otherwise agreed between the
Relevant Issuer and the relevant dealer or the relevant managers
on the launch of a particular issue.)

(N.B. When setting the SONIA Lag Period (p), the practicalities
of this period should be discussed with the Agent or, if applicable,
such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of
Interest, as specified in the applicable Final Terms. It is
anticipated that ‘(p)’ will be no fewer than 5 London Banking
Days unless otherwise agreed with the Agent or, if
applicable/required, such other party responsible for the
calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable
Final Terms, in relation to the relevant issuance)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

[ ]

[ ]

(In the case of a LIBOR or EURIBOR based option, the first day
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of the Interest Period)

(N.B. The fall-back provisions applicable to ISDA Determination
under the 2006 ISDA Definitions are reliant upon the provision
by reference banks of offered quotations for LIBOR and/or
EURIBOR which, depending on market circumstances, may not
be available at the relevant time)

(h) BBSW Determination: ~ [Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this

Paragraph)
1) Relevant [Sydney]
Financial
Centre:
(i1) Interest [ ]
Determination
Date(s):

@) BKBM Determination: ~ [Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this

Paragraph)
1) Relevant [Auckland and Wellington]
Financial
Centre:
(ii) Interest [ ]
Determination
Date(s):
G Linear Interpolation: [Not Applicable][Applicable — the Rate of Interest for the
[long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated using
Linear Interpolation (specify for each short or long interest
period)]
k) Margin(s): [+/-]1 ] per cent. per annum
Q) Minimum Rate of [[ ] per cent. per annum][Not Applicable]
Interest:
(m) Maximum Rate of |[[ ] per cent. per annum][Not Applicable]
Interest:
(n) Day Count Fraction: [[Actual/Actual ISDA)] [Actual/Actual]

Actual/365 (Fixed)

Actual/365 (Sterling)
Actual/360

[30/360] [360/360] [Bond Basis]
[30E/360] [Eurobond Basis]
30E/360 (ISDA)

RBA Bond Basis

Australian Bond Basis

[Other]
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(o)

(p)

Interest Amounts Non-
Adjusted:

Fallback provisions,
rounding provisions
and any other terms
relating to the method
of calculating interest
on Floating Rate Notes
which are  Exempt
Notes, if different from
those set out in the
Conditions:

18. Zero Coupon Note Provisions:

(a)
(b)
©

(d)

Accrual Yield:
Reference Price:

Any other
formula/basis of
determining amount
payable  for  Zero
Coupon Notes which
are Exempt Notes:

Day Count Fraction in
relation to Early
Redemption Amounts:

19. Index Linked Interest Note

Provisions:

(a) Index/Formula:

(b) Calculation Agent:

© Party responsible for
calculating the Rate of
Interest (if not the
Calculation Agent) and
Interest Amount (if not
the Agent):

(d) Provisions for
determining ~ Coupon

where calculation by
reference to  Index
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(See Condition 5.7 for alternatives)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the

remaining subparagraphs of this Paragraph)
[ ] per cent. per annum

[ ]

[ ]

[30/360]

[Actual/360]

[Actual/365]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

[give or annex details)

[give name]

[ ]

[need to include a description of market disruption or settlement
disruption events and adjustment provisions]
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(e

®

(2)

(h)

®

@
k)

and/or Formula is
impossible or
impracticable:

Specified
Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

Business
Convention:

Day

Additional
Centre(s):

Business

Minimum  Rate  of

Interest:

Maximum Rate of
Interest:

Day Count Fraction:

Interest Amounts Non-
Adjusted:

20. Dual Currency Interest Note
Provisions:

(a)

(b)

(©

(d)

Rate of
Exchange/method of
calculating Rate of
Exchange:

Party, if any,
responsible for
calculating the principal
and/or interest due (if
not the Agent):

Provisions  applicable
where calculation by
reference to Rate of
Exchange impossible or
impracticable:

Person at whose option
Specified Currency(ies)
is/are payable:
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[Floating  Rate = Convention/Following  Business  Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/Specify other]

[ ] [Not Applicable]

[ ] per cent. per annum

[ ] per cent. per annum

[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this

Paragraph)

[give or annex details)

[need to include a description of market disruption or settlement
disruption events and adjustment provisions]
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PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

21.

22.

23.

24.

Notice periods for
Condition 7.2:

Issuer Call:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Optional Redemption
Date(s):
Optional Redemption

Amount and method, if
any, of calculation of
such amount(s):

If redeemable in part:

1) Minimum
Redemption
Amount:

(i1) Maximum
Redemption

Amount:

Notice periods:

Regulatory Event Call in
respect of Subordinated Notes:

Notice periods:

Investor Put:
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Minimum period: [30/[ ]] days
Maximum period: [[60/[ ]] days] [Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

[ ]

([ ] per Calculation Amount/Specify other/see Appendix]
[(subject to Condition 10A.2A) (include in the case of
Subordinated Notes only, if applicable))

Minimum period: [5/[ ]] days
Maximum period: [10/[ ]] days

(N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised to
consider the practicalities of distribution of information through
intermediaries, for example, clearing systems (which require a
minimum of 5 clearing system business days’ notice for a call)
and custodians, as well as any other notice requirements which
may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent or
Trustee)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraph of this
Paragraph)

Minimum period: [specify] days
Maximum period: [specify] days
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)
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(a) Optional Redemption
Date(s):

(b) Optional Redemption
Amount and method, if
any, of calculation of
such amount(s):

(c) Notice periods:

25. Final Redemption Amount:

26. Early Redemption Amount
payable on redemption for
taxation reasons or on event of
default and/or the method of
calculating the same (if required
or if different from that set out
in Condition 7.5):

1l ] per Calculation Amount/Specify other/see Appendix]

Minimum period: [/5/[ ]] days
Maximum period: [30/[ ]] days

(N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised to
consider the practicalities of distribution of information through
intermediaries, for example, clearing systems (which require a
minimum of 15 clearing system business days’ notice for a put)
and custodians, as well as any other notice requirements which
may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent or
Trustee)

([ ] per Calculation Amount/Specify other/see Appendix]
[(subject to Condition 10A.2A) (include in the case of
Subordinated Notes only, if applicable))

i ] per Calculation Amount/Condition 7.5 applies/Specify
other/see Appendix] [(subject to Condition 10A.2A) (include in
the case of Subordinated Notes only, if applicable)]

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

27. Any applicable Tax
Jurisdiction:

28. (a) Form of Notes:

0083121-0000407 ICM:33574037.13

[Give details][Not Applicable] (N.B. See Condition 8)

[Bearer Notes:

[Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent
Bearer Global Note which is exchangeable for Definitive Bearer
Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an
Exchange Event].]

[Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for Definitive
Bearer Notes on and after the Exchange Date.]

[Permanent Bearer Global Note exchangeable for Definitive
Bearer Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an
Exchange Event/at any time at the request of the Issuer].]

(Ensure that this is consistent with the wording in the "Form of

the Notes" section in the Offering Circular and the Notes
themselves.)
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(b) New Global Note:

29. Additional Financial Centre(s):

30. Talons for future Coupons or
Receipts to be attached to
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[Registered Notes:

Regulation S Global Note (U.S.$[ ] nominal amount) registered
in the name of a nominee for [DTC/a sub-custodian for the
CMU/a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg/a common safekeeper for FEuroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg (and held under the NSS)]/Rule 144A
Global Note (U.S.$[ ] nominal amount) registered in the
name of a nominee for [DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear
and Clearstream, Luxembourg/a common safekeeper for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (and held under the
NSS)] (specify nominal amounts))

(It is anticipated that all Registered Notes issued by NAB, BNZ or
BNZ-IF under the Programme will be registered in the name of a
common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
and/or in the name of a nominee for DTC and/or a sub-custodian
for the CMU, because Registered Notes issued by NAB, BNZ or
BNZ-IF do not currently satisfy the ECB's Eurosystem eligibility
criteria and, accordingly, cannot be recognised as eligible
collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit
operations.)

(Ensure that this is consistent with the wording in the "Form of
the Notes" section in the Offering Circular and the Notes
themselves. NB: The exchange event upon notice/at any time
options should not be expressed to be applicable if the Specified
Denomination of the Notes in Paragraph 6 includes language
substantially to the following effect: "[€100,000] and integral
multiples of [€1,000] in excess thereof up to and including
[€199,000]."  Furthermore, such Specified Denomination
construction is not permitted in relation to any issue of Notes
which is to be represented on issue by a Temporary Bearer
Global Note exchangeable for a Definitive Bearer Note.)

[Yes] [No]

[t is anticipated that all Bearer Notes issued by NAB, BNZ or
BNZ-IF under the Programme will not be issued in NGN form
and will be deposited with a sub-custodian for the CMU or a
common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.
Bearer Notes issued by NAB, BNZ or BNZ-IF do not currently
satisfy the ECB's Eurosystem eligibility criteria and, accordingly,
cannot be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations.]

[Not Applicable/give details]
(Note that this Paragraph relates to the date of payment and not
the end dates of Interest Periods for the purposes of calculating

the amount of interest, to which sub-paragraph 17(c) relates.)

[Yes, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon payments, Talons
may be required if, on exchange into definitive form, more than
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Definitive Bearer Notes: 27 coupon payments are still to be made/No]

31. Details relating to Partly Paid [Not Applicable/give details. N.B. A new form of Temporary
Notes: amount of each payment Bearer Global Note and/or Permanent Bearer Global Note may
comprising the Issue Price and be required for Partly Paid issues)
date on which each payment is
to be made and consequences
(if any) of failure to pay,
including any right of the Issuer
to forfeit the Notes and interest
due on late payment:

32. Details relating to Instalment [Applicable/Not Applicable]

Notes:
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

(a) Instalment Amount(s): [give details]

(b) Instalment Date(s): [give details]

33. Additional United States [Not Applicable/provide additional disclosure if necessary or
Federal Income Tax Disclosure: desired, e.g., in the case of a reopening of Notes.]

34. Other terms or  special [Not Applicable/give details]
conditions:

[THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

[Relevant third party information] has been extracted from [specify source]. [Each of the] [The] Issuer [and
the Guarantor]| confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware
and is able to ascertain from information published by [specify source], no facts have been omitted which
would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.]

Signed on behalf of [insert name of Issuer]: [Signed on behalf of Bank of New Zealand:
By e By e
Duly authorised Duly authorised

By:

Duly authorised]

0083121-0000407 ICM:33574037.13 107



PART B—OTHER INFORMATION

1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

[Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on
[the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's Euro MTF Market and listed on the official list of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange] [other] with effect from [ ].] [Application is expected to be made by
the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange Euro MTF Market and listed on the official list of the [Luxembourg Stock Exchange]
[other] with effect from [ ].] [Not Applicable.]

(When documenting a fungible issue, need to indicate that original Notes are already admitted to

trading.)
2. RATINGS
Ratings: [The Notes to be issued [[have been]/[are expected
to be]] rated [insert details] by [insert the legal
name of the vrelevant credit rating agency
entity(ies)] [Not Applicable] [The following ratings
reflect ratings assigned to Notes of this type issued
under the Programme generally: [specify ratings
and rating agencies]
3. INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE

[Save for any fees payable to the [Managers/Dealers], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person
involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. The [Managers/Dealers] and
[its/their] affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or
commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer [and the
Guarantor] and [its/their] affiliates in the ordinary course of business. — Amend as appropriate if
there are other interests|

4. [YIELD (Fixed Rate Notes only)
Indication of yield: [ ][Not Applicable]]
5. [USE OF PROCEEDS
Use of Proceeds: [ ]
(Only required if the use of proceeds is different to
that stated in the Offering Circular)]
6. OPERATIONAL INFORMATION
(a) ISIN: [ ]
(b) Common Code: [ ]
(c) CFI: [[See/[[include code], as updated, as set out on] the

website of the Association of National Numbering
Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the
responsible National Numbering Agency that
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(d  FISN:

(e) [CMU Instrument Number:]

®) [CUSIP/CINS/
number:]

Other  securities

(2) Any clearing system(s) other than
[Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg,] [CMU Service] [and
DTC] [delete as applicable] and the
relevant identification number(s):

(h) Delivery:

1) Name(s) and

address(es) of

additional Paying Agent(s) (if any):

€)] Deemed delivery of clearing system
notices for the purposes of Condition

14:

(k) Intended to be
which  would
eligibility:
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held in a manner
allow Eurosystem
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assigned the ISIN/Not Applicable/Not Available]

[[See/[[include code], as updated, as set out on] the
website of the Association of National Numbering
Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the
responsible National Numbering Agency that
assigned the ISIN/Not Applicable/Not Available]

[ ]

(Only applicable for Notes held through the CMU
Service)

[Insert here any other relevant codes such as
CUSIP and CINS codes and renumber accordingly]

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)]

Delivery [against/free of] payment

[ ][Not Applicable]

[Any notice delivered to Noteholders through
[Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg]
[and/or DTC] [and/or the persons shown in a CMU
Instrument Position Report issued by the CMU
Service] will be deemed to have been given on the
[day]/[[second] day after the day] on which it was
given to [Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, ]
[DTC] [or the persons shown in a CMU Instrument
Position Report issued by the CMU Service,] [as
applicable].]

[Yes. Note that the designation "yes" simply means
that the Notes are intended upon issue to be
deposited with one of the ICSDs as common
safekeeper [(and registered in the name of a
nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as a common
safekeeper)] [include this text for Registered Notes]
and does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be
recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by
the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all
times during their life. Such recognition will depend
upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem
eligibility criteria have been met.]

[No. Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at
the date of these Final Terms, should the
Eurosystem eligibility criteria be amended in the



7. DISTRIBUTION
(a) Method of distribution:
(b) If syndicated, names of Managers:

(c) Stabilisation Manager(s) (if any):

(d) If non-syndicated, name of relevant

Dealer:

(e) U.S. Selling Restrictions:

€3] The Republic of Korea (Korea)
Selling Restrictions:
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future such that the Notes are capable of meeting
them the Notes may then be deposited with one of
the ICSDs as common safekeeper [(and registered
in the name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs
acting as common safekeeper)][include this text for
Registered Notes]. Note that this does not
necessarily mean that the Notes will then be
recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra day credit operations by
the Eurosystem at any time during their life. Such
recognition will depend upon the European Central
Bank being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility
criteria have been met.]] [include this text if "no"
selected]

[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]
[Not Applicable/give names]

[Not Applicable/give name]

[Not Applicable/give name]

Reg. S Compliance Category [1/2/3]; [TEFRA
D/TEFRA C/TEFRA not applicable]

[Not Applicable/The Notes have not been and will
not be registered for public offering under the
Financial Investments Services and Capital Markets
Act of Korea (the FSCMA). Accordingly, (i) the
Notes shall not be offered to 50 or more residents in
Korea (as defined in the Foreign Exchange
Transactions Law of Korea (FETL) and its
Enforcement Decree), and (ii) the number of Notes
(where, for this purpose, the minimum Specified
Denomination specified in these Final Terms shall
constitute one Note) offered in Korea or to a
resident in Korea shall be less than 50. Furthermore,
the Notes shall not be divided or redenominated
within 1 year from the issuance. Except for the
Notes offered in Korea or to a resident in Korea in
accordance with the aforementioned restriction,
none of the Notes may be offered, sold and
delivered directly or indirectly, or offered or sold to
any person for re-offering or resale, directly or
indirectly, in Korea or to any resident of Korea
within 1 year from the issuance of the Notes, except
pursuant to the applicable laws and regulations of
Korea.

Furthermore, by purchasing the Notes, each
Noteholder will be deemed to represent, warrant



(2) Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail

Investors:

(h) Additional selling restrictions:

1) Prohibition of Sales
Consumers:

to Belgian

and agree that it shall comply with all applicable
regulatory requirements (including but not limited
to requirements under the FETL) in connection with
the purchase of the Notes.’]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute “packaged”
products or the Notes do constitute “packaged”
products and a key information document will be
prepared, “Not Applicable” should be specified. If
the Notes may constitute “packaged” products and
no key information document will be prepared,
“Applicable” should be specified.)

[Not Applicable/give details]

(Additional selling restrictions are only likely to be
relevant for certain structured Notes, such as
commodity-linked Notes)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(N.B. advice should be taken from Belgian counsel
before disapplying this selling restriction)

5 Only applicable for Notes offered into Korea otherwise state 'Not Applicable'.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes which will be incorporated by reference into each
Global Note (as defined below) and each definitive Note, in the latter case only if permitted by the relevant
stock exchange or other relevant authority (if any) and agreed by the Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of
Guaranteed Senior Notes) and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue but, if not so permitted and agreed,
such definitive Note will have endorsed thereon or attached thereto such Terms and Conditions. The
applicable Final Terms in relation to any Tranche of Notes may, in respect of an Exempt Note, specify other
terms and conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with the following
Terms and Conditions, replace or modify the following Terms and Conditions for the purpose of such Notes.
The applicable Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) will be endorsed upon, or attached to, each
Global Note and definitive Note. Reference should be made to "applicable Final Terms" for a description of
the content of Final Terms which will specify which of such terms are to apply in relation to the relevant
Notes.

This Note is one of a Series (as defined below) of Notes issued by National Australia Bank Limited (ABN 12
004 044 937) (NAB), Bank of New Zealand (BNZ) or BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through
its London Branch (BNZ-IF) (each an Issuer and together, the Issuers) constituted by a Trust Deed (such
Trust Deed as modified and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the Trust Deed) dated 17
March 2005 made between NAB as Issuer and Deutsche Trustee Company Limited (the Trustee, which
expression shall include any successor as Trustee). By a First Supplemental Trust Deed dated 17 October
2005 and made between, amongst others, NAB, BNZ-IF, BNZ as guarantor of Notes issued by BNZ-IF (the
Guarantor) and the Trustee, BNZ-IF became an Issuer under the Programme (as defined in the Trust Deed)
and, by a Twentieth Supplemental Trust Deed dated 21 November 2018 and made between NAB, BNZ-IF,
BNZ (as an Issuer and as the Guarantor) and the Trustee, BNZ became an Issuer under the Programme.
Notes issued by BNZ-IF (Guaranteed Senior Notes) will be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by
the Guarantor under a guarantee set out in the Trust Deed (the Guarantee).

References herein to the Issuer shall be references to the party specified as Issuer in the applicable Final
Terms for this Note.

References herein to the Notes shall be references to the Notes of this Series and shall mean:

(a) in relation to any Notes represented by a global Note (a Global Note), units of each Specified
Denomination in the Specified Currency;

(b) any Global Note;

(c) any definitive Notes in bearer form (Bearer Notes) issued in exchange for a Global Note in bearer
form; and
(d) any definitive Notes in registered form (Registered Notes) (whether or not issued in exchange for a

Global Note in registered form).

The Notes, the Receipts (as defined below) and the Coupons (as defined below) have the benefit of an
Amended and Restated Agency Agreement (as amended and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to
time, the Agency Agreement) dated 20 November 2019 and made between NAB, BNZ-IF, BNZ (as an
Issuer and as the Guarantor), the Trustee, Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch as issuing and principal
paying agent and agent bank (the Principal Paying Agent or Agent, which expression shall include any
successor agent) and as exchange agent (the Exchange Agent, which expression shall include any successor
exchange agent) and the other paying agents named therein (together with the Agent, the Paying Agents,
which expression shall include any additional or successor paying agents), Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong
Branch as CMU lodging agent (the CMU Lodging Agent, which expression shall include any successor
CMU lodging agent), Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas as registrar (together with the other
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registrars named therein, the Registrar, which expression shall include any additional or successor
registrars) and as transfer agent and the other transfer agents named therein (together with the Registrar, the
Transfer Agents, which expression shall include any additional or successor transfer agents). For the
purposes of these Terms and Conditions, all references (other than in relation to the determination of interest
and other amounts payable in respect of the Notes) to the Principal Paying Agent or Agent shall, with respect
to a Series of Notes to be held in the CMU Service (as defined below), be deemed to be a reference to the
CMU Lodging Agent to the extent necessary for enabling the CMU Lodging Agent to fully observe and
perform its obligations under the CMU Rules (as defined in the Trust Deed) and all such references shall be
construed accordingly.

Interest bearing definitive Notes have interest coupons (Coupons) and, in the case of Notes which, when
issued in definitive form, have more than 27 interest payments remaining, talons for further Coupons
(Talons) attached on issue. Any reference herein to Coupons or coupons shall, unless the context otherwise
requires, be deemed to include a reference to Talons or talons. Definitive Bearer Notes repayable in
instalments have receipts (Receipts) for the payment of the instalments of principal (other than the final
instalment) attached on issue. Registered Notes and Global Notes do not have Receipts, Coupons or Talons
attached on issue.

The Final Terms for this Note (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set out in Part A of the Final Terms
attached to or endorsed on this Note which complete these Terms and Conditions (the Conditions) and, in
the case of a Note which is neither admitted to trading on a regulated market in the European Economic Area
nor offered in the European Economic Area in circumstances where a prospectus is required to be published
under the Prospectus Regulation (an Exempt Note), may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to
the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with the Conditions, replace or modify the Conditions for
the purposes of this Note. References to the applicable Final Terms are, unless otherwise stated, to Part A
of the Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) attached to or endorsed on this Note.

The Final Terms for each Tranche of Notes (other than Notes issued with a minimum denomination of less
than Euro 100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency)) will state in particular whether the Notes of that
Tranche are (i) in the case of Notes issued by NAB or BNZ, senior Notes (Senior Notes), or (ii) in the case
of Notes issued by NAB only, term subordinated Notes (Subordinated Notes), or (iii) in the case of Notes
issued by BNZ-IF only, Guaranteed Senior Notes. The Final Terms for each Tranche of Notes issued with a
minimum denomination of less than Euro 100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) will be issued as
Senior Notes or Guaranteed Senior Notes.

The expression Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129.

Any reference to Noteholders or holders in relation to any Notes shall mean (in the case of Bearer Notes)
the bearers for the time being of the Notes and (in the case of Registered Notes) the persons in whose name
the Notes for the time being are registered and shall, in relation to any Notes represented by a Global Note,
be construed as provided below. Any reference herein to Receiptholders shall mean the bearers for the time
being of the Receipts and any reference herein to Couponholders shall mean the bearers for the time being
of the Coupons and shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include the bearers for the time being of the
Talons. The Trustee acts for the benefit of the Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders in
accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed.

As used herein, Tranche means Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing or admission
to trading) and Series means a Tranche of Notes together with any further Tranche or Tranches of Notes
which (a) are expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and (b) have the same terms and
conditions or terms and conditions which are the same in all respects save for the Issue Date, the Issue Price,
the amount and date of the first payment of interest thereon and the date from which interest starts to accrue.

Copies of the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement are available for inspection during normal business

hours at the registered office for the time being of the Trustee being at Winchester House, 1 Great
Winchester Street, London EC2N 2DB and at the specified office of each of the Agent, the Registrar, the
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Exchange Agent and the other Paying Agents and Transfer Agents (such Agents and the Registrar being
together referred to as the Agents). If the Notes are to be admitted to trading on the regulated market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange pursuant to the Prospectus Regulation or on the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange's Euro MTF Market, the applicable Final Terms will be published on the website of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu). If this Note is an Exempt Note, the applicable Final Terms
will only be obtainable by a Noteholder holding one or more Notes and such Noteholder must produce
evidence satisfactory to the Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor and the Trustee
or, as the case may be, the relevant Agent as to its holding of such Notes and identity. The Noteholders, the
Receiptholders and the Couponholders are deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the
provisions of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Guarantee (in the case of Guaranteed Senior
Notes) and the applicable Final Terms which are applicable to them. The statements in the Conditions
include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed and the Agency
Agreement.

Words and expressions defined in the Trust Deed or the Agency Agreement or used in the applicable Final
Terms shall have the same meanings where used in the Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or
unless otherwise stated and provided that, in the event of inconsistency between the Trust Deed and the
Agency Agreement, the Trust Deed will prevail and, in the event of inconsistency between the Trust Deed or
the Agency Agreement and the applicable Final Terms, the applicable Final Terms will prevail.

1. FORM, DENOMINATION AND TITLE

The Notes are in bearer form or in registered form as specified in the applicable Final Terms and, in the case
of definitive Notes, serially numbered, in the currency (the Specified Currency) and the denominations (the
Specified Denomination(s)) specified in the applicable Final Terms. Notes of one Specified Denomination
may not be exchanged for Notes of another Specified Denomination and Bearer Notes may not be exchanged
for Registered Notes and vice versa.

This Note may be a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note or a Zero Coupon Note, or a combination of any
of the foregoing, depending upon the Interest Basis shown in the applicable Final Terms.

If this Note is an Exempt Note, this Note may also be an Index Linked Interest Note, a Dual Currency
Interest Note or a combination of any of the foregoing, depending upon the Interest Basis shown in the
applicable Final Terms.

If this Note is an Exempt Note, this Note may also be an Index Linked Redemption Note, an Instalment
Note, a Dual Currency Redemption Note, a Partly Paid Note or a combination of any of the foregoing,
depending upon the Redemption/Payment Basis shown in the applicable Final Terms.

Notes issued as Subordinated Notes must not be Zero Coupon Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes, Dual
Currency Interest Notes, Index Linked Redemption Notes, Partly Paid Notes, Instalment Notes, Dual
Currency Redemption Notes or any combination of any of the foregoing.

Definitive Bearer Notes are issued with Coupons attached, unless they are Zero Coupon Notes, in which case
references to Coupons and Couponholders in the Conditions are not applicable.

Subject as set out below, title to the Bearer Notes, Receipts and Coupons will pass by delivery and title to the
Registered Notes will pass upon registration of transfers in accordance with the provisions of the Agency
Agreement. The Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes), the Agents and the Trustee
will (except as otherwise required by law) deem and treat the bearer of any Bearer Note, Receipt or Coupon
and the registered holder of any Registered Note as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not overdue and
notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof)
for all purposes but, in the case of any Global Note, without prejudice to the provisions set out in the next
succeeding paragraph.
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For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear Bank SA/NV
(Euroclear) and/or Clearstream Banking S.A. (Clearstream, Luxembourg) and/or a sub-custodian for the
Central Moneymarkets Unit Service operated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (the CMU Service),
each person (other than Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Service) who is for the time being
shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Service as the holder of a
particular nominal amount of such Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by
Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Service as to the nominal amount of such Notes standing
to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest
error) shall be treated by the Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes), the Agents and
the Trustee as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes for all purposes other than with respect to
the payment of principal or interest on such nominal amount of such Notes, for which purpose the bearer of
the relevant Bearer Global Note or the registered holder of the relevant Registered Global Note shall be
treated by the Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes), any Agent and the Trustee as
the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant
Global Note and the expressions Noteholder and holder of Notes and related expressions shall be construed
accordingly. Notwithstanding the above, if a Note is held through the CMU Service, any payment that is
made in respect of such Note shall be made at the direction of the bearer or at the direction of the registered
holder (to whose order such payments are to be made) to the person(s) for whose account(s) interests in such
Note are credited as being held through the CMU Service in accordance with the CMU Rules at the relevant
time as notified to the CMU Lodging Agent by the CMU Service in a relevant CMU Instrument Position
Report or any other relevant notification by the CMU Service (which notification, in either case, shall be
conclusive evidence of the records of the CMU Service as to the identity of any accountholder and the
principal amount of any Note credited to its account, save in the case of manifest error) (CMU
Accountholders) and such payments shall discharge the obligation of the Issuer in respect of that payment
under such Note. In determining whether a particular person is entitled to a particular nominal amount of
Notes as aforesaid, the Trustee may rely on such evidence and/or information and/or certification as it shall,
in its absolute discretion, think fit and, if it does so rely, such evidence and/or information and/or
certification shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding on all concerned.

For so long as The Depository Trust Company (DTC) or its nominee is the registered owner or holder of a
Registered Global Note, DTC or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or
holder of the Notes represented by such Registered Global Note for all purposes under the Trust Deed and
the Notes except to the extent that in accordance with DTC's published rules and procedures any ownership
rights may be exercised by its participants or beneficial owners through participants.

Notes which are represented by a Global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and
procedures for the time being of DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and the CMU Service, as the
case may be. References to DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or the CMU Service shall,
whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing
system specified in the applicable Final Terms or as may otherwise be approved by the Issuer, the Guarantor
(in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes), the Agent and the Trustee.

2. TRANSFERS OF REGISTERED NOTES
(@ Transfers of interests in Registered Global Notes

Transfers of beneficial interests in Registered Global Notes will be effected by DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream,
Luxembourg or the CMU Service, as the case may be, and, in turn, by other participants and, if appropriate,
indirect participants in such clearing systems acting on behalf of beneficial transferors and transferees of
such interests. A beneficial interest in a Registered Global Note will, subject to compliance with all
applicable legal and regulatory restrictions, be transferable for Notes in definitive form or for a beneficial
interest in another Registered Global Note only in the authorised denominations set out in the applicable
Final Terms and only in accordance with the rules and operating procedures for the time being of DTC,
Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Service, as the case may be, and in accordance with the
terms and conditions specified in the Agency Agreement. Transfers of a Registered Global Note registered in
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the name of a nominee for DTC shall be limited to transfers of such Registered Global Note, in whole but
not in part, to another nominee of DTC or to a successor of DTC or such successor's nominee.

(b) Transfers of Registered Notes in definitive form

Subject as provided in paragraphs (c), (e) and (f) below, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set
forth in the Agency Agreement, a Registered Note in definitive form may be transferred in whole or in part
(in the authorised denominations set out in the applicable Final Terms). In order to effect any such transfer
(1) the holder or holders must (A) surrender the Registered Note for registration of the transfer of the
Registered Note (or the relevant part of the Registered Note) at the specified office of the Registrar or any
Transfer Agent, with the form of transfer thereon duly executed by the holder or holders thereof or its or
their attorney or attorneys duly authorised in writing and (B) complete and deposit such other certifications
as may be required by the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent and (ii) the Registrar
or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent must, after due and careful enquiry, be satisfied with the
documents of title and the identity of the person making the request. Any such transfer will be subject to
such reasonable regulations as the Issuer and the Registrar may from time to time prescribe (the initial such
regulations being set out in Schedule 4 to the Agency Agreement). Subject as provided above, the Registrar
or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent will, within three business days (being for this purpose a
day on which banks are open for business in the city where the specified office of the Registrar or, as the
case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent is located) of the request (or such longer period as may be required
to comply with any applicable fiscal or other laws or regulations), authenticate and deliver, or procure the
authentication and delivery of, at its specified office to the transferee or (at the risk of the transferee) send by
uninsured mail, to such address as the transferee may request, a new Registered Note in definitive form of a
like aggregate nominal amount to the Registered Note (or the relevant part of the Registered Note)
transferred. In the case of the transfer of part only of a Registered Note in definitive form, a new Registered
Note in definitive form in respect of the balance of the Registered Note not transferred will be so
authenticated and delivered or (at the risk of the transferor) sent to the transferor.

© Registration of transfer upon partial redemption

In the event of a partial redemption of Notes under Condition 7, the Issuer shall not be required to register
the transfer of any Registered Note, or part of a Registered Note, called for partial redemption.

(d) Costs of registration

Noteholders will not be required to bear the costs and expenses of effecting any registration of transfer as
provided above, except for any costs or expenses of delivery other than by regular uninsured mail and except
that the Issuer may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp duty, tax or other
governmental charge that may be imposed in relation to the registration.

(e) Transfers of interests in Regulation S Global Notes

Prior to expiry of the applicable Distribution Compliance Period, transfers by the holder of, or of a beneficial
interest in, a Regulation S Global Note to a transferee in the United States or who is a U.S. person will only
be made upon receipt by the Registrar of a written certification substantially in the form set out in the
Agency Agreement, amended as appropriate (a Transfer Certificate), copies of which are available from
the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, from the transferor of the Note or beneficial
interest therein to the effect that such transfer is being made to a person whom the transferor reasonably
believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A and in accordance with any
applicable securities laws of any state of the United States or any other jurisdiction.

In the circumstances set out in this Condition 2(e), such transferee may take delivery through a Legended

Note in global or definitive form. After expiry of the applicable Distribution Compliance Period (i)
beneficial interests in Regulation S Global Notes registered in the name of a nominee for DTC may be held
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through DTC directly, by a participant in DTC, or indirectly through a participant in DTC and (ii) such
certification requirements will no longer apply to such transfers.

® Transfers of interests in Legended Notes
Transfers of Legended Notes or beneficial interests therein may be made:

6))] to a transferee who takes delivery of such interest through a Regulation S Global Note, upon receipt
by the Registrar of a duly completed Transfer Certificate from the transferor to the effect that such
transfer is being made in accordance with Regulation S and that in the case of a Regulation S Global
Note registered in the name of a nominee for DTC, if such transfer is being made prior to expiry of
the applicable Distribution Compliance Period, the interests in the Notes being transferred will be
held immediately thereafter through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or the CMU
Service; or

(i1) to a transferee who takes delivery of such interest through a Legended Note where the transferee is a
person whom the transferor reasonably believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements
of Rule 144A, without certification; or

(iii) otherwise pursuant to the Securities Act or an exemption therefrom, subject to receipt by the Issuer
of such satisfactory evidence as the Issuer may reasonably require, which may include an opinion of
U.S. counsel, that such transfer is in compliance with any applicable securities laws of any State of
the United States,

and, in each case, in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States or any
other jurisdiction.

Upon the transfer, exchange or replacement of Legended Notes, or upon specific request for removal of the
Legend, the Registrar shall deliver only Legended Notes or refuse to remove the Legend, as the case may be,
unless there is delivered to the Issuer such satisfactory evidence as may reasonably be required by the Issuer,
which may include an opinion of U.S. counsel, that neither the Legend nor the restrictions on transfer set
forth therein are required to ensure compliance with the provisions of the Securities Act.

(2) Definitions

In this Condition, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

Distribution Compliance Period means the period that ends 40 days after the completion of the distribution
of each Tranche of Notes, as certified by the relevant Dealer (in the case of a non-syndicated issue) or the

relevant Lead Manager (in the case of a syndicated issue);

Legended Note means Registered Notes (whether in definitive form or represented by a Registered Global
Note) sold in private transactions to QIBs in accordance with the requirements of Rule 144A;

QIB means a qualified institutional buyer within the meaning of Rule 144A;
Regulation S means Regulation S under the Securities Act;

Regulation S Global Note means a Registered Global Note representing Notes sold outside the United
States in reliance on Regulation S;

Rule 144A means Rule 144 A under the Securities Act;

Rule 144A Global Note means a Registered Global Note representing Notes sold in the United States to
QIBs; and
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Securities Act means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

3. STATUS OF THE SENIOR NOTES AND GUARANTEED SENIOR NOTES AND
SUBORDINATION

The applicable Final Terms (other than Notes issued with a minimum denomination of less than Euro
100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency)) will indicate whether the Notes are, in the case of Notes
issued by NAB, Senior Notes or Subordinated Notes, in the case of Notes issued by BNZ, Senior Notes or, in
the case of Notes issued by BNZ-IF, Guaranteed Senior Notes. The applicable Final Terms for Notes issued
with a minimum denomination of less than Euro 100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) will
indicate whether the Notes are to be issued by NAB or BNZ as Senior Notes or, in the case of Notes issued
by BNZ-IF, as Guaranteed Senior Notes.

NAB is an "authorised deposit-taking institution" (ADI) for the purposes of the Banking Act 1959 of
Australia (Banking Act) in Australia. Accordingly, but without limitation to the other mandatory priority
provisions of the Banking Act or the Reserve Bank Act 1959 of Australia or to other applicable laws, section
13A of Division 2 of Part Il of the Banking Act provides that, in the event NAB becomes unable to meet its
obligations or suspends payment, its assets in Australia are available to meet specified liabilities in Australia
in priority to all other liabilities of NAB (including Notes issued by NAB). These specified liabilities include
obligations of NAB in respect of protected accounts (as defined in the Banking Act), debts due to the Reserve
Bank of Australia (the RBA) and certain debts due to the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority
(APRA). Certain assets, such as the assets of NAB in a cover pool for a covered bond issued by NAB, are
excluded from constituting assets in Australia for the purposes of section 13A of the Banking Act and these
assets are subject to the prior claims of the holders of such covered bonds and certain other secured
creditors in respect of the covered bonds.

The claims which are preferred by law to the claims of a Noteholder in respect of a Note issued by NAB,
including without limitation under the Banking Act provisions referred to above, will include most deposits,
will be substantial and are not limited by these Conditions. NAB's assets which are excluded from
constituting assets in Australia and which are subject to prior claims in connection with covered bonds as
described above may also be substantial. In addition, future changes to applicable law may extend the debts
required to be preferred by law or the assets to be excluded.

The Notes are not deposit liabilities or protected accounts of NAB for the purposes of the Banking Act and
are not insured by any government, government agency or compensation scheme of Australia or any other
Jjurisdiction or by any other party. Notes issued by NAB are not guaranteed by any person.

3.1 Status of the Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes

The Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes and any relative Receipts and Coupons are unsubordinated,
direct and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank pari passu with all other unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer (other than any obligation preferred by mandatory provisions of
applicable law including (in respect of NAB only) but not limited to those referred in Division 2 of Part II of
the Banking Act 1959 of Australia (Banking Act) and section 86 of the Reserve Bank Act 1959 of
Australia).

3.2 Subordination—NAB

The provisions of, and the defined terms contained within, this Condition 3.2 only apply to Subordinated
Notes.

(a) Subordinated Notes are direct, unsecured obligations of NAB and are subordinate to the claims of all

Senior Creditors (as defined below) of NAB in right of payment of principal of and interest on such
Subordinated Notes with respect to the assets of NAB in the event of a Winding Up of NAB.
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(b) At any time prior to the Winding Up of NAB in Australia:

@) payments by NAB of principal and interest or any other amount owing to a Noteholder or
the Trustee in connection with the Subordinated Notes are conditional upon NAB being
Solvent at the time those payments fall due; and

(i1) NAB must not pay an amount owing to a Noteholder or the Trustee in connection with the
Subordinated Notes except to the extent that NAB may pay such amount and still be Solvent
immediately after doing so,

provided that this provision shall not affect or prejudice the payment of costs, charges, expenses, liabilities,
indemnities or remuneration of or to the Trustee or the rights and remedies of the Trustee in respect thereof.

Subordinated Notes rank in a Winding Up of NAB behind all claims of Senior Creditors, pari passu among
themselves, and subject to Condition 10A, pari passu with Equal Ranking Instruments and ahead of Junior
Ranking Instruments.

In a Winding Up of NAB a Noteholder's claim for an amount owing by NAB in connection with a
Subordinated Note is subordinated to the claims of Senior Creditors of NAB, in that:

x) all claims of Senior Creditors must be paid in full before the Noteholder's claim is paid; and

) until the Senior Creditors have been paid in full, the Noteholder must not claim in the Winding Up
of NAB in competition with the Senior Creditors so as to diminish any distribution, dividend or
payment which, but for that claim, the Senior Creditors would have been entitled to receive.

The Subordinated Notes will not contain any limitations on the amount of senior debt, deposits or other
obligations that may be hereafter incurred or assumed by NAB.

Each Noteholder irrevocably acknowledges and agrees that this Condition 3.2 is a debt subordination for the
purposes of section 563C of the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia (the Corporations Act). Each
Noteholder irrevocably acknowledges and agrees that the debt subordination effected by this Condition 3.2 is
not affected by any act or omission of NAB or a Senior Creditor which might otherwise affect it at law or in
equity.

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, a holder of a Subordinated Note and any related Receipts
and Coupons shall not have any right to set-off any amounts owing to it by NAB in connection with that
Subordinated Note against any amount owing by it to NAB in connection with the Subordinated Notes or
otherwise and NAB shall not have any right to set-off any amounts owing by it to the holder in connection
with that Subordinated Note against any amount owing by the holder to it in connection with the
Subordinated Notes or otherwise.

Each Noteholder must not exercise its voting rights as an unsecured creditor in the Winding Up or
administration of NAB to defeat the subordination in this Condition 3.2. In addition, each Noteholder
irrevocably acknowledges and agrees that it must pay or deliver to the liquidator any amount or asset
received on account of its claim in the Winding Up of NAB in connection with a Subordinated Note in
excess of its entitlement under this Condition 3.2.

Nothing in this Condition 3.2 shall be taken to require the consent of any Senior Creditor to any amendment
of this Condition 3.2.

Equal Ranking Instruments means any instrument that ranks in a Winding Up of NAB as the most junior
claim in the Winding Up of NAB ranking senior to Junior Ranking Instruments and includes:
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@) the undated subordinated Floating Rate Notes issued under the trust deed dated 4 October 1986
between NAB and The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c., as amended from time to time
(except in so far as such amendment is inconsistent with such ranking); and

(ii) any other instruments issued after 1 January 2013 as Relevant Tier 2 Capital Instruments (as defined
in Condition 10A.16).

Junior Ranking Instruments means:

(6] any instrument issued as Tier 1 Capital (whether or not constituting Tier 1 Capital at the Issue Date
or at the time of commencement of the Winding Up of NAB); and

(i1) any shares (including Ordinary Shares) in the capital of NAB (other than shares issued as Tier 2
Capital),

or any claims in respect of a shareholding including claims described in sections 563AA and 563A of the
Corporations Act.

Senior Creditors means all present and future creditors of NAB (including but not limited to depositors of
NAB) whose claims:

@) would be entitled to be admitted in the Winding Up of NAB; and
(i1) are not in respect of Equal Ranking Instruments or Junior Ranking Instruments,
including creditors in respect of Subordinated Notes issued before 1 January 2013.

Winding Up means, in relation to NAB, a winding up by a court of competent jurisdiction or otherwise
under applicable law (which, in the case of Australia, includes the Corporations Act).

The Trust Deed contains further provisions to give effect to the subordination contemplated by this
Condition 3.2.

33 [This paragraph is no longer applicable]
34 Status of the Senior Guarantee

The Guarantor has in the Trust Deed unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due and punctual
payment by BNZ-IF of the principal of, and interest on, the Guaranteed Senior Notes and all other amounts
payable under or pursuant to the Trust Deed. The obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantee constitute
unsubordinated, direct and unsecured obligations of the Guarantor and will rank pari passu with all other
unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor (other than any obligation preferred by
mandatory provisions of applicable law).

4. [This paragraph is no longer applicable]
S. INTEREST

The applicable Final Terms will indicate whether the Notes are Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes or
Zero Coupon Notes or, in the case of Exempt Notes, whether a different interest basis applies.

51 Interest on Fixed Rate Notes
This Condition 5.1 applies to Fixed Rate Notes only. The applicable Final Terms contains provisions

applicable to the determination of fixed rate interest and must be read in conjunction with this Condition 5.1
for full information on the manner in which interest is calculated on Fixed Rate Notes. In particular, the
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applicable Final Terms will specify the Interest Commencement Date, the Rate(s) of Interest, the Interest
Payment Date(s), the Maturity Date, the Fixed Coupon Amount, any applicable Broken Amount, the
Calculation Amount, the Day Count Fraction and any applicable Determination Date.

Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at the rate(s) per
annum equal to the Rate(s) of Interest. Interest will be payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in
each year up to (and including) the Maturity Date.

If the Notes are in definitive form, except as provided in the applicable Final Terms, and subject to the
immediately succeeding paragraph, the amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment Date in respect
of the Fixed Interest Period ending on (but excluding) such date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount.
Payments of interest on any Interest Payment Date will, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, amount
to the Broken Amount so specified.

If "Business Day Convention—Adjusted" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, (a) any Interest
Payment Date otherwise falling on a day which is not a Business Day (as defined in Condition 5.7 below)
will be postponed or brought forward (as applicable) in accordance with the Business Day Convention set
out in the applicable Final Terms (as described below) and (b) the amount of interest payable on such
Interest Payment Date will be adjusted accordingly and the provisions of subparagraph (d) of Condition 5.2
(excluding the determination of the Rate of Interest) and (f) of Condition 5.2 below (excluding the
notification of the Rate of Interest) shall apply, mutatis mutandis, as though references to "Floating Rate
Notes" were to "Fixed Rate Notes" and references to "Interest Amounts” were to amounts of interest payable
in respect of Fixed Rate Notes.

If "Business Day Convention—Non-Adjusted" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, any Interest
Payment Date otherwise falling on a day which is not a Business Day will be postponed or brought forward
(as applicable) in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in the applicable Final Terms (as
described below) and there will be no corresponding adjustment of the amount of interest or, if applicable,
principal, payable on such Interest Payment Date.

Except in the case of Notes in definitive form where an applicable Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount
is specified in the applicable Final Terms, interest shall be calculated in respect of any period by applying the
Rate of Interest to:

(A) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are (i) represented by a Global Note or (ii) Registered Notes
in definitive form, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of (A) the Fixed Rate Notes
represented by such Global Note or (B) such Registered Notes (or, in each case, if they are Partly
Paid Notes, the aggregate amount paid up); or

(B) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are Bearer Notes in definitive form, the Calculation Amount;
and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction.

The resultant figure (including after application of any Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount, as
applicable, to the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of Fixed Rate Notes which are Registered Notes in
definitive form or the Calculation Amount in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are Bearer Notes in
definitive form) shall be rounded to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such
sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

Where the Specified Denomination of a Fixed Rate Note which is a Bearer Note in definitive form is a
multiple of the Calculation Amount, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Fixed Rate Note shall
be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the
amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination, without any
further rounding.
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5.2 Interest on Floating Rate Notes

This Condition 5.2 applies to Floating Rate Notes only. The applicable Final Terms contains provisions
applicable to the determination of floating rate interest and must be read in conjunction with this
Condition 5.2 for full information on the manner in which interest is calculated on Floating Rate Notes. In
particular, the applicable Final Terms will identify any Specified Interest Payment Dates, any Specified
Period, the Interest Commencement Date, the Business Day Convention, any Additional Business Centres,
whether ISDA Determination, Screen Rate Determination, BBSW Determination or BKBM Determination
applies to the calculation of interest, the party who will calculate the amount of interest due if it is not the
Agent, the Margin, any maximum or minimum interest rates and the Day Count Fraction. Where ISDA
Determination applies to the calculation of interest, the applicable Final Terms will also specify the
applicable Floating Rate Option, Designated Maturity and Reset Date. Where Screen Rate Determination
applies to the calculation of interest, the applicable Final Terms will also specify, inter alia, the applicable
Reference Rate, Relevant Financial Centre, Interest Determination Date(s) and Relevant Screen Page. Where
BBSW Determination or BKBM Determination applies to the calculation of interest, the applicable Final
Terms will also specify the applicable Relevant Financial Centre and Interest Determination Date(s).

(a) Interest Payment Dates

Each Floating Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and such
interest will be payable in arrear on either:

(6] the Specified Interest Payment Date(s) in each year specified in the applicable Final Terms; or

(ii) if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are specified in the applicable Final Terms, each date
(each such date, together with each Specified Interest Payment Date, an Interest Payment Date)
which falls the number of months or other period specified as the Specified Period in the Final
Terms after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date,
after the Interest Commencement Date.

Such interest will be payable in respect of each Interest Period. In the Conditions, Interest Period means
the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but
excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date or the relevant payment date if the Notes become payable
on a date other than an Interest Payment Date.

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms and (x) if there is no numerically
corresponding day in the calendar month in which an Interest Payment Date should occur or (y) if any
Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day
Convention specified is:

(A) in any case where Specified Periods are specified in accordance with Condition 5.2 above, the
Floating Rate Convention, such Interest Payment Date (a) in the case of (x) above, shall be the last
day that is a Business Day in the relevant month and the provisions of (ii) below shall apply mutatis
mutandis or (b) in the case of (y) above, shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day
unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (i) such Interest Payment
Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (ii) each subsequent
Interest Payment Date shall be the last Business Day in the month which falls the Specified Period
after the preceding applicable Interest Payment Date occurred; or

B) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next
day which is a Business Day; or

©) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to
the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in
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which event such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding
Business Day; or

D) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the
immediately preceding Business Day.

(b) Rate of Interest

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes will be determined in the
manner specified in the applicable Final Terms.

@) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where "ISDA Determination” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of
Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will be the relevant ISDA Rate plus
or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any). For the purposes of this
subparagraph (i), ISDA Rate for an Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be
determined by the Agent or other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest as specified in
the applicable Final Terms (and references in this Condition 5.2(b)(i) to "Agent" shall be construed
accordingly) under an interest rate swap transaction if the Agent were acting as Calculation Agent for that
swap transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as published by
the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., and as amended and updated as at the Issue Date
of the first Tranche of the Notes (the ISDA Definitions) and under which:

(A) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Final Terms;
B) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Final Terms; and
© the relevant Reset Date is the day specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purposes of this subparagraph (i), Floating Rate, Calculation Agent, Floating Rate Option,
Designated Maturity and Reset Date have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Final Terms the Minimum Rate of Interest shall be deemed to be
Zero.

(ii) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes not referencing Compounded Daily SONIA

(1) Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in
which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and unless the Reference Rate in respect of the
relevant Series of Floating Rate Notes is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being
"Compounded Daily SONIA", the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject to Condition
5.5 and subject as provided below, be either:

(A) the offered quotation; or

B) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being
rounded upwards) of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate which appears or appear, as the
case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at the Relevant Time in the Relevant Financial Centre
on the Interest Determination Date in question plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final
Terms) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Agent or other party responsible for the
calculation of the Rate of Interest as specified in the applicable Final Terms (and references in this
Condition 5.2(b)(ii) to "Agent" shall be construed accordingly). If five or more of such offered
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quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such
highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such
lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Agent for the purpose of
determining the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of such offered quotations.

(2) If, other than in the circumstances described in Condition 5.5 below, the Relevant Screen Page is not
available or if, in the case of Condition 5.2(b)(ii)(1)(A), no such offered quotation appears or, in the
case of Condition 5.2(b)(ii)(1)(B), fewer than three of the offered quotations appear, in each case as
at the Relevant Time, the Agent shall request each of the Reference Banks to provide the Agent with
its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate at
approximately the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of
the Reference Banks provide the Agent with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for such
Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with
0.000005 being rounded upwards) of such offered quotations plus or minus (as indicated in the
applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Agent.

(3) If on any Interest Determination Date one only or none of the Reference Banks provides the Agent
with such an offered quotation as provided in the preceding paragraph, the Rate of Interest for the
relevant Interest Period shall be the rate per annum which the Agent determines as being the
arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of the rates, as communicated to (and at the request of)
the Agent by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such banks were offered, at
approximately the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in the
Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate by
leading banks in the London inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is LIBOR) or the Euro-zone
inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR) or the Hong Kong inter-bank market (if the
Reference Rate is HIBOR) or the Toronto inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is BA-CDOR) or
the Singapore inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is SIBOR) or the Hong Kong inter-bank
market (if the Reference Rate is CNH HIBOR) or the Oslo inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate
is NIBOR) plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any) or, if fewer than two of the Reference
Banks provide the Agent with such offered rates, either (as directed by the Issuer) the offered rate for
deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the
Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of the offered rates for deposits
in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference
Rate, at which, at approximately the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date, any
one or more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Issuer suitable for the
purpose) informs the Agent it is quoting to leading banks in the London inter-bank market (if the
Reference Rate is LIBOR) or the Euro-zone inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR)
or the Hong Kong inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is HIBOR) or the Toronto inter-bank
market (if the Reference Rate is BA-CDOR) or the Singapore inter-bank market (if the Reference
Rate is SIBOR) or the Hong Kong inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is CNH HIBOR) or the
Oslo inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is NIBOR) plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin
(if any), provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing
provisions of this Condition 5.2(b)(ii), the Rate of Interest shall be that determined as at the last
preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin, Maximum
Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from
that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest
and/or Minimum Rate of Interest (as the case may be) relating to the relevant Interest Period in
place of the Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest (as applicable)
relating to that last preceding Interest Period).

In this Condition 5.2(b)(ii):

Interest Determination Date shall mean the date specified as such in the Final Terms or if none is so
specified:
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@) if the Reference Rate is the London interbank offered rate (LIBOR) (other than Sterling or Euro
LIBOR), the second London business day prior to the start of each Interest Period;

(i1) if the Reference Rate is Sterling LIBOR, the first day of each Interest Period;

(ii1) if the Reference Rate is Euro LIBOR or the Euro-zone interbank offered rate (EURIBOR), the
second day on which the TARGET?2 System is open prior to the start of each Interest Period;

@iv) if the Reference Rate is the Hong Kong interbank offered rate (HIBOR), the first day of each
Interest Period;

) if the Reference Rate is the Toronto inter-bank offered rate (BA-CDOR), the first day of each
Interest Period;

(vi) if the Reference Rate is the Singapore interbank offered rate (SIBOR), the second Singapore
business day prior to the start of each Interest Period;

(vii)  if the Reference Rate is the CNH Hong Kong interbank offered rate (CNH HIBOR), the second
Hong Kong business day (excluding Saturdays) prior to the start of each Interest Period; and

(viii)  if the Reference Rate is the Norwegian interbank offered rate (NIBOR), the second Oslo business
day prior to the start of each Interest Period.

Reference Banks shall mean (i) in the case of a determination of LIBOR, the principal London office of
four major banks in the London inter-bank market; (ii) in the case of a determination of EURIBOR, the
principal Euro-zone office of four major banks in the Euro-zone inter-bank market; (iii) in the case of a
determination of HIBOR, four major banks in the Hong Kong inter-bank market; (iv) in the case of a
determination of BA-CDOR, four Canadian Schedule 1 chartered banks; (v) in the case of a determination of
SIBOR, four major banks in the Singapore inter-bank market; (vi) in the case of a determination of CNH
HIBOR, the principal Hong Kong office of four major banks dealing in Renminbi in the Hong Kong inter-
bank market; and (vii) in the case of a determination of NIBOR, four major banks in the Oslo inter-bank
market; in each case selected by the Agent or as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Reference Rate shall mean (i) LIBOR, (ii) EURIBOR, (iii) HIBOR, (iv) BA-CDOR, (v) SIBOR, (vi) CNH
HIBOR or (vii) NIBOR, in each case for the relevant period, as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Relevant Financial Centre shall mean London, in the case of a determination of LIBOR, Brussels, in the
case of a determination of EURIBOR, Hong Kong, in the case of a determination of HIBOR, Toronto, in the
case of a determination of BA-CDOR, Singapore, in the case of a determination of SIBOR, Hong Kong, in
the case of a determination of CNH HIBOR and Oslo, in the case of a determination of NIBOR, as specified
in the applicable Final Terms.

Relevant Time shall mean (i) in the case of LIBOR, 11.00 a.m., (ii) in the case of EURIBOR, 11.00 a.m.,
(iii) in the case of HIBOR 11.00 a.m., (iv) in the case of BA-CDOR, 10.15 a.m., (v) in the case of SIBOR,
11.00 a.m., (vi) in the case of CNH HIBOR, 11.15 a.m., or if, at or around that time it is notified that the
fixing will be published at 2:30 p.m., then as of 2:30 p.m., and (vii) in the case of NIBOR, 12.00 noon, each
as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

In the case of Exempt Notes, if the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes is
specified in the applicable Final Terms as being other than LIBOR, EURIBOR, HIBOR, BA-CDOR,
SIBOR, CNH HIBOR, or NIBOR, the Rate of Interest in respect of such Notes will be determined as
provided in the applicable Final Terms.

(ii1) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes referencing Compounded Daily SONIA
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(A)

Where "Screen Rate Determination" is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in
which the Rate of Interest is to be determined and the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable
Final Terms as being "Compounded Daily SONIA", the Rate of Interest for an Interest Period will,
subject as provided below, be Compounded Daily SONIA with respect to such Interest Period plus
or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any).

Compounded Daily SONIA means, with respect to an Interest Period, the rate of return of a daily
compound interest investment during the Observation Period corresponding to such Interest Period
(with the daily Sterling overnight reference rate as reference rate for the calculation of interest) as
calculated by the Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as
specified in the applicable Final Terms) on the relevant Interest Determination Date in accordance
with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest
fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 being rounded upwards):

do SONI ) x .
H 1+ A—pLBD i _1
365

i=1

365
X_

where:
d is the number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Period;
d, is the number of London Banking Days in the relevant Interest Period;

i is a series of whole numbers from one to d,, each representing the relevant London
Banking Day in chronological order from, and including, the first London Banking Day in
the relevant Interest Period;

London Banking Day or LBD means any day on which commercial banks are open for
general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in
London;

n;, for any London Banking Day "i", means the number of calendar days from (and
including) such London Banking Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following London
Banking Day;

Observation Period means the period from (and including) the date falling "p" London
Banking Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Period to (but excluding) the date
falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the Interest Payment Date (or, if applicable, the
relevant payment date if the Notes become payable on a date other than an Interest Payment

Date) for such Interest Period;

p is the number of London Banking Days by which an Observation Period lags the
corresponding Interest Period, being the number of London Banking Days specified as the
"SONIA Lag Period (p)" in the applicable Final Terms (or, if no such number is so specified,
five London Banking Days);

the SONIA reference rate, in respect of any London Banking Day (LBDy), is a reference
rate equal to the daily Sterling Overnight Index Average (SONIA) rate for such LBDy as
provided by the administrator of SONIA to authorised distributors and as then published on
the Relevant Screen Page (or, if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise
published by such authorised distributors) on the London Banking Day immediately
following such LBDy; and
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B)

©

(D)

SONIA;,,Lgp means the SONIA reference rate for the London Banking Day (being a London

n_n

Banking Day falling in the relevant Observation Period) falling "p" London Banking Days

nin

prior to the relevant London Banking Day "i".

If, in respect of any London Banking Day in the relevant Observation Period, the Agent (or such
other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Final
Terms) determines that the applicable SONIA reference rate has not been made available on the
Relevant Screen Page or has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorised distributors,
then (unless the Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as
specified in the applicable Final Terms) has been notified of any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate
(and any related Adjustment Spread and/or Benchmark Amendments) pursuant to Condition 5.5
below, if applicable) the Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of
Interest, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, as applicable) shall determine the SONIA
reference rate in respect of such London Banking Day as being:

@ (i) the Bank of England’s Bank Rate (the Bank Rate) prevailing at 5.00 p.m. (or, if earlier,
close of business) on such London Banking Day; plus (ii) the mean of the spread of the
SONIA reference rate to the Bank Rate over the previous five London Banking Days on
which a SONIA reference rate has been published, excluding the highest spread (or, if there
is more than one highest spread, one only of those highest spreads) and the lowest spread (or,
if there is more than one lowest spread, one only of those lowest spreads) to the Bank Rate;
or

1D if the Bank Rate under (I)(i) above is not available at the relevant time, either (A) the SONIA
reference rate published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant
authorised distributors) for the first preceding London Banking Day on which the SONIA
reference rate was published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the
relevant authorised distributors) or (B) if this is more recent, the latest rate determined under
(I) above.

In the event that the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing
provisions, the Rate of Interest shall be:

@) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting,
where a different Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest is to
be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding
Interest Period, the Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest (as
the case may be) relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin, Maximum
Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest (as applicable) relating to that last
preceding Interest Period); or

(ii) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which
would have been applicable to such Series of Notes for the first scheduled Interest Period
had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the first scheduled Interest
Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (and applying the
Margin and, if applicable, any Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest,
applicable to the first scheduled Interest Period).

If the relevant Series of Notes becomes due and payable in accordance with Condition 10, the final
Rate of Interest shall be calculated for the period from (and including) the previous Interest Payment
Date to (but excluding) the date on which the Notes become so due and payable, and such Rate of
Interest shall continue to apply to the Notes for so long as interest continues to accrue thereon as
provided in Condition 5.6 and the Trust Deed.
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@1v) BBSW Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where "BBSW Determination" is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of
Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be
the mid-rate for prime bank eligible securities (expressed as a percentage rate per annum), having a tenor
closest to the relevant Interest Period (the BBSW Rate) on the BBSW Page (rounded if necessary to the fifth
decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) at or about the BBSW Publication Time in the
Relevant Financial Centre on the Interest Determination Date in question plus or minus (as indicated in the
applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Agent or other party responsible for the
calculation of the Rate of Interest as specified in the applicable Final Terms (and references in this Condition
5.2(b)(iv) to "Agent" shall be construed accordingly).

If the BBSW Page is not available, or if the BBSW Rate does not appear on the BBSW Page by 10.45 a.m.
in the Relevant Financial Centre (or such other time that is 15 minutes after the then prevailing BBSW
Publication Time in the Relevant Financial Centre), then (unless the Agent has been notified of any
Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (and any related Adjustment Spread and/or Benchmark Amendments)
pursuant to Condition 5.5 below, if applicable) the Rate of Interest shall be determined in good faith by the
Issuer on the Interest Determination Date, having regard to comparable indices then available. Any such
Rate of Interest shall be notified to the Agent as soon as practicable after its determination.

If the Issuer is unable to determine the Rate of Interest in accordance with the preceding paragraph, the Rate
of Interest shall be that determined by the Agent as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though
substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied
to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period in place of the Margin
relating to that last preceding Interest Period).

In this Condition 5.2(b)(iv):

BBSW Page means the Thomson Reuters Screen “BBSW” Page, or such other Thomson Reuters screen
page (or page of a successor service) as may replace such page for the purpose of displaying the Australian
Bank Bill Swap Rate;

BBSW Publication Time means 10.30 a.m. (or such other time at which the BBSW Rate is customarily
published on the BBSW Page);

Interest Determination Date shall mean the date specified as such in the Final Terms or if none is so
specified, the first day of each Interest Period; and

Relevant Financial Centre shall mean Sydney, as specified in the applicable Final Terms.
V) BKBM Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where "BKBM Determination" is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of
Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be
the “Bank Bill Reference Rate (FRA)” (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being
rounded upwards) administered by the New Zealand Financial Markets Association (or any other person that
takes over the administration of that rate), having a tenor closest to the relevant Interest Period (the BKBM
Rate), as set forth on the display page designated on the BKBM Page at or about the BKBM Publication
Time in the Relevant Financial Centre on the Interest Determination Date in question plus or minus (as
indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Agent or other party
responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest as specified in the applicable Final Terms (and
references in this Condition 5.2(b)(v) to "Agent" shall be construed accordingly).

If the BKBM Page is not available, or if the BKBM Rate does not appear on the BKBM Page by 11.00 a.m.
in the Relevant Financial Centre (or such other time that is 15 minutes after the then prevailing BKBM
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Publication Time in the Relevant Financial Centre), then (unless the Agent has been notified of any
Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (and any related Adjustment Spread and/or Benchmark Amendments)
pursuant to Condition 5.5 below, if applicable) the Rate of Interest shall be determined in good faith by the
Issuer on the Interest Determination Date, having regard to the rates otherwise bid and offered at or around
11.00 a.m. in the Relevant Financial Centre (or such other time that is 15 minutes after the then prevailing
BKBM Publication Time in the Relevant Financial Centre) on the Interest Determination Date by
participants in the BKBM trading window for New Zealand bank bills having a tenor closest to the relevant
Interest Period. Any such Rate of Interest shall be notified to the Agent as soon as practicable after its
determination.

If the Issuer is unable to determine the Rate of Interest in accordance with the preceding paragraph, the Rate
of Interest shall be that determined by the Agent as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though
substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied
to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period in place of the Margin
relating to that last preceding Interest Period).

In this Condition 5.2(b)(v):

BKBM Page means the Reuters Screen “BKBM” Page, or such other page on the Reuters Monitor Money
Rates Service (or a successor service) as may replace such page for the purpose of displaying the New
Zealand Bank Bill reference rate;

BKBM Publication Time means 10.45 a.m. (or such other time at which the BKBM Rate customarily
appears on the BKBM Page);

Interest Determination Date shall mean the date specified as such in the Final Terms or if none is so
specified, the first day of each Interest Period; and

Relevant Financial Centre shall mean Auckland and Wellington, as specified in the applicable Final Terms.
(© Minimum Rate of Interest and/or Maximum Rate of Interest

If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Minimum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, then, in the event
that the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period determined in accordance with the provisions of
paragraph (b) above is less than such Minimum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period
shall be such Minimum Rate of Interest.

If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Maximum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, then, in the event
that the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period determined in accordance with the provisions of
paragraph (b) above is greater than such Maximum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest
Period shall be such Maximum Rate of Interest.

The Final Terms in respect of any Notes issued as Subordinated Notes may not specify a Minimum Rate of
Interest and/or a Maximum Rate of Interest.

(d) Determination of Rate of Interest and calculation of Interest Amounts

The Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms) will at or as soon as practicable after each time at which the Rate of Interest is to be
determined, determine the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period.

The Agent (or such other party as aforesaid) will calculate the amount of interest (the Interest Amount)

payable on the Floating Rate Notes for the relevant Interest Period. Each Interest Amount shall be calculated
by applying the Rate of Interest to:
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(A) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are (i) represented by a Global Note or (ii) Registered
Notes in definitive form, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of (A) the Notes represented by
such Global Note or (B) such Registered Notes (or, in each case, if they are Partly Paid Notes, the
aggregate amount paid up); or

(B) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are Bearer Notes in definitive form, the Calculation
Amount;

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant
figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded
upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention. Where the Specified Denomination
of a Floating Rate Note which is a Bearer Note in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount,
the Interest Amount payable in respect of such Note shall be the product of the amount (determined in the
manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is
multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination, without any further rounding.

If "Interest Amounts Non-Adjusted" is specified in the applicable Final Terms then notwithstanding the
bringing forward or postponement (as applicable) of an Interest Payment Date as a result of the application
of the Business Day Convention set out in the applicable Final Terms, the Interest Amount in respect of the
relevant Interest Period and each subsequent Interest Period shall be calculated as aforesaid on the basis of
the original Interest Payment Dates without adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day
Convention.

(e) Linear Interpolation

Where "Linear Interpolation” is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest Period in the applicable Final
Terms, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be calculated by the Agent (or such other party
responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Final Terms) by straight
line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based on the relevant Reference Rate (where "Screen Rate
Determination" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms) or the relevant Floating Rate Option
(where "ISDA Determination" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms) or the relevant
BBSW Rate (where "BBSW Determination"” is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms) or the
relevant BKBM Rate (where "BKBM Determination” is specified as applicable in the applicable Final
Terms), one of which shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which
rates are available next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Period and the other of which shall be
determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next longer
than the length of the relevant Interest Period provided however that if there is no rate available for a period
of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer, then the Agent (or such other party as aforesaid)
shall determine such rate at such time and by reference to such sources as the Issuer determines appropriate.

® Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amounts

(A) Except where the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being "Compounded
Daily SONIA", the Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest,
as specified in the applicable Final Terms) will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount
for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified as soon as possible
after their determination but in no event later than (i) in the case of notification to any stock
exchange on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being listed, the first day of the
relevant Interest Period or, to the extent the nature of such Notes makes this impossible, the relevant
Interest Payment Date; and (ii) in the case of notification to the Issuer and the Trustee and
publication of a notice thereof in accordance with Condition 14, the fourth London Business Day
thereafter. Each Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be
amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without prior notice
in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. Any such amendment will be
promptly notified to each stock exchange on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time
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being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14. For the purposes of this
paragraph, the expression London Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday)
on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for general business in London.

B) Where the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being "Compounded Daily
SONIA", the Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as
specified in the applicable Final Terms) will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for
each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to (i) the Issuer and the
Trustee, and (ii) to any stock exchange on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time
being listed and, in each case, to be published in accordance with Condition 14 as soon as possible
after their determination but in no event later than the second London Banking Day (as defined in
Condition 5.2(b)(iii)(A) above) thereafter. Each Rate of Interest, Interest Amount and Interest
Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements
made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the relevant
Interest Period. Any such amendment or alternative arrangements will promptly be notified to any
stock exchange on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being listed and to the
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14.

(2) Certificates to be final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and decisions given,
expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this Condition 5.2 by the Agent (or such
other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in these Conditions or the
applicable Final Terms, as applicable) shall (in the absence of wilful default, fraud or manifest error or
proven error) be binding on the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Agent, the other Agents and all Noteholders,
Receiptholders and Couponholders and (in the absence of wilful default, fraud or manifest error or proven
error) no liability to the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Noteholders, the Receiptholders or the Couponholders
shall attach to the Agent (or such other party as aforesaid) in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by
it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such provisions.

53 Exempt Notes

In the case of Exempt Notes which are also Floating Rate Notes where the applicable Final Terms identifies
that Screen Rate Determination applies to the calculation of interest, if the Reference Rate from time to time
is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being other than LIBOR, EURIBOR, HIBOR, BA-CDOR,
SIBOR, CNH HIBOR or NIBOR, the Rate of Interest in respect of such Exempt Notes will be determined as
provided in the applicable Final Terms.

The rate or amount of interest payable in respect of Exempt Notes which are not also Fixed Rate Notes or
Floating Rate Notes shall be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Final Terms, provided that
where such Notes are Index Linked Interest Notes the provisions of Condition 5.2 shall, save to the extent
amended in the applicable Final Terms, apply as if the references therein to Floating Rate Notes and to the
Agent were references to Index Linked Interest Notes and the Calculation Agent, respectively, and provided
further that the Calculation Agent will notify the Agent of the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period
as soon as practicable after calculating the same.

In the case of Partly Paid Notes (other than Partly Paid Notes which are Zero Coupon Notes), interest will
accrue as aforesaid on the paid-up nominal amount of such Notes and otherwise as specified in the

applicable Final Terms.

The rate or amount of interest payable in respect of Dual Currency Interest Notes shall be determined in the
manner specified in the applicable Final Terms.
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54 Interest on Partly Paid Notes

In the case of Partly Paid Notes (other than Partly Paid Notes which are Zero Coupon Notes), interest will
accrue as aforesaid on the paid-up nominal amount of such Notes and otherwise as specified in the
applicable Final Terms.

5.5 Benchmark Discontinuation

Notwithstanding the provisions in Condition 5.2 above, if the Issuer, acting in good faith and in a
commercially reasonable manner, determines that a Benchmark Event has occurred in relation to an Original
Reference Rate when any Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) remains to be determined by
reference to that Original Reference Rate, then the following provisions of this Condition 5.5 shall apply
(subject, in the case of Subordinated Notes, to the prior written approval of APRA).

Noteholders should note that APRA’s approval may not be given for any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate
it considers to have the effect of increasing the Rate of Interest contrary to applicable prudential standards.

(a) Successor Rate or Alternative Rate

If there is a Successor Rate, then the Issuer shall promptly notify the Trustee, the party responsible
for determining the Rate of Interest (being the Agent or other such party specified in the applicable
Final Terms, as applicable) and, in accordance with Condition 14, the Noteholders of such Successor
Rate and that Successor Rate shall (subject to adjustment as provided in Condition 5.5(b))
subsequently be used by the Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of
Interest, as specified in the applicable Final Terms) in place of the Original Reference Rate to
determine the relevant Rate(s) of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for all relevant
future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the further operation of this Condition 5.5).

If there is no Successor Rate but the Issuer, acting in good faith, in a commercially reasonable
manner and by reference to such sources as it deems appropriate, which may include consultation
with an Independent Adviser, determines that there is an Alternative Rate, then the Issuer shall
promptly notify the Trustee, the Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the
Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Final Terms) and, in accordance with Condition 14,
the Noteholders of such Alternative Rate and that Alternative Rate shall (subject to adjustment as
provided in Condition 5.5(b)) subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to
determine the relevant Rate(s) of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for all relevant
future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the further operation of this Condition 5.5).

(b) Adjustment Spread

If, in the case of a Successor Rate, an Adjustment Spread is formally recommended, or provided as
an option for parties to adopt in relation to the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the
Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body, then the Issuer shall promptly notify the Trustee,
the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest (being the Agent or other such party
specified in the applicable Final Terms, as applicable) and, in accordance with Condition 14, the
Noteholders of such Adjustment Spread and the Agent (or such other party responsible for the
calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Final Terms) shall, subject to the
receipt (not less than five Business Days prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date) of, and in
accordance with, the Issuer’s written instructions, apply such Adjustment Spread to the Successor
Rate for each subsequent determination of a relevant Rate of Interest (or a component part thereof)
by reference to such Successor Rate.

If, in the case of a Successor Rate where no such Adjustment Spread is formally recommended or

provided as an option by any Relevant Nominating Body, or in the case of an Alternative Rate, the
Issuer, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner and by reference to such
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(©)

sources as it deems appropriate, which may include consultation with an Independent Adviser,
determines that there is an Adjustment Spread in customary market usage in the international debt
capital markets for transactions which reference the Original Reference Rate, where such rate has
been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be), then the Issuer
shall promptly notify the Trustee, the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest (being
the Agent or other such party specified in the applicable Final Terms, as applicable) and, in
accordance with Condition 14, the Noteholders of such Adjustment Spread and the Agent (or such
other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Final
Terms) shall, subject to the receipt (not less than five Business Days prior to the relevant Interest
Determination Date) of, and in accordance with, the Issuer’s written instructions, apply such
Adjustment Spread to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) for each
subsequent determination of a relevant Rate of Interest (or a component part thereof) by reference to
such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable).

If no such recommendation or option has been made (or made available) by any Relevant
Nominating Body, or the Issuer so determines, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable
manner and by reference to such sources as it deems appropriate, which may include consultation
with an Independent Adviser, that there is no such Adjustment Spread in customary market usage in
the international debt capital markets and the Issuer further determines, acting in good faith and in a
commercially reasonable manner and by reference to such sources as it deems appropriate, which
may include consultation with an Independent Adviser, that an Adjustment Spread is required to be
applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be), then the Adjustment
Spread shall be:

1) the Adjustment Spread determined by the Issuer, acting in good faith and in a commercially
reasonable manner and by reference to such sources as it deems appropriate, which may
include consultation with an Independent Adviser, as being the Adjustment Spread
recognised or acknowledged as being the industry standard for over-the-counter derivative
transactions which reference the Original Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced
by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be); or

(ii) if there is no such industry standard recognised or acknowledged, such Adjustment Spread as
the Issuer, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner and by reference to
such sources as it deems appropriate, which may include consultation with an Independent
Adviser, determines to be appropriate, having regard to the objective, so far as is reasonably
practicable in the circumstances, of reducing or eliminating any economic prejudice or
benefit (as the case may be) to Noteholders as a result of the replacement of the Original
Reference Rate with the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be).

Following any such determination of the Adjustment Spread, the Issuer shall promptly notify the
Trustee, the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest (being the Agent or other such
party specified in the applicable Final Terms, as applicable) and, in accordance with Condition 14,
the Noteholders of such Adjustment Spread and the Agent (or such other party responsible for the
calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Final Terms) shall, subject to the
receipt (not less than five Business Days prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date) of, and in
accordance with, the Issuer’s written instructions, apply such Adjustment Spread to the Successor
Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) for each subsequent determination of a relevant
Rate of Interest (or a component part thereof) by reference to such Successor Rate or Alternative
Rate (as applicable).

Benchmark Amendments
If any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate or Adjustment Spread is determined in accordance with this

Condition 5.5 and the Issuer, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner and by
reference to such sources as it deems appropriate, which may include consultation with an
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Independent Adviser, determines in its discretion (A) that amendments to these Conditions and/or
the Trust Deed and/or the Agency Agreement are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such
Successor Rate, Alternative Rate and/or Adjustment Spread (such amendments, the Benchmark
Amendments) and (B) the terms of the Benchmark Amendments, then the Issuer shall, subject to
the following paragraphs of this Condition 5.5(c) and subject to the Issuer having to give notice
thereof to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14, and to the Trustee and the party
responsible for determining the Rate of Interest (being the Agent or other such party specified in the
applicable Final Terms as applicable) in accordance with this Condition 5.5(c), without any
requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders make the
necessary modifications to these Conditions and/or Trust Deed and/or the Agency Agreement to give
effect to such Benchmark Amendments. At the request of the Issuer, but subject to receipt by the
Trustee and the Agent of the certificate referred to in the final paragraph of this Condition 5.5(c),
and subject as provided below, the Trustee and the Agents (as applicable) shall (at the expense of the
Issuer), without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders, Receiptholders or
Couponholders and without liability to the Noteholders or any other person, be obliged to concur
with the Issuer in effecting any Benchmark Amendments (including, inter alia, by the execution of a
deed supplemental to or amending the Trust Deed) with effect from the date specified in such notice.

In connection with any such modifications in accordance with this Condition 5.5(c), if and for so
long as the Notes are admitted to trading and listed on the official list of a stock exchange, the Issuer
shall comply with the rules of that stock exchange. Notwithstanding any other provision of this
Condition 5.5, no Successor Rate, Alternative Rate or Adjustment Spread will be adopted, nor will
any other amendment to the terms and conditions of any Series of Notes be made to effect the
Benchmark Amendments, if and to the extent that, in the determination of the Issuer, the same could
reasonably be expected to prejudice the treatment of any relevant Series of Subordinated Notes as
Tier 2 Capital.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition 5.5(c), neither the Trustee nor the Agents (as
applicable) shall be obliged to concur with the Issuer in respect of any Benchmark Amendments
which, in the sole opinion of the Trustee or the relevant Agent (as applicable), would (i) expose the
Trustee or the relevant Agent (as applicable) to any additional liability or (ii) increase the obligations
or duties, or decrease the rights or protections, afforded to the Trustee or the relevant Agent (as
applicable) in the Trust Deed (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any supplemental trust deed),
the Agency Agreement and/or these Conditions.

Any Benchmark Amendments determined under this Condition 5.5(c) shall be notified promptly (in
any case, not less than five Business Days prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date) by the
Issuer to the Trustee, the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest (being the Agent or
other such party specified in the applicable Final Terms as applicable) and, in accordance with
Condition 14, the Noteholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date
of such Benchmark Amendments.

No later than notifying the Trustee and the party responsible for determining the Rate of Interest
(being the Agent or such other party specified in the applicable Final Terms, as applicable) of the
same, the Issuer shall deliver to each of the Trustee and the Agent a certificate (on which each of the
Trustee and the Agent shall be entitled to rely without further enquiry or liability) signed by two
Authorised Signatories (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Issuer or, as the case may be, the
Guarantor:

(A) confirming (i) that a Benchmark Event has occurred, (ii) whether or not the Issuer has
consulted with an Independent Adviser, (iii) the Successor Rate or, as the case may be, the
Alternative Rate, (iv) where applicable, any Adjustment Spread, and/or (v) the specific terms
of any Benchmark Amendments, in each case as determined in accordance with the
provisions of this Condition 5.5; and
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(d)

(e)

®

B) certifying that the Benchmark Amendments are (in accordance with the provisions of
Condition 5.5(c)) necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate,
Alternative Rate and/or Adjustment Spread.

The Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and the Adjustment Spread (if any) and the Benchmark
Amendments (if any) specified in such certificate will (in the absence of manifest error in the
determination of the Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and the Adjustment Spread (if any) and the
Benchmark Amendments (if any) and without prejudice to the Trustee’s and the Agent’s ability to
rely on such certificate as aforesaid) be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee, the party responsible for
determining the Rate of Interest (being the Agent or other such party specified in the applicable Final
Terms, as applicable), the Agents and the Noteholders, Receiptholders and Couponholders.

Independent Adviser

In the event the Issuer is to consult with an Independent Adviser in connection with any
determination to be made by the Issuer pursuant to this Condition 5.5, the Issuer shall use its
reasonable endeavours to appoint an Independent Adviser, as soon as reasonably practicable, for the
purposes of any such consultation.

An Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to this Condition 5.5 shall act in good faith and in a
commercially reasonable manner and (in the absence of fraud or wilful default) shall have no
liability whatsoever to the Issuer, (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor, the
Trustee or the Noteholders for any determination made by it or for any advice given to the Issuer in
connection with any determination made by the Issuer pursuant to this Condition 5.5 or otherwise in
connection with the Notes.

If the Issuer consults with an Independent Adviser as to whether there is a Successor Rate, an
Alternative Rate and/or whether any Adjustment Spread is required to be applied and/or in relation
to the quantum of, or any formula or methodology for determining such Adjustment Spread and/or
whether any Benchmark Amendments are necessary and/or in relation to the terms of any such
Benchmark Amendments, a written determination of an Independent Adviser in respect thereof shall
be conclusive and binding on all parties, save in the case of manifest error, and (in the absence of
fraud or wilful default) neither the Issuer nor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor,
shall have any liability whatsoever to the Noteholders in respect of anything done, or omitted to be
done, in relation to that matter in accordance with any such written determination.

No Independent Adviser appointed in connection with the Notes (acting in such capacity), shall have
any relationship of agency or trust with the Noteholders.

Survival of Original Reference Rate Provisions

Without prejudice to the obligations of the Issuer under this Condition 5.5, the Original Reference
Rate and the fallback provisions provided for in Condition 5.2 and/or the applicable Final Terms, as
the case may be, will continue to apply unless and until the Issuer has determined the Successor Rate
or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be), and any Adjustment Spread and Benchmark
Amendments, in accordance with the relevant provisions of this Condition 5.5.

Definitions
In this Condition 5.5:
Adjustment Spread means either a spread, or the formula or methodology for calculating a spread

and the spread resulting from such calculation, which spread may in either case be positive or
negative or zero and is to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may
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be) where the Original Reference Rate is replaced with the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate
(as the case may be);

Alternative Rate means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Issuer determines in
accordance with this Condition 5.5 is used in place of the Original Reference Rate in customary
market usage in the international debt capital markets for the purposes of determining rates of
interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for a commensurate interest period and in the same
Specified Currency as the Notes;

Benchmark Amendments has the meaning given to it in Condition 5.5(c)
Benchmark Event means, with respect to an Original Reference Rate, the earlier to occur of:

(A) the Original Reference Rate ceasing to be published for at least five Business Days or
ceasing to exist or be administered;

B) the later of (i) the making of a public statement by the administrator of the Original
Reference Rate that it will, on or before a specified date, cease publishing the Original
Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely (in circumstances where no successor
administrator has been appointed that will continue publication of the Original Reference
Rate) and (ii) the date falling six months prior to the specified date referred to in (B)(i);

© the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original
Reference Rate that the Original Reference Rate has been permanently or indefinitely
discontinued;

(D) the later of (i) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the
Original Reference Rate that the Original Reference Rate will, on or before a specified date,
be permanently or indefinitely discontinued and (ii) the date falling six months prior to the
specified date referred to in (D)(i);

E) the later of (i) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the
Original Reference Rate that means the Original Reference Rate will be prohibited from
being used or that its use will be subject to restrictions or adverse consequences, in each case
on or before a specified date and (ii) the date falling six months prior to the specified date
referred to in (E)(i);

F it has or will prior to the next Interest Determination Date become unlawful for the Agent,
any Paying Agent, (if specified in the applicable Final Terms) such other party responsible
for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, or the Issuer to determine any Rate of Interest
and/or calculate any Interest Amount using the Original Reference Rate (including, without
limitation, under Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011, if applicable); and

(G) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original
Reference Rate announcing that such Original Reference Rate is no longer representative or
may no longer be used;

Independent Adviser means an independent financial institution of international repute or other
independent adviser of recognised standing with appropriate expertise appointed by the Issuer at its
own expense;

Original Reference Rate means the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) originally specified in
the applicable Final Terms for the purposes of determining the relevant Rate of Interest (or any
component part thereof) in respect of the Notes (provided that if, following one or more Benchmark
Events, such originally specified Reference Rate (or any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate which
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5.6

has replaced it) has been replaced by a (or a further) Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and a
Benchmark Event subsequently occurs in respect of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate, the
term “Original Reference Rate” shall include any such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate);

Relevant Nominating Body means, in respect of an Original Reference Rate:

(A) the central bank for the currency to which the Original Reference Rate relates, or any central
bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of
the Original Reference Rate; or

B) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at the
request of (i) the central bank for the currency to which the Original Reference Rate relates,
(ii) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the
administrator of the Original Reference Rate, (iii) a group of the aforementioned central
banks or other supervisory authorities, or (iv) the Financial Stability Board or any part
thereof; and

Successor Rate means a successor to or replacement of the Original Reference Rate which is
formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body.

Accrual of interest

Each Note (or in the case of the redemption of part only of a Note, that part only of such Note) will cease to
bear interest (if any) from the date for its redemption unless payment of principal is improperly withheld or
refused. In such event, interest will continue to accrue until whichever is the earlier of:

(a)
(b)

5.7

the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Note have been paid; and
five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of such Note has
been received by the Agent or the Registrar or the Trustee, as the case may be, and notice to that

effect has been given to the Noteholders as provided in the Trust Deed.

Definitions

In these Conditions, except in Condition 10A and in the Schedule to these Conditions:

Accrual Period means, for the purposes of the definition of the applicable Day Count Fraction, the relevant
period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement
Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date.

Business Day means:

()

(b)

(©)

a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for
general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London
and each Additional Business Centre (other than TARGET2 System) specified in the applicable
Final Terms;

if TARGET?2 System is specified as an Additional Business Centre in the applicable Final Terms, a
day on which the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer
(TARGET?2) System (the TARGET?2 System) is open; and

either (i) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than euro and Renminbi, a day
on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general
business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal
financial centre of the country of the relevant Specified Currency (which if the Specified Currency is
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Australian dollars or New Zealand dollars shall be Sydney or Auckland, respectively), (ii) in relation
to any sum payable in euro, a day on which the TARGET2 System is open or (iii) in relation to any
sum payable in Renminbi, a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which
commercial banks in Hong Kong are generally open for business and settlement of Renminbi
payments in Hong Kong.

Day Count Fraction means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest in accordance with this
Condition 5:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®

(2)

if "Actual/Actual (ICMA)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms in the case of Fixed Rate
Notes:

@) in the case of Notes where the number of days in the Accrual Period is equal to or shorter
than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the number of days in
such Accrual Period divided by the product of (I) the number of days in such Determination
Period and (II) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Final
Terms) that would occur in one calendar year; or

(i) in the case of Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the Determination Period
during which the Accrual Period ends, the sum of:

(A) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the Determination Period in
which the Accrual Period begins divided by the product of (x) the number of days in
such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates that would
occur in one calendar year; and

(B) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next Determination Period
divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and
(y) the number of Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year;

if "30/360" is specified in the applicable Final Terms in the case of Fixed Rate Notes, the number of
days in the period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the
Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (such number of days
being calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months) divided by 360;

if "Actual/Actual (ISDA)" or "Actual/Actual" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual
number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Interest Period falls in
a leap year, the sum of (I) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a
leap year divided by 366 and (II) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period
falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);

if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the
Interest Period divided by 365;

if "Actual/365 (Sterling)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the
Interest Period divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap year, 366;

if "Actual/360" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the Interest
Period divided by 360;

if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Final Terms in the case of
Floating Rate Notes or Index Linked Interest Notes, the number of days in the Interest Period
divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:
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where:

llYln

HY2||

llMl "

llM2n

HDl "

llD2H

[360x (Y2 - Y1)]+ [30x (M2—M1)]+ (D2-D1)
360

Day Count Fraction =

is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of
the Interest Period falls;

is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period
falls;

is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day of the Interest Period falls;

is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number is
31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1 is greater than 29, in which case
D2 will be 30;

(h) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in
the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

where:

llYln

IIY2||

HM] "

llM2n

llDl "

HD2H

[360x (Y2 - Y1)]+ [30x (M2—M 1)+ (D2-D1)
360

Day Count Fraction =

is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of
the Interest Period falls;

is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period
falls;

is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day of the Interest Period falls;

is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number
would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30;

@) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the Interest
Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

where:

[360x (Y2 - Y1)]+[30x (M2-M )]+ (D2-D1)
360

Day Count Fraction =

0083121-0000407 ICM:33574037.13 139



"Y1" s the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

"Y2" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of
the Interest Period falls;

"M1" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period
falls;

"M2" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day of the Interest Period falls;

"D1" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless (i) that day is
the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

"D2" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Interest Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or
(i1) such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30; and

() if "RBA Bond Basis" or "Australian Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Final Terms:

(A) for amounts paid and/or calculated in respect of Interest Payment Dates, one divided
by the number of Interest Payment Dates in a year; and

B) for amounts paid and/or calculated in respect of dates other than Interest Payment
Dates, Actual/Actual (ICMA).

In respect of Fixed Rate Notes only, references in the Day Count Fractions specified above to "Interest
Period" or "Interest Periods", as the case may be, shall be deemed to be references to "Fixed Interest Period"
or "Fixed Interest Periods", as the context requires.

Determination Period means each period from (and including) a Determination Date to (but excluding) the
next Determination Date (including, where either the Interest Commencement Date or the final Interest
Payment Date is not a Determination Date, the period commencing on the first Determination Date prior to,
and ending on the first Determination Date falling after, such date);

Fixed Interest Period means the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest
Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date; and

sub-unit means, with respect to any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is
available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with respect to euro, one cent.

6. PAYMENTS
6.1 Method and Conditions of Payment
Subject as provided below:

(a) payments in a Specified Currency other than euro or Renminbi will be made by credit or transfer to
an account in the relevant Specified Currency maintained by the payee with, or, at the option of the
payee, by a cheque in such Specified Currency drawn on, a bank in the principal financial centre of
the country of such Specified Currency (which, if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or
New Zealand dollars, shall be (i) Sydney or (ii) Auckland and Wellington, respectively);

(b) payments in euro will be made by credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other account to which

euro may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee or, at the option of the payee, by a euro
cheque; and
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© payments in Renminbi will be made in accordance with Condition 6.8.

Payments will be subject in all cases to any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto in the
place of payment and, in the case of a Subordinated Note, to Condition 3.2 and Condition 10A but without
prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8.

For the avoidance of doubt, any amounts to be paid on the Notes will be paid net of any deduction or
withholding imposed or required pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the United States Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code), any current or future regulations or official interpretations
thereof, any agreement entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b) of the Code, or any fiscal or regulatory
legislation, rules or practices adopted pursuant to any intergovernmental agreement entered into in
connection with the implementation of such Sections of the Code, and no additional amounts will be
required to be paid on account of any such deduction or withholding.

6.2 Presentation of definitive Bearer Notes, Receipts and Coupons

Payments of principal in respect of definitive Bearer Notes will (subject as provided below) be made in the
manner provided in Condition 6.1 above only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part
payment of any sum due, endorsement) of definitive Bearer Notes, and payments of interest in respect of
definitive Bearer Notes will (subject as provided below) be made as aforesaid only against presentation and
surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of Coupons, in each case at the
specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (which expression, as used herein, means the
United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia and its possessions)).

Fixed Rate Notes in definitive bearer form (other than Long Maturity Notes (as defined below) and save as
provided in Condition 6.4) should be presented for payment together with all unmatured Coupons
appertaining thereto (which expression shall for this purpose include Coupons falling to be issued on
exchange of matured Talons), failing which the amount of any missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of
payment not being made in full, the same proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon as
the sum so paid bears to the sum due) will be deducted from the sum due for payment. Each amount of
principal so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of the relative missing
Coupon at any time before the expiry of 10 years after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8) in
respect of such principal (whether or not such Coupon would otherwise have become void under
Condition 9) or, if later, five years from the date on which such Coupon would otherwise have become due,
but in no event thereafter.

Upon any Fixed Rate Note in definitive bearer form becoming due and repayable prior to its Maturity Date,
all unmatured Talons (if any) appertaining thereto will become void and no further Coupons will be issued in
respect thereof.

Upon the date on which any Floating Rate Note or Long Maturity Note in definitive form becomes due and
repayable, unmatured Coupons and Talons (if any) relating thereto (whether or not attached) shall become
void and no payment or, as the case may be, exchange for further Coupons shall be made in respect thereof.
A Long Maturity Note is a Fixed Rate Note (other than a Fixed Rate Note which on issue had a Talon
attached) whose nominal amount on issue is less than the aggregate interest payable thereon provided that
such Note shall cease to be a Long Maturity Note on the Interest Payment Date on which the aggregate
amount of interest remaining to be paid after that date is less than the nominal amount of such Note.

If the due date for redemption of any definitive Bearer Note is not an Interest Payment Date, interest (if any)
accrued in respect of such Note from (and including) the preceding Interest Payment Date or, as the case
may be, the Interest Commencement Date shall be payable only against surrender of the relevant definitive
Note.
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6.3 Payments in respect of Bearer Global Notes

Payments of principal and interest (if any) in respect of Notes represented by any Global Note in bearer form
will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner specified above in relation to definitive Bearer Notes
and otherwise in the manner specified in the relevant Global Note, (i) in the case of a Global Note in bearer
form lodged with the CMU Service, to the CMU Accountholder, which notification shall be conclusive and
binding evidence (save in the case of manifest error) of (a) the identity of any Accountholder and, (b) for so
long as the Global Note in bearer form is held by or on behalf of the CMU Operator, the instruction of the
bearer of the Global Note to make such payments of principal and interest (if any) to such Accountholders,
or (ii) in the case of a Global Note in bearer form not lodged with the CMU Service, against presentation or
surrender, as the case may be, of such Global Note at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the
United States. A record of each payment distinguishing between any payment of principal and any payment
of interest, will be made (in the case of a Global Note not lodged with the CMU Service) on such Global
Note by the Paying Agent to which it was presented, (in the case of a Global Note lodged with the CMU
Service) on withdrawal of the Global Note by the CMU Lodging Agent or in the records of Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg, as applicable.

6.4 Payments in respect of Registered Notes

Payments of principal (other than instalments of principal prior to the final instalment) in respect of each
Registered Note (whether or not in global form) will be made against presentation and surrender (or, in the
case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of the Registered Note at the specified office of the
Registrar or any of the Paying Agents. Such payments will be made by transfer to the Designated Account
(as defined below) of the holder (or the first named of joint holders) of the Registered Note appearing in the
register of holders of the Registered Notes maintained by the Registrar (the Register) (i) where in global
form, at the close of the business day (being for this purpose, in respect of Notes held through Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg, a day on which Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg are open for business
and, in respect of Notes held through the CMU Service, a day on which the CMU Service is open for
business) before the relevant due date, and (ii) where in definitive form, at the close of business on the third
business day (being for this purpose a day on which banks are open for business in the city where the
specified office of the Registrar is located) before the relevant due date. Notwithstanding the previous
sentence, if (i) a holder does not have a Designated Account or (ii) the principal amount of the Notes held by
a holder is less than U.S.$250,000 (or its approximate equivalent in any other Specified Currency), payment
will instead be made by a cheque in the Specified Currency drawn on a Designated Bank (as defined below).
For these purposes, Designated Account means the account (which, in the case of a payment in Japanese
yen to a non-resident of Japan, shall be a non- resident account) maintained by a holder with a Designated
Bank and identified as such in the Register and Designated Bank means (in the case of payment in a
Specified Currency other than euro) a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of such Specified
Currency (which, if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or New Zealand dollars, shall be (i) Sydney
or (ii) Auckland or Wellington, respectively) and (in the case of a payment in euro) any bank which
processes payments in euro. In the case of any Notes denominated in Renminbi, the meaning of Designated
Account and Designated Bank should be construed in accordance with Condition 6.8.

Payments of interest in respect of each Registered Note (whether or not in global form) will be made by a
cheque in the Specified Currency drawn on a Designated Bank and mailed by uninsured mail on the business
day in the city where the specified office of the Registrar is located immediately preceding the relevant due
date to the holder (or the first named of joint holders) of the Registered Note appearing in the Register (i)
where in global form, at the close of the business day (being for this purpose a day on which Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg are open for business) before the relevant due date, and (ii) where in definitive
form, at the close of business on the fifteenth day (whether or not such fifteenth day is a business day) before
the relevant due date (the Record Date) at its address shown in the Register on the Record Date and at its
risk. Upon application of the holder to the specified office of the Registrar not less than three business days
in the city where the specified office of the Registrar is located before the due date for any payment of
interest in respect of a Registered Note, the payment may be made by transfer on the due date in the manner
provided in the preceding paragraph. Any such application for transfer shall be deemed to relate to all future
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payments of interest (other than interest due on redemption) in respect of the Registered Notes which
become payable to the holder who has made the initial application until such time as the Registrar is notified
in writing to the contrary by such holder. Payment of the interest due in respect of each Registered Note on
redemption will be made in the same manner as payment of the principal amount of such Registered Note. In
the case of each Registered Note held through the CMU Service, payment will be made at the direction of
the registered holder to the CMU Accountholders and such payment shall discharge the obligations of the
Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor, in respect of that payment.

Holders of Registered Notes will not be entitled to any interest or other payment for any delay in receiving
any amount due in respect of any Registered Note as a result of a cheque posted in accordance with this
Condition arriving after the due date for payment or being lost in the post. No commissions or expenses shall
be charged to such holders by the Registrar in respect of any payments of principal or interest in respect of
the Registered Notes.

All amounts payable to DTC or its nominee as registered holder of a Registered Global Note in respect of
Notes denominated in a Specified Currency other than U.S. dollars shall be paid by transfer by the Registrar
to an account in the relevant Specified Currency of the Exchange Agent on behalf of DTC or its nominee for
conversion into and payment in U.S. dollars in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement.

None of the Issuer or the Agents will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating
to, or payments made on account of, beneficial ownership interests in the Registered Global Notes or for
maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

Specific provisions in relation to payments in respect of certain types of Exempt Notes

Payments of instalments of principal (if any) in respect of definitive Bearer Notes, other than the final
instalment, will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner provided in Condition 6.1 above only
against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of the
relevant Receipt in accordance with the preceding paragraph. Payment of the final instalment will be made in
the manner provided in Condition 6.1 above only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part
payment of any sum due, endorsement) of the relevant Bearer Note in accordance with the preceding
paragraph. Each Receipt must be presented for payment of the relevant instalment together with the
definitive Bearer Note to which it appertains. Receipts presented without the definitive Bearer Note to which
they appertain do not constitute valid obligations of the Issuer. Upon the date on which any definitive Bearer
Note becomes due and repayable, unmatured Receipts (if any) relating thereto (whether or not attached) shall
become void and no payment shall be made in respect thereof.

Payments of instalments of principal (other than the final instalment) in respect of each Registered Note
(whether or not in global form) will be made by a cheque in the Specified Currency drawn on a Designated
Bank and mailed by uninsured mail on the business day in the city where the specified office of the Registrar
is located immediately preceding the relevant due date to the holder (or the first named of joint holders) of
the Registered Note appearing in the Register (i) where in global form, at the close of the business day (being
for this purpose a day on which Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg are open for business and in respect
of Notes held through the CMU Service, a day on which the CMU Service is open for business) before the
relevant due date, and (ii) where in definitive form, at the close of business on the fifteenth day (whether or
not such fifteenth day is a business day) before the relevant due date (the Record Date) at its address shown
in the Register on the Record Date and at its risk. Upon application of the holder to the specified office of the
Registrar not less than three business days in the city where the specified office of the Registrar is located
before the due date for any payment of interest in respect of a Registered Note, the payment may be made by
transfer on the due date in the manner provided in the preceding paragraph. Any such application for transfer
shall be deemed to relate to all future instalments of principal (other than the final instalment) in respect of
the Registered Notes which become payable to the holder who has made the initial application until such
time as the Registrar is notified in writing to the contrary by such holder. Payment of the final instalment of
principal will be made in the same manner as payment of the principal amount of such Registered Note.
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Upon the date on which any Dual Currency Note or Index Linked Note in definitive form becomes due and
repayable, unmatured Coupons and Talons (if any) relating thereto (whether or not attached) shall become
void and no payment or, as the case may be, exchange for further Coupons shall be made in respect thereof.

6.5 General provisions applicable to payments

The holder of a Global Note shall be the only person entitled to receive payments (or, in the case of a Global
Note lodged with the CMU Service, to direct to whom payment should be made) in respect of Notes
represented by such Global Note and the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor, will be discharged by
payment to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note or such person(s) for whose account(s)
interests in such Global Note are credited as being held in the CMU Service (as the case may be) in respect
of each amount so paid. Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg
or DTC or the CMU Service as the beneficial holder of a particular nominal amount of Notes represented by
such Global Note must look solely to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC or the CMU Service, as
the case may be, for its share of each payment so made by the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor,
to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Condition, if any amount of principal and/or interest in
respect of Bearer Notes is payable in U.S. dollars, such U.S. dollar payments of principal and/or interest in
respect of such Notes will be made at the specified office of a Paying Agent in the United States if:

(@ the Issuer and (if applicable) the Guarantor have appointed Paying Agents with specified offices
outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to
make payment in U.S. dollars at such specified offices outside the United States of the full amount
of principal and interest on the Bearer Notes in the manner provided above when due;

(b) payment of the full amount of such principal and interest at all such specified offices outside the
United States is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on
the full payment or receipt of principal and interest in U.S. dollars; and

© such payment is then permitted under United States law without involving, in the opinion of the
Issuer, adverse tax consequences to the Issuer.

6.6 Payment Day

If the date for payment of any amount in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon is not a Payment Day, the
holder thereof shall not be entitled to payment until the next following Payment Day in the relevant place
and shall not be entitled to further interest or other payment in respect of such delay. For these purposes,
Payment Day means any day which (subject to Condition 9) is:

(a) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for
general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits):

@) in the case of Notes in definitive form only, in the relevant place of presentation; and

(i1) in each Additional Financial Centre (other than TARGET2 System) specified in the
applicable Final Terms;

(b) if TARGET2 System is specified as an Additional Financial Centre in the applicable Final Terms, a
day on which the TARGET?2 System is open;

© either (A) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than euro and Renminbi, a
day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for
general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the
principal financial centre of the country of the relevant Specified Currency (which if the Specified
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Currency is Australian dollars or New Zealand dollars shall be (i) Sydney or (ii) Auckland and
Wellington, respectively), (B) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a day on which the TARGET2
System is open or (C) in relation to any sum payable in Renminbi, a day on which banks and foreign
exchange markets are open for business and settlement of Renminbi payments in Hong Kong; and

(d) in the case of any payment in respect of a Registered Global Note denominated in a Specified
Currency other than U.S. dollars and registered in the name of DTC or its nominee and in respect of
which an accountholder of DTC (with an interest in such Registered Global Note) has elected to
receive any part of such payment in U.S. dollars, a day on which commercial banks are not
authorised or required by law or regulation to be closed in New York City.

6.7 Interpretation of principal and interest

Any reference in the Conditions to principal in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as
applicable:

(a) any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to principal under Condition 8 or under
any undertaking or covenant given in addition thereto, or in substitution therefor, pursuant to the
Trust Deed;

(b) the Final Redemption Amount of the Notes;

© the Early Redemption Amount of the Notes;

(d) the Optional Redemption Amount(s) (if any) of the Notes;

(e) in relation to Exempt Notes redeemable in instalments, the Instalment Amounts; and

® any premium and any other amounts (other than interest) which may be payable by the Issuer under
or in respect of the Notes.

Any reference in the Conditions to interest in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable,
any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to interest under Condition 8 or under any
undertaking or covenant given in addition thereto, or in substitution therefor, pursuant to the Trust Deed.

6.8 Payment in Renminbi

Notwithstanding any other provision in this Condition 6, in case of any payment in Renminbi, payment shall
be made by transfer to a Renminbi account maintained by or on behalf of a holder with a bank in Hong
Kong.

6.9 Payment of U.S. Dollar Equivalent

In respect of Notes denominated in Renminbi, notwithstanding Condition 6.8, where "U.S. Dollar
Equivalent" is specified in the applicable Final Terms as being applicable to a Series of Notes, if by reason
of Inconvertibility, Non-transferability or Illiquidity (each, a CNY Disruption Event), the Issuer or the
Guarantor (as the case may be), is not able or it would be impracticable for it to satisfy payments of principal
or interest (in whole or part) in respect of the Notes or the Coupons when due in Renminbi in Hong Kong:

(a) payment of such amount shall be postponed to two Business Days after the date on which the CNY
Disruption Event ceases to exist, unless it continues to exist for 14 consecutive calendar days from
the original date that, but for the occurrence of the CNY Disruption Event, would have been the date
of such payments; or
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(b) if the CNY Disruption Event continues to exist for 14 consecutive calendar days from the original
date that, but for the occurrence of the CNY Disruption Event, would have been the date of such
payments, the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be) may, on giving five Business Days’
irrevocable notice to the Paying Agent, Noteholders and the Trustee, settle any such payment (in
whole or in part) in U.S. dollars on the date that is three Business Days after the expiration of the
aforementioned 14 calendar day period at the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of any such Renminbi-
denominated amount.

In the case of (b) above, any payment of U.S. dollars will be made by transfer to a U.S. dollar denominated
account maintained by the payee with, or by a U.S. dollar denominated cheque drawn on, a bank in New
York City; and the definition of Payment Day in Condition 6.6 shall mean any day (subject to Condition 9)
which is a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for
general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in: (A) in the case of
Notes in definitive form only, the relevant place of presentation; (B); London, Sydney and New York; and
(C) each Additional Financial Centre specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purposes of these Conditions, U.S. Dollar Equivalent means the Renminbi amount converted into
U.S. dollars using the Spot Rate for the relevant Determination Date.

Any payment made under such circumstances in U.S. dollars will constitute valid payment, and will not
constitute a default in respect of the Notes.

For these purposes:
Calculation Agent means Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch;
CNY means the lawful currency of the PRC;

Determination Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks
are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange) in Hong Kong, London and in New
York City;

Determination Date means the day which is two Determination Business Days before the due date for any
payment of the relevant amount under these Conditions;

Governmental Authority means any de facto or de jure government (or any agency or instrumentality
thereof), court, tribunal, administrative or other governmental authority or any other entity (private or public)
charged with the regulation of the financial markets (including the central bank) of Hong Kong;

Hong Kong means the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC;

Illiquidity means that the general Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong has become illiquid and, as a
result of which, the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be) cannot obtain sufficient Renminbi in order
to satisfy its obligation to pay interest and/or principal (in whole or in part) in respect of the Notes, as
determined by the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be) in good faith and in a commercially
reasonable manner following consultation with two Renminbi Dealers;

Inconvertibility means the occurrence of any event that makes it impossible for the Issuer or the Guarantor
(as the case may be) to convert any amount due in respect of the Notes in the general Renminbi exchange
market in Hong Kong, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer or the
Guarantor (as the case may be) to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental
Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation becomes effective after the Issue Date of the first tranche of
the Notes and it is impossible for the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be), due to an event beyond its
control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation);
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Non-transferability means the occurrence of any event that makes it impossible for the Issuer to transfer
Renminbi between accounts inside Hong Kong or from an account inside Hong Kong to an account outside
Hong Kong or from an account outside Hong Kong to an account inside Hong Kong, other than where such
impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be) to comply with
any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation
becomes effective after the Issue Date of the first tranche of the Notes and it is impossible for the Issuer or
the Guarantor (as the case may be), due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or
regulation);

PRC means the People's Republic of China which, for the purpose of these Conditions, shall exclude Hong
Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China and Taiwan;

Renminbi means the lawful currency of the PRC;

Renminbi Dealer means an independent foreign exchange dealer of international repute active in the
Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong; and

Spot Rate means the spot CNY/U.S. dollar exchange rate for the purchase of U.S. dollars with Renminbi in
the over-the-counter Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong for settlement in two Determination Business
Days, as determined by the Calculation Agent at or around 11.15 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the
Determination Date, on a deliverable basis by reference to Reuters Screen Page <CNHFIX> after that rate
has been set on that day, or if no such rate is available, on a non-deliverable basis by reference to Reuters
Screen Page TRADNDF. If neither rate is available, the Calculation Agent will determine the Spot Rate at or
around 11.15 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Determination Date as the most recently available CNY/US
dollar official fixing rate for settlement in two Determination Business Days reported by The State
Administration of Foreign Exchange of the PRC, which is reported on the Reuters Screen Page CNY=SAEC.
Reference to a page on the Reuters Screen means the display page so designated on the Reuters Monitor
Money Rates Service (or any successor service) or such other page as may replace that page for the purpose
of displaying a comparable currency exchange rate.

6.10  Determinations are binding

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given,
expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this Condition 6 by the Calculation Agent,
will (in the absence of wilful default, fraud or manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Guarantor (in the
case of Guaranteed Senior Notes), the Paying Agents and all Noteholders.

7. REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE
7.1 Redemption at maturity

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled (or, in the case of Subordinated Notes, Converted or
Written-Off) as specified below, each Note will be redeemed by the Issuer at its Final Redemption Amount
specified in the applicable Final Terms in the relevant Specified Currency on the Maturity Date specified in
the applicable Final Terms.

7.2 Redemption for tax reasons

Subject to Condition 7.5, the Notes may be redeemed (subject to the prior written approval of APRA if the
Notes are Subordinated Notes) at the option of the Issuer in whole or in part at any time (if this Note is not a
Floating Rate Note) or on any Interest Payment Date (if this Note is a Floating Rate Note), on giving the
minimum period and not more than the maximum period of notice specified in the applicable Final Terms to
the Trustee and the Agent and, in accordance with Condition 14, the Noteholders (which notice shall be
irrevocable), if the Issuer satisfies the Trustee immediately before the giving of such notice that:
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(a) on the occasion of the next payment due under the Notes (i) the Issuer has or will become obliged to
pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 8 or (ii) (in the case of Guaranteed
Senior Notes) the Guarantor would be unable for reasons outside its control to procure payment by
the Issuer and in making payment itself would be required to pay such additional amounts, in each
case as a result of any change in, or amendment to (A) the laws or regulations of Australia (if the
Issuer is NAB) or New Zealand (if the Issuer is BNZ or BNZ-IF) or in all cases any political sub-
division thereof or any authority thereof or therein or (in all cases) any Tax Jurisdiction (as defined
in Condition 8) or (B) any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or
regulations, which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the date on which agreement
is reached to issue the first Tranche of the Notes and such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer
(if the Issuer is BNZ or BNZ-IF) or, as the case may be, the Guarantor, paying (if it is not already
doing so) New Zealand approved issuer levy at a rate not exceeding 2 per cent. of the relevant
payment; or

(b) (in the case of Subordinated Notes only) any payment due under such Notes is not or may not be, in
each case in the opinion of counsel of international repute appointed by the Issuer and approved by
the Trustee, allowed as a deduction for Australian income tax purposes as a result of a change in or
amendment to the laws or regulations of Australia or any political sub-division thereof or any
authority thereof or therein or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or
regulations which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the date on which agreement
is reached to issue the first Tranche of the Notes; and

(c) (in the case of each of (a) and (b) above) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer or, as the
case may be, the Guarantor taking any other reasonable measures available to it,

provided that (i) no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on
which the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were
a payment in respect of the Notes then due, and (ii) (in the case of Subordinated Notes) NAB does not as at
the date of issue of the Subordinated Notes (including where Subordinated Notes are issued as a Tranche
consolidated with an existing Series, as at the date of issue of that Tranche) expect that an event described in
this Condition 7.2 will occur.

Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition, the Issuer shall deliver to the
Trustee to make available at its specified office to the Noteholders (i) a certificate signed by two Directors of
the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor, stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption
and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to
redeem have occurred and (ii) an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect
that the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor has or will become obliged to pay such additional
amounts as a result of such change or amendment or, as the case may be, the payment of Interest would be
treated as a "distribution" as aforesaid and the Trustee shall be entitled to accept the certificate and opinion
as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set out above, in which event it shall be
conclusive and binding on the Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders.

Notes redeemed pursuant to this Condition 7.2 will be redeemed at their Early Redemption Amount referred
to in Condition 7.5 below together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of
redemption.

NAB may elect to redeem any Subordinated Notes under this Condition 7.2 only if either (i) the
Subordinated Notes the subject of the redemption are replaced concurrently or beforehand with Regulatory
Capital (as defined in Condition 10A.16) of the same or better quality and the replacement of the instrument
is done under conditions that are sustainable for NAB’s income capacity, or (ii) NAB obtains confirmation
from APRA that APRA is satisfied that the capital position of the NAB Level 1 Group and the NAB Level 2
Group will remain adequate after NAB elects to redeem the Subordinated Notes.

In these Conditions:
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Level 1 and Level 2 have the meanings given by APRA from time to time.

NAB Level 1 Group means NAB and those of its Related Entities included by APRA from time to time in
the calculation of NAB’s capital ratios on a Level 1 basis.

NAB Level 2 Group means NAB and those of its Related Entities included by APRA from time to time in
the calculation of NAB’s capital ratios on a Level 2 basis.

Noteholders should not expect that APRA's approval will be given for any redemption of the Subordinated
Notes under this Condition.

7.2A  Redemption for a Regulatory Event
This Condition 7.2A shall apply only to Subordinated Notes.

If a Regulatory Event Call is specified in the applicable Final Terms, subject to the prior written approval of
APRA, Subordinated Notes may be redeemed, at the option of NAB, in whole or in part at any time, on
giving not less than the minimum period and not more than the maximum period of notice specified in the
applicable Final Terms to the Trustee and the Agent and, in accordance with Condition 14, the Noteholders
(which notice shall be irrevocable), if a Regulatory Event occurs.

For the purpose of this Condition 7.2A, Regulatory Event means a determination by the Directors of NAB,
having received:

(@ an opinion from a reputable legal counsel that as a result of any amendment to, clarification of or
change (including any announcement of a change that will be introduced) in, any law or regulation
of the Commonwealth of Australia or any political sub-division thereof or any authority thereof or
therein, or any official administrative pronouncement or action or judicial decision interpreting such
laws or regulations, or any direction, order, standard, requirement, guideline or statement of APRA
(whether or not having the force of law), in each case which amendment, clarification or change is
effective, or pronouncement, action or decision is announced, after the Issue Date; or

(b) a written statement from APRA after the Issue Date,

that, in each case, NAB is not or will not be entitled to treat all of the Subordinated Notes as Tier 2 Capital,
provided that, in each case, NAB does not expect the matters giving rise to the Regulatory Event will occur
at the time of issue of Subordinated Notes.

Subordinated Notes redeemed pursuant to this Condition 7.2A will be redeemed at their Early Redemption
Amount referred to in Condition 7.5 together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date
of redemption.

NAB may elect to redeem any Subordinated Notes under this Condition 7.2A only if either (i) the
Subordinated Notes the subject of the redemption are replaced concurrently or beforehand with Regulatory
Capital (as defined in Condition 10A.16) of the same or better quality and the replacement of the instrument
is done under conditions that are sustainable for NAB’s income capacity, or (ii) NAB obtains confirmation
from APRA that APRA is satisfied that the capital position of the NAB Level 1 Group and the NAB Level 2
Group will remain adequate after NAB elects to redeem the Subordinated Notes.

0083121-0000407 ICM:33574037.13 149



Noteholders should not expect that APRA’s approval will be given for any redemption of Subordinated Notes
under this Condition.

7.3 Redemption at the option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)

This Condition 7.3 applies to Notes which are subject to redemption prior to the Maturity Date at the option
of the Issuer (other than for taxation reasons or, in the case of Subordinated Notes, on account of a
Regulatory Event), such option being referred to as an Issuer Call. The applicable Final Terms contains
provisions applicable to any Issuer Call and must be read in conjunction with this Condition 7.3 for full
information on any Issuer Call. In particular, the applicable Final Terms will identify the Optional
Redemption Date(s), the Optional Redemption Amount, any minimum or maximum amount of Notes which
can be redeemed and the applicable notice periods.

If Issuer Call is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer may (subject, in the
case of Subordinated Notes, to the prior written approval of APRA), having given not less than the minimum
period nor more than the maximum period of notice specified in the applicable Final Terms to the
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 (which notices shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date
fixed for redemption), redeem, in whole or in part, the Notes then outstanding on any Optional Redemption
Date (in the case of Subordinated Notes, such date being at least five years after the Issue Date) and at the
Optional Redemption Amount(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms together, if appropriate, with
interest accrued to (but excluding) the relevant Optional Redemption Date. Any such redemption must be of
a nominal amount not less than the Minimum Redemption Amount and not more than the Maximum
Redemption Amount, in each case as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms. The Optional
Redemption Amount will be stated in the applicable Final Terms.

In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, the Notes to be redeemed (Redeemed Notes) will be selected
individually by lot, in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by definitive Notes, and in accordance with
the rules of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in normal amount, at their discretion) and/or
DTC and/or the CMU Service, in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by a Global Note, not more than
30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption (such date of selection being hereinafter called the Selection
Date). In the case of Redeemed Notes represented by definitive Notes, a list of the serial numbers of such
Redeemed Notes will be published in accordance with Condition 14 not less than 15 days prior to the date
fixed for redemption. No exchange of the relevant Global Note will be permitted during the period from (and
including) the Selection Date to (and including) the date fixed for redemption pursuant to this Condition 7.3
and notice to that effect shall be given by the Issuer to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 at
least five days prior to the Selection Date.

NAB may elect to redeem any Subordinated Notes under this Condition 7.3 only if either (i) the
Subordinated Notes the subject of the redemption are replaced concurrently or beforehand with Regulatory
Capital (as defined in Condition 10A.16) of the same or better quality and the replacement of the instrument
is done under conditions that are sustainable for NAB's income capacity, or (ii) NAB obtains confirmation
from APRA that APRA is satisfied that the capital position of the NAB Level 1 Group and the NAB Level 2
Group will remain adequate after NAB elects to redeem the Subordinated Notes.

Noteholders should not expect that APRA's approval will be given for any redemption of the Subordinated
Notes under this Condition.

7.4 Redemption at the option of the Noteholders (Investor Put)

This Condition 7.4 applies to Notes which are subject to redemption prior to the Maturity Date at the option
of the Noteholder, such option being referred to as an Investor Put. The applicable Final Terms contains
provisions applicable to any Investor Put and must be read in conjunction with this Condition 7.4 for full
information on any Investor Put. In particular, the applicable Final Terms will identify the Optional
Redemption Date(s), the Optional Redemption Amount and the applicable notice periods.
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This Condition 7.4 shall apply only to Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes and references to "Notes"
shall be construed accordingly.

If Investor Put is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, upon the holder of any Note
giving to the Issuer in accordance with Condition 14 not less than the minimum period of notice specified in
the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer will, upon the expiry of such notice, redeem such Note on the Optional
Redemption Date and at the Optional Redemption Amount together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to
(but excluding) the Optional Redemption Date. Registered Notes may be redeemed under this Condition 7.4
in any multiple of their lowest Specified Denomination.

To exercise the right to require redemption of this Note the holder of this Note must, if this Note is in
definitive form and held outside Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, deliver, at the specified office of
any Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes) or the Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes) at any time
during normal business hours of such Paying Agent or, as the case may be, the Registrar falling within the
notice period, a duly completed and signed notice of exercise in the form (for the time being current)
obtainable from any specified office of any Paying Agent, or as the case may be, the Registrar (a Put Notice)
and in which the holder must specify a bank account (or, if payment is required to be made by cheque, an
address) to which payment is to be made under this Condition and, in the case of Registered Notes, the
nominal amount thereof to be redeemed and, if less than the full nominal amount of the Registered Notes so
surrendered is to be redeemed, an address to which a new Registered Note in respect of the balance of such
Registered Notes is to be sent subject to and in accordance with the provisions of Condition 2(b). If this Note
is in definitive form, the Put Notice must be accompanied by this Note or evidence satisfactory to the Paying
Agent concerned that this Note will, following delivery of the Put Notice, be held to its order or under its
control.

If this Note is represented by a Global Note or is in definitive form and held through Euroclear, Clearstream,
Luxembourg or the CMU Service, to exercise the right to require redemption of this Note the holder of this
Note must, within the notice period, give notice to the Agent of such exercise in accordance with the
standard procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and the CMU Service (as appropriate) (which
may include notice being given on such holder’s instruction by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or
any common depositary or common safekeeper, as the case may be, for them to the Agent by electronic
means or notice being given to the CMU Lodging Agent) in a form acceptable to Euroclear, Clearstream,
Luxembourg, the CMU Service and the CMU Lodging Agent from time to time.

Any Put Notice given by a holder of any Note pursuant to this Condition 7.4 shall be irrevocable except
where prior to the due date of redemption an Event of Default shall have occurred and the Trustee has
declared the Notes to be due and payable pursuant to Condition 10 in which event such holder, at its option,
may elect by notice to the Issuer to withdraw the notice given pursuant to this Condition 7.4 and instead to
declare such Note forthwith due and payable pursuant to Condition 10.

7.5 Early Redemption Amounts

For the purpose of Conditions 7.2 and 7.2A above and Condition 10, each Note will be redeemed at its Early
Redemption Amount calculated as follows subject, in the case of Subordinated Notes, to Condition 10A:

(a) in the case of a Note with a Final Redemption Amount equal to the Issue Price, at the Final
Redemption Amount thereof;

(b) in the case of a Note (other than a Zero Coupon Note) with a Final Redemption Amount which is or
may be less or greater than the Issue Price or which is payable in a Specified Currency other than
that in which the Note is denominated, at the amount specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if no
such amount or manner is so specified in the applicable Final Terms, at its nominal amount; or

© in the case of a Zero Coupon Note, at its Early Redemption Amount calculated in accordance with
the following formula:
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Early Redemption Amount = RP x (1+AY)’

where:

RP means the Reference Price;

AY means the Accrual Yield expressed as a decimal; and

y is the Day Count Fraction specified in the applicable Final Terms which will be either (i) 30/360 (in
which case the numerator will be equal to the number of days (calculated on the basis of a 360-day
year consisting of 12 months of 30 days each) from (and including) the Issue Date of the first
Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the
date upon which such Note becomes due and repayable and the denominator will be 360 or (ii)
Actual/360 (in which case the numerator will be equal to the actual number of days from (and
including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date fixed for
redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes due and repayable and
the denominator will be 360) or (iii) Actual/365 (in which case the numerator will be equal to the
actual number of days from (and including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but
excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note
becomes due and repayable and the denominator will be 365).

7.6 Specific redemption provisions applicable to certain types of Exempt Notes

The Final Redemption Amount, any Optional Redemption Amount and the Early Redemption Amount in
respect of Index Linked Redemption Notes and Dual Currency Redemption Notes may be specified in, or
determined in the manner specified in, the applicable Final Terms. For the purposes of Condition 7.6, Index
Linked Interest Notes and Dual Currency Interest Notes may be redeemed only on an Interest Payment Date.

Instalment Notes will be redeemed in the Instalment Amounts and on the Instalment Dates specified in the
applicable Final Terms. In the case of early redemption, the Early Redemption Amount of Instalment Notes
will be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Partly Paid Notes will be redeemed, whether at maturity, early redemption or otherwise, in accordance with
the provisions of this Condition and the applicable Final Terms.

7.7 Purchases

The Issuer, the Guarantor, any subsidiary or any other Related Entity (as defined in Condition 10A.16) of the
Issuer or the Guarantor may at any time purchase Notes (provided that, in the case of definitive Notes, all
unmatured Receipts, Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto are purchased therewith) at any price in the
open market or otherwise subject, in the case of Subordinated Notes, to the prior written approval of APRA.

Such Notes may be held, reissued, resold or, at the option of the Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Senior
Notes) the Guarantor, surrendered to the Paying Agent for cancellation.

Noteholders should not expect APRA’s approval will be given for any purchase of Subordinated Notes under
this Condition.

7.8 Cancellation
All Notes which are redeemed will forthwith be cancelled (together with all unmatured Receipts, Coupons
and Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith at the time of redemption). All Notes so cancelled and

Notes purchased and cancelled pursuant to Condition 7.7 above (together with all unmatured Receipts,
Coupons and Talons cancelled therewith) shall be forwarded to the Agent and cannot be reissued or resold.
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7.9 Late payment on Zero Coupon Notes

If the amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note upon redemption of such Zero Coupon Note
pursuant to Condition 7.1, 7.2, 7.3 or 7.4 above or upon its becoming due and repayable as provided in
Condition 10 is improperly withheld or refused, the amount due and repayable in respect of such Zero
Coupon Note shall be the amount calculated as provided in Condition 7.5(c) above as though the references
therein to the date fixed for the redemption or the date upon which such Zero Coupon Note becomes due and
payable were replaced by references to the date which is the earlier of:

(a) the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Zero Coupon Note have been paid; and

(b) five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of such Zero
Coupon Notes has been received by the Agent or the Trustee or the Registrar and notice to that effect
has been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14.

8. TAXATION

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes, Receipts and Coupons by the Issuer or by the
Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) will be made without withholding or deduction for or on
account of any present or future taxes, assessments, other governmental charges or duties of whatever nature
imposed or levied by or on behalf of Australia (if the Issuer is NAB) or New Zealand (in the case of
Guaranteed Senior Notes or if the Issuer is BNZ) or any political sub-division thereof or any authority
thereof or therein and any Tax Jurisdiction having power to tax unless such withholding or deduction is
required by law. In such event, the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be) will pay such additional
amounts as shall be necessary in order that the amounts received by the holders of the Notes, Receipts or
Coupons after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts of principal and interest
which would otherwise have been receivable in respect of the Notes, Receipts or Coupons, as the case may
be, in the absence of such withholding or deduction; except that the foregoing obligation to pay additional
amounts shall not apply to any such tax, assessment, governmental charge or duty:

(a) which is payable otherwise than by deduction or withholding from payments of principal of and
interest on such Note, Receipt or Coupon;

(b) which is payable (other than in respect of New Zealand resident withholding tax) by reason of the
Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder or beneficial owner having, or having had, some
personal or business connection with Australia (if the Issuer is NAB), New Zealand (in the case of
Guaranteed Senior Notes or if the Issuer is BNZ) or (in all cases) a Tax Jurisdiction (other than mere
ownership of or receipt of payment under the Notes, Receipts or Coupons or the fact that payments
are, or for the purposes of taxation are deemed to be, from sources in, or secured in, Australia (if the
Issuer is NAB), New Zealand (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes or if the Issuer is BNZ), or (in
all cases) a Tax Jurisdiction);

© which could lawfully be avoided if the Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder or beneficial
owner had provided the Issuer or a Paying Agent or any tax authority with any certification, tax
identification number, name and address details or had complied with another reporting requirement
including the provision of information concerning nationality, tax residence, identity, and/or other
tax exemption status (but has not been so avoided solely by reason of such Noteholder’s,
Receiptholder’s, Couponholder’s or beneficial owner’s failure to do so);

(d) which is payable by reason of a change in law that becomes effective more than thirty days after the
Relevant Date (as defined below) except to the extent that the holder thereof would have been
entitled to an additional amount on presenting the same for payment on such thirtieth day assuming
that day to have been a Payment Day (as defined in Condition 6.6);
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(e)

®

(2)

(h)

®

@

(k)

@

(m)

which is an estate, inheritance, gift, sales, transfer, personal property or similar tax, assessment or
other charge;

which is payable, if the Issuer is NAB, by reason of the Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder
or beneficial owner of such Note being an associate of the Issuer for the purposes of section 128F of
the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 of Australia (the Australian Tax Act);

which is payable, in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes or if the Issuer is BNZ, by reason of the
Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder or beneficial owner of such Note, Receipt or Coupon
being associated with the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be), or deriving interest jointly
with a New Zealand resident, for the purposes of the approved issuer levy and non-resident
withholding tax rules in the Income Tax Act 2007 of New Zealand or any modification or equivalent
thereof;

which, if the Issuer is BNZ or BNZ-IF, is payable solely by reason of the relevant Note, Receipt or
Coupon being presented for payment in New Zealand;

which, if the Issuer is NAB, is imposed or withheld as a consequence of a determination having been
made under Part IVA of the Australian Tax Act (or any modification thereof or provision substituted
therefor) by the Commissioner of Taxation of the Commonwealth of Australia that withholding tax
is payable in respect of a payment in circumstances where the payment would not have been subject
to withholding tax in the absence of the scheme which was the subject of that determination;

which, in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes or if the Issuer is BNZ, is imposed or withheld as a
consequence of the New Zealand Inland Revenue Department applying section BG 1 of the Income
Tax Act 2007 of New Zealand (or any modification or equivalent thereof) with the consequence that
withholding tax is payable in respect of a payment in circumstances where the payment would not
have been subject to withholding tax in the absence of the application of such provision;

(in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes or if the Issuer is BNZ) where such withholding or
deduction is for or on account of New Zealand resident withholding tax;

with respect to any payment of principal of or interest (including original issue discount) on the
Notes, Receipts and Coupons by the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) to any Noteholder,
Receiptholder or Couponholder who is a fiduciary or partnership or other than the sole beneficial
owner of any such payment to the extent that a beneficiary or settlor with respect to such fiduciary, a
member of such a partnership or any other beneficial owner would not have been entitled to the
additional amounts had such beneficiary, settlor, member or beneficial owner been the holder of
such Notes, Receipts and Coupons; or

any combination of (a) through (1) above.
As used herein:

1) Tax Jurisdiction means (a) in relation to any Tranche of Notes issued by BNZ-IF, the
United Kingdom and (b) in relation to any Tranche of Notes issued by a borrowing office of
NAB which is not located in Australia, the jurisdiction in which such borrowing office is
located; and

(ii) the Relevant Date means the date on which such payment first becomes due, except that, if
the full amount of the moneys payable has not been duly received by the Trustee or the
Agent on or prior to such due date, it means the date on which, the full amount of such
moneys having been so received, notice to that effect is duly given to the Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 14.
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For the avoidance of doubt, any amounts to be paid on the Notes, Receipts and Coupons will be paid net of
any deduction or withholding imposed or required pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any
current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof, any agreement entered into pursuant to
Section 1471(b) of the Code, or any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or practices adopted pursuant to
any intergovernmental agreement entered into in connection with the implementation of such Sections of the
Code, and no additional amounts will be required to be paid on account of any such deduction or
withholding.

The remaining provisions of this Condition 8 only apply if the Issuer is BNZ or BNZ-IF (and, where BNZ-IF
is the Issuer, to the Guarantor). Where used in the remaining provisions of this Condition 8, interest means
interest (as defined under the Income Tax Act 2007 of New Zealand or any modification or equivalent
thereof) for withholding tax purposes, which currently includes the excess of the redemption amount over the
issue price of any Note, as well as interest paid on such Note.

BNZ, BNZ-IF and the Guarantor may be required by law to deduct New Zealand resident withholding tax
from the payment of interest to a Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder, if:

(a) the person deriving the interest is a resident of New Zealand for income tax purposes or is otherwise
subject to the New Zealand resident withholding tax rules (a New Zealand Noteholder); and

(b) at the time of such payment, the New Zealand Noteholder does not hold a valid certificate of
exemption for New Zealand resident withholding tax purposes or is not otherwise exempt from
resident withholding tax.

Prior to any date on which interest is payable or the Maturity Date, any New Zealand Noteholder:

(A) must notify the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor or any Paying Agent, that the New
Zealand Noteholder is the holder of a Note, Receipt or Coupon; and

B) must notify the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor or a Paying Agent, of any circumstances,
and provide the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor or the relevant Paying Agent, with any
information (including, in the case of a New Zealand Noteholder that is not resident in New Zealand
for income tax purposes, whether the Note is held for the purposes of a business they carry on in
New Zealand through a fixed establishment in New Zealand) that may enable the Issuer or, as the
case may be, the Guarantor, to make payment of interest to the New Zealand Noteholder without
deduction on account of New Zealand resident withholding tax.

The New Zealand Noteholder must notify the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor, prior to any date
on which interest is payable, of any change in the New Zealand Noteholder's circumstances from those
previously notified that could affect the payment or withholding obligations of the Issuer or, as the case may
be, the Guarantor, in respect of this Note, Receipt or Coupon. By accepting payment of the full face amount
of a Note, Receipt or Coupon, as the case may be or any interest thereon, the New Zealand Noteholder
indemnifies the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor, for all purposes in respect of any liability the
Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor may incur for not deducting any amount from such payment on
account of New Zealand resident withholding tax.

Only a New Zealand Noteholder will be obliged to make the notification referred to above and no other
holder will be required to make any certification that it is not a New Zealand Noteholder.

9. PRESCRIPTION
The Notes (whether in bearer or registered form), Receipts and Coupons will become void unless claims in

respect of principal and/or interest are made within a period of 10 years (in the case of principal) and five
years (in the case of interest) after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8) therefor.
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There shall not be included in any Coupon sheet issued on exchange of a Talon any Coupon the claim for
payment in respect of which would be void pursuant to this Condition or Condition 6.2 or any Talon which
would be void pursuant to Condition 6.2.

10. EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND ENFORCEMENT
10.1 Events of Default relating to Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes

This Condition 10.1 shall apply only to Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes and references to "Notes"
shall be construed accordingly.

The Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested in writing by the holders of at least one-quarter in
nominal amount of the Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution shall (subject
in each case to being indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction), (but in the case of the
happening of any of the events described in paragraphs (c), (d), (e), (f), (h), (i), (j), (k) or (1) inclusive below,
only if the Trustee shall have certified in writing to the Issuer and the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed
Senior Notes) that such event is, in its opinion, materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders),
give notice in writing to the Issuer and the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes), that the Notes
are, and the Notes shall, unless such event shall have been cured by the Issuer or the Guarantor (in the case
of Guaranteed Senior Notes) prior to the Issuer's and, in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes, the Guarantor's
receipt of the notice in writing from the Trustee, thereupon immediately become, due and repayable at their
Early Redemption Amount together with accrued interest as provided in the Trust Deed if any of the
following events (each an Event of Default) shall occur:

(a) default by the Issuer and (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor, in any payment
when due of principal on the Notes or any of them and the default continues for a period of seven
days;

(b) default by the Issuer and (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor, in payment when
due of any instalment of interest on the Notes or any of them and the default continues for a period
of 30 days;

(c) a failure by the Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor to perform or
observe any of its other obligations under the Conditions or the Trust Deed and the failure continues
for the period of 30 days next following the service by the Trustee on the Issuer or the Guarantor, as
the case may be, of notice requiring the same to be remedied;

(d) a distress or execution or other legal process is levied or enforced upon or sued out or put in force
against any part of the property, assets or revenues of the Issuer or the Guarantor (in the case of
Guaranteed Senior Notes) and such distress or execution or other legal process, as the case may be,
is not discharged or stayed within 14 days of having been so levied, enforced or sued out;

© an encumbrancer takes possession or a receiver or administrator is appointed of the whole or any
part of the undertaking, property, assets or revenues of the Issuer or the Guarantor (in the case of
Guaranteed Senior Notes) (other than in respect of monies borrowed or raised on a non-recourse
basis);

® the Issuer or the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) (i) becomes insolvent or is
unable to pay its debts as they mature; or (ii) applies for or consents to or suffers the appointment of
a liquidator or receiver or administrator of the Issuer or the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed
Senior Notes) or of the whole or any part of the undertaking, property, assets or revenues of the
Issuer or the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) (other than in respect of monies
borrowed or raised on a non-recourse basis); or (iii) takes any proceeding under any law for a
readjustment or deferment of its obligations or any part thereof or makes or enters into a general
assignment or any arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of creditors;
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(g2) an order is made or an effective resolution passed for a Winding Up (as defined in Condition 3.2 in
respect of NAB) of the Issuer other than under or in connection with a scheme of amalgamation or
reconstruction not involving a bankruptcy or insolvency;

(h) a moratorium shall be agreed or declared in respect of any indebtedness of the Issuer or the
Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes), or any governmental authority or agency shall
have condemned, seized or compulsorily purchased or expropriated all or a substantial part of the
assets of or capital of the Issuer or the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes);

@) (where the Issuer is NAB) the Issuer (i) ceases to carry on a banking business in Australia, or the
Issuer's authority under the Banking Act or any amendment or re-enactment thereof to carry on
banking business in Australia is revoked; or (ii) enters into an arrangement or agreement for any sale
or disposal of the whole of its business by amalgamation or otherwise other than, in the case of (ii)
only, (a) under or in connection with a scheme of amalgamation or reconstruction not involving a
bankruptcy or insolvency which results in a substitution of the principal debtor under the Notes,
Receipts and Coupons pursuant to Condition 15; or (b) with the consent of the Noteholders by
Extraordinary Resolution;

G) (where the Issuer is BNZ) the Issuer (i) ceases to carry on general banking business in New Zealand;
or (ii) ceases to be registered as a bank in New Zealand; or (iii) enters into any arrangement or
agreement for any sale or disposal of the whole of its business by amalgamation or otherwise other
than, in the case of (iii) only, (a) under or in connection with a scheme of amalgamation or
reconstruction not involving a bankruptcy or insolvency which results in a substitution of the
principal debtor under the Notes, Receipts and Coupons pursuant to Condition 15; or (b) with the
consent of the Noteholders by Extraordinary Resolution;

(k) (where the Issuer is BNZ-IF), (i) the Guarantor ceases to carry on general banking business in New
Zealand; or (ii) the Guarantor ceases to be registered as a bank in New Zealand; or (iii) the Issuer or
the Guarantor enters into any arrangement or agreement for any sale or disposal of the whole of its
respective business by amalgamation or otherwise other than, in the case of (iii) only, (a) under or in
connection with a scheme of amalgamation or reconstruction not involving a bankruptcy or
insolvency which, in the case of BNZ-IF, results in a substitution of the principal debtor under the
Notes, Receipts and Coupons or, in the case of the Guarantor, results in a substitution of the
guarantor of Notes issued by BNZ-IF under the Trust Deed, in each case pursuant to Condition 15;
or (b) with the consent of the Noteholders by Extraordinary Resolution; or

Q) (where the Issuer is BNZ-IF) the Guarantee is terminated or shall cease to be in full force and effect.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition 10.1, no Event of Default (other than
Condition 10.1(g)) in respect of the Notes shall occur solely on account of any failure by the Issuer or the
Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) to perform or observe any of its obligations in relation
to, or the agreement or declaration of any moratorium with respect to, or the taking of any proceeding in
respect of, any share, note or other security or instrument constituting Tier 1 Capital or Tier 2 Capital.

10.2  Events of Default relating to Subordinated Notes

This Condition 10.2 shall apply only to Subordinated Notes and references to "Notes" shall be construed
accordingly.

The following are Events of Default in relation to Notes:
(a) a Winding Up Default (as defined below) occurs and is continuing other than, in any case, for the

purposes of a consolidation, amalgamation, merger or reconstruction (the terms of which have been
approved by the shareholders of NAB or by a court of competent jurisdiction) under which the
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continuing or resulting corporation effectively assumes the entire obligations of NAB under the
Notes; and

(b) NAB fails to pay any amount of principal or interest in respect of the Notes when scheduled to be
paid and the default continues for a period of seven days (in respect of a payment of principal) or 30
days (in respect of a payment of interest) unless (in the case of Subordinated Notes) the failure is the
result of NAB not being Solvent at the time of that payment or NAB would not be Solvent as a result
of making that payment (except to the extent that NAB can make such payment and remain Solvent
thereafter).

To the extent that a payment is not required to be made due to Condition 3.2 in the case of NAB, the amount
is not due and payable and failure to pay such amount does not give rise to an Event of Default.

Solvent means, in the case of NAB, that each of the following is the case:
(@ that NAB can pay its debts as they fall due; and
(b) its Assets exceed its Liabilities.

A certificate as to whether NAB is Solvent (at any particular time or throughout any particular period) signed
by two Directors of NAB or the auditors of NAB or, in a Winding Up of NAB, its liquidator, will, in the
absence of manifest error, be conclusive evidence against and binding on NAB, the Trustee, the Noteholders,
Couponholders and Receiptholders in respect of the matters certified. In the absence of such certificate, the
Trustee and any holder of Subordinated Notes is entitled to assume (unless the contrary is proved) that NAB
is, and will be after any payment, Solvent and the Trustee shall incur no liability by reason of acting in
reliance upon such assumption.

Assets means, in respect of NAB, its total non-consolidated gross assets as shown by its latest published
audited financial statements but adjusted for events subsequent to the date of such financial statements in
such manner and to such extent as its Directors, its auditors or its liquidator may determine to be appropriate.

Liabilities means, in respect of NAB, its total non-consolidated gross liabilities as shown by its latest
published audited financial statements but adjusted for events subsequent to the date of such financial
statements in such manner and to such extent as its Directors, its auditors or its liquidator may determine to
be appropriate.

Winding Up Default means, in relation to NAB:

6))] an order is made by a court of competent jurisdiction in Australia for the Winding Up of NAB which
order is not successfully appealed or permanently stayed within 60 days of the making of the order;
or

(ii) an effective resolution is passed by shareholders or members for the Winding Up of NAB in
Australia.

No events other than those outlined at Condition 10.2(a) and Condition 10.2(b) shall constitute Events of
Default in relation to Subordinated Notes.

10.3  Consequences of an Event of Default relating to Subordinated Notes

This Condition 10.3 shall apply only to Subordinated Notes and references to "Notes" shall be construed
accordingly.

(a) Only in the case of the occurrence of the Event of Default specified in Condition 10.2(a) above, the
Trustee at its discretion may (in addition to taking any of the actions specified in Condition 10.3(b)
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below), and if so requested in writing by the holders of at least one-quarter in nominal amount of the
Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution shall (subject in each case to
being indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction) (i) give notice in writing to
NAB that each Note is, and each Note shall thereupon immediately become, due and repayable at its
Early Redemption Amount together with accrued interest as provided in the Trust Deed and/or (ii)
(subject to Condition 3.2 and the provisions of the Trust Deed) prove in the Winding Up of NAB.

(b) In the case of the occurrence of an Event of Default specified in Condition 10.2(b), the Trustee at its
discretion may, and if so requested in writing by the holders of at least one-quarter in nominal
amount of the Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution shall (subject
in each case to being indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction), take action:

6))] to recover the amount that NAB has so failed to pay, provided that (in the case of
Subordinated Notes) the Issuer may only be compelled to pay that amount to the extent that
it is, and after the payment would remain, Solvent; or

(ii) to obtain an order for specific performance of any other obligation in respect of the Notes; or
(ii1) for the Winding Up of NAB.

Any amount not paid due to Condition 3.2, Condition 10.3(b)(i) or because under Condition 10.2(b) the
failure to pay that amount does not give rise to an Event of Default remains a debt owing to the holder by the
Issuer until it is paid and shall be payable on the first date on which the relevant Condition would no longer
apply (whether or not such date is otherwise a payment date).

Neither holders of Subordinated Notes nor the Trustee on their behalf has any right to accelerate payment or
any other remedy (including any right to sue for damages which has the same economic effect as
acceleration) as a consequence of an Event of Default other than as set out in this Condition 10.3.

10.4  Enforcement
(a) Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes

This Condition 10.4(a) shall apply only to Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes and references to
"Notes" shall be construed accordingly.

The Trustee may at any time, at its discretion and without notice, take such proceedings or any action against
the Issuer and/or the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) as it may think fit to enforce the
provisions of the Trust Deed, the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons, but it shall not be bound to take any
such proceedings or any other action under or in relation to the Trust Deed, the Notes, the Receipts or the
Coupons unless (i) it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution or so requested in writing
by the holders of at least one-quarter in nominal amount of the Notes then outstanding and (ii) it shall have
been indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction.

(b) Subordinated Notes

This Condition 10.4(b) shall apply only to Subordinated Notes and references to "Notes" shall be construed
accordingly.

The Trustee may at its discretion and shall if so requested in writing by the holders of at least one quarter in
nominal amount of the Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution (subject in
each case to being indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction) institute such
proceedings or take any action against NAB as it may think fit to enforce any obligation, condition or
provision binding on NAB under the Trust Deed or the Notes (other than any obligation for payment of any
principal or interest in respect of the Notes) provided that NAB shall not by virtue of any such proceedings
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or such action (save for any proceedings for the Winding Up (as defined in Condition 3.2) of NAB) be
obliged to pay (i) any sum or sums representing or measured by reference to principal or interest in respect
of the Notes sooner than the same would otherwise have been payable by it or (ii) any damages (save in
respect of the Trustee's fees and expenses incurred by it in its personal capacity).

© General

No Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder shall be entitled to institute proceedings directly against the
Issuer or the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) or prove in the Winding Up (as defined in
Condition 3.2 in respect of NAB) of the Issuer or the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes)
unless the Trustee, having become bound so to do fails or is unable to do so within a reasonable period and
such failure or inability is continuing, in which event any Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder may,
on giving an indemnity and/or security satisfactory to the Trustee, in the name of the Trustee (but not
otherwise) himself institute such proceedings and/or prove in the Winding Up of the Issuer and/or the
Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) to the same extent and in the same jurisdiction (but not
further or otherwise than the Trustee would have been entit